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Company at a Glance

R BEFN

AAG Energy, the Leading Independent

CBM Producer in China

DXREER PHEBRITENELE

Vision
To be the world’s leading, most enduring clean energy company for today
and tomorrow.

Mission
To create best value for society, optimized platform for employees and
highest return for shareholders.

About AAG Energy Holdings
Limited

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG Energy” or “the Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a leading international energy
company in the field of Coal Bed Methane (“CBM”) exploration and
production in China. It is committed to developing and optimizing the value
of unconventional gas resources to supply clean energy to support the
economic development in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). AAG
Energy’s key operating assets, Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, are
located in the southwestern part of Qinshui Basin in Shanxi Province,
boasting the largest proved CBM geological reserves among basins in the
PRC. AAG Energy’s Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with
China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (‘CUCBM”), is the first
Sino-foreign CBM cooperative project with full-scale commercial
development and production and also the most commercially advanced
Sino-foreign CBM asset in the PRC. In 2020, Panzhuang concession
achieved an annual CBM production of over 1 billion cubic meters in only
63 square kilometers of operating area. The Overall Development Plan
(“ODP”) for the southern area of Mabi concession, which is in partnership
with China National Petroleum Corporation (‘CNPC”), was approved by the
National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) of the PRC in
September 2018. The designed annual production capacity for commercial
development is 1 billion cubic meters and large scale commercial
development has been carried out. Xinhe Investment Holding Co., Ltd.
(“Xinhe Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of AAG Energy, was
established in December 2019 and commenced outsourced processing
and energy trading business at the end of 2021 and gradually made
contribution-to our profit. Leveraging its successful experience in the
commiercialization of CBM and high-caliber. management team, AAG
Energy will continue to contrlbute moreclean energy to-seeiety and create
hlgher return for investors: ==
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2022 Performance
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Highlights of AAG Energy
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Safety is always our top priority
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Ze o injury and No Lost Time Injury for 8 years and 1 1 7 days
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We delivered strong financial results
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Profit for the Year
FENHE

73.61%*4

B BBARYE
2021 [T 1,644.72

2021 [ 815.68

2022 I ,416.11
EBITDA
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2022 I 2.251.43

Unit: Million RMB

Unit: Milion RMB
45.75% %
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4 Panzhuang Concession & i E#
Gross Production
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0.66%
2021 [ 1,174.77
2022 N 1 182.49
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We always focus on increasing production capacity and
BA—ERNREENMSRaHES

Gross Sales

.44 %

Revenue (government subsidy and VAT refund are included)
WA (BIERA TS ERRR)

46.37% 4

2021 [ 1,991.10
2022 I 0 014.43
73.75%

Unit: Million RMB
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2021 [ 0.240

2022 I, 0417

EPS
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Unit: RMB/share
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Realized Average Selling Price™
FHEREEER f

28.33%

2021 [ 180
2022 I .31

t

2021 [ 1,142.21
2022 N 1,147.28

Unit: MMCM Unit: MMCM Unit: RMB/cubic meter
BAL AEMTK Bi: BB K B ANR¥ETT Sk
4 Mabi Concession % E
Gross Production Gross Sales
WESE BIHE

130.76% 1

2021 [ 12317
2022 I 25423

Unit: MMCM
Bf ABMTK

148.34% 1

2021 [0 108.06
2022 [N °68.36

Unit: MMCM
Bf: AEMK

Realized Average Selling Price
P ERHEER

22.75% 1

2021 [ 167
2022 N ° 05

Unit: RMB/cubic meter
B ARBTT /YK

*k

Due to the difference in unit of expression and decimal places reserved of data,
there may be slight deviation in the percentage of increase or decrease; the
percentage of increase or decrease is based on the calculation of the minimum
units of expression and decimal places reserved available in the report.
MREENREEN RRBUETE - TRt @ @AM A D LB ERE © R
B LHIARE RN &R NREEMIREVBNAEERRE -

Average realized selling price excludes directly attributable excessive costs,
reflecting the realized wellhead price.
FHERHEERTBEEEREBNBENRAE - RSB MERNHOER -
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Chairman’s Statement
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To create best value for society,
optimized platform for employees
and highest return for shareholders.
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Mr. Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of
AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG Energy” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased

to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

OVERVIEW

2022 was an exceptionally challenging year as the global economy was
weakened by the recurring outbreaks of the COVID-19 pandemic and
the Russia-Ukraine conflict, which posed a profound impact on the
global energy industry. With soaring international crude oil and natural
gas prices, China’s natural gas imports declined while prices remained
high throughout the year. In the short term, the prices of domestic
Liquefied Natural Gas ("LNG") and pipeline gas stayed at the same
level despite being off-season. In addition, high gas prices also
dampened the demand of downstream gas users, significantly
hampering the end market. Due to the repeated outbreaks of the
domestic epidemic which caused severe economic impacts, the
apparent consumption of natural gas in China in 2022 experienced
"negative growth” for the first time. In face of severe and complicated
international environments, impacts of the persistent outbreaks of the
domestic epidemic, frequent extreme weather conditions, fluctuations
in the RMB exchange rate and other challenges, the Group adhered to
its “Growth from Stability” approach under the prudent leadership of
the Board. Continuous efforts were made to improve the management
level of existing concessions while the investment in their development
was expanded. Moreover, the Group further consolidated the entire
natural gas industrial chain. It also joined hands with its partners for
value cooperation in an effort to enhance its response to market
changes, achieving dual growth in production and net profit. Financial
performance of the Group in 2022 was as follows:

Gross production in 2022 increased by 13.00% to 1,467 million cubic
meters ("“MMCM”) (or 51.8 billion cubic feet (“bef”)) as compared to
that of 2021, and sales utilization rate remained relatively high. The
annual production-to-sales ratio of the Panzhuang concession was
97.02%, while that of the Mabi concession was 94.42%. The Group's
revenue and other income for the year (including government subsidies
and VAT refunds) was RMB2.914 billion, representing a year-on-year
("YoY") increase of 46.37%, mainly due to the increase in both the
sales volume and market price of natural gas. In terms of pricing, the
realized average selling price ("ASP”) in the Panzhuang concession
was RMB2.31 per cubic meter in 2022, representing an increase of
28.33% as compared to that of RMB1.80 per cubic meter in 2021; the
realized ASP in the Mabi concession for 2022 increased by 22.75% to
RMB2.05 per cubic meter compared to that of RMB1.67 per cubic
meter for 2021. In 2022, the Group realized operating profit of
RMB1.697 billion, profit for the year of RMB1.416 billion, EBITDA of
RMB2.251 billion and earnings per share of RMB0.417.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The Group has long been committed to developing the entire natural
gas industrial chain, adhering to the concept of safety, efficiency, green
and low-carbon practices, and sustainable development. With its
quality and efficiency enhancement empowered by technological
innovation, the Group has maintained the stable production volume in
the Panzhuang concession, and achieved efficient investment and
release of production capacity in the Mabi concession. Based on its
goals for long-term development, the Group has actively explored new
projects and new concessions for resources. While green exploitation,
resource development and environmental protection have been
considered as the basis of resource evaluation. This approach has
provided a solid foundation for the Group to become a leading
sustainable and clean energy enterprise. The Group attaches great
importance to Quality, Health, Safety and Environment (“QHSE") work
and its obligation to fulfill social responsibility. Through the
establishment of a dual prevention and control mechanism and quality
management system, the Group has further upgraded its QHSE
management system and promoted its high-quality development
based on its pursuit of higher stability and better quality.

MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW:

— Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE"): Extensively
Comply with the New Production Safety Law and Actively
Implement the Five-Year Strategic Plan for Sustainable
Development

The Group has always adhered to the concept of “safety first” and
attached great importance to health, safety and environmental
protection. In 2022, the Group continued to maintain its HSE
performance with zero lost time injury rate, zero total recordable
incident rate, zero preventable mobile vehicles accident and zero
pollution incident.

— Panzhuang Concession: Continue the Exploration and
Development of Thin Coal Seams with Phased Results Achieved
In 2022, the gross production of the Panzhuang concession reached
1,183 MMCM (41.8 bcf), exceeding the adjusted target of 1,155 MMCM
(40.8bcf) by 2.34%, representing a YoY increase of 0.66% compared to
2021. The Group has completed the CBM reserve evaluation work and
verified the production capacity of thin coal seam wells of the
Panzhuang concession. These data have laid a foundation for the
large-scale commercial development of thin coal seams.

6 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW: (Continued)

— Mabi Concession: Steadily Accelerate Production and
Development

In 2022, the total production volume of the Mabi concession reached
284 MMCM (10.0 bcf), exceeding the original target of 254 MMCM (9.0
bcf) by 11.81%, representing a YoY increase of 130.76% compared to
2021. The construction and production achievements in 2022 have
proven the effectiveness of adaptive engineering technology and
process in the resource development and utilization of the southern
part of the Mabi concession.

— Corporate Management: Expedite the Development of
the Entire Natural Gas Industrial Chain

In 2022, the Group continued to facilitate the development of the
natural gas industrial ecological chain and the acquisition of new
resources, boosting market vitality across the entire industrial chain. In
terms of the midstream sector, based on the acquisition of its
associates such as Shanxi Tongyu and its extended coverage to
midstream pipeline business, the Group has stepped up the
transmission and distribution capability of CBM and the
interconnection of external pipeline networks. In terms of the
downstream sector, the Group has further tightened its direct control
over storage capacity in order to consolidate the downstream market.
Through investigation and research, the Group has actively explored
potential resources investment opportunities. Having reached
cooperation consensus with resource providers through active
communication, the Group has laid a foundation for deep cooperation
and provided integrated support for the high-quality transformation of
the Company. The Group has established a joint venture company with
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co. Ltd. (“XTRQ"), creating a "“high-tech”
base platform that expedites the implementation of “high-tech
business” strategy. Meanwhile, in alignment with its business
development needs, the Group has continued to invest in resources
such as personnel, capital and materials, etc. Specific improvement
and optimization have been introduced to its professional teams. The
Group has further explored mature commercial models to create
effective support initiatives for future new resource investments and
new model of business cooperation.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

2022 marked the beginning of China’s goal for another 100 years of
development. It was also a crucial year for the “14th Five-Year Plan”.
The release of the “14th Five-Year Plan for Modern Energy System”
specifies the energy development policies, main goals and measures
of China. This plan is a comprehensive blueprint and action plan for
accelerating the construction of a modern energy system and
promoting high-quality energy development during the “14th Five-
Year Plan” period. Against the backdrop of “carbon peak and carbon
neutrality” targets and the realisation of green and low-carbon energy
transformation, there is still room for growth in the apparent
consumption of natural gas in China.

In 2023, the Group will keep capitalising on technological innovation,
and the Company will strive for sustainable development and
transformation. Through consolidating the existing concession
business, speeding up production capacity construction, the Group will
be developed to further enhance the creation of the CBM resource
ecological chain and to expand into new concessions and profitable
business. Through joining hands with quality partners for value
cooperation, the Group will enhance its ability to respond to regional
market changes. Leveraging opportunities arising from new
concessions and businesses, the Group will continue to contribute
more clean energy to society and bring better returns to investors.

In 2023, with the implementation of the "Five-Year Strategic Plan for
Sustainable Development” and the “Five-Year Plan for Digital
Development of AAG Energy”, the Group will incorporate the ESG
development concepts into its core competitiveness while developing
a low-carbon green development system applicable to the CBM
industry and a systematic digital system to integrate the advantages of
big data. Technology innovation experimental projects will also be
expedited. Focusing on the future sustainable development and
economic value featuring new energy research and technological
innovations, the Group will conduct new energy research and develop
essential technological innovations that can generate future value and
align with the development strategy of the Company.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

BUSINESS OUTLOOK (Continued)

Finally, on behalf of AAG Energy, | would like to express my heartfelt
appreciations to the shareholders, business partners and investors for
their years of trust and support. | would also like to express my sincere
gratitude to all of our employees. The Group will continue to make
unremitting efforts in ensuring stable development and supporting
low-carbon economic transformation of China in order to safeguard
the environmental-friendly development of its economy and create
greater value for society, employees and shareholders.

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman of the Board
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic became more severe, with a
widespread and complex transmission chain. In addition, the conflict
between Russia and Ukraine at the beginning of the year had a
profound impact on global energy, existing a lot of uncertain factors in
domestic and oversea energy sector and natural gas price.

In 2022, the Group forged ahead to the development strategy
established at the end of 2020 to set up the existing business in the
concessions and increasing development efforts, and achieved an
excellent performance. In terms of production, the Group’s gross
production in 2022 increased by 13.00% from that of 2021 to 1,467
MMCM (or 51.8 bcf), including 1,183 MMCM (or 41.8 bcf) from
Panzhuang concession and 284 MMCM (or 10 bcf) from the Mabi
concession.

In terms of investment, the actual capital expenditure in 2022 was
RMB1.282 billion as compared with the annual budget of RMB1.578
billion. Compared to 2021, drilling activities in 2022 remained stable,
with a total of 250 wells drilled for the year. The fracturing activities
continued to increase by 81.63% to 267 wells as compared to 2021,
reaching a historical high. At the same time, we continued to focus on
reducing costs and improving profitability. The average drilling cost
per meter of a single lateral horizontal well (“SLH") was RMB1,728,
representing a decrease of 4.86% as compared to 2021. The average
drilling cost per well of a pad drilling well (“PDW") decreased by 7.69%
from RMBO0.78 million in 2021 to RMBO0.72 million.

In terms of market sales, the Group's realized ASP in 2022 was RMB2.26
per cubic meter, of which realized ASP in Panzhuang concession was
RMB2.31 per cubic meter (an increase of 28.33% from RMB1.80 per
cubic meter in 2021), and the realized ASP in Mabi concession was
RMB2.05 per cubic meter (an increase of 22.75% from RMB1.67 per
cubic meter in 2021).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In terms of financial results, the Group's revenue and other income
(including government subsidies and VAT refunds) in 2022 increased by
46.37% to RMB2.914 billion as compared to 2021, operating profit
increased by 47.81% to RMB1.697 billion, profit for the year increased
by 73.61% to RMB1.416 billion, EBITDA increased by 45.75% to
RMB2.251 billion, and earnings per share increased by 73.75% to
RMBO0.417.

¥ OREE )

EMBEERE  AEBE202F KA RE
g A (B HE BT 4 B FIIEE B R ) A8 B
2021 FIER T 4637% = AREE29.1418TT » &
EREERT4781% 2 ARE169718TT - F
EAEIEET73.61%E AR K14161E T
EBITDAIE K T45.75% = A R ¥ 2251870
FRWEHIER T 73.75% E ARE0.417 7T »

RO hFUHRARIERIIRNT -

Key financial indicators for the last 5 years are as follows:

Current assets BB E 3,165,406 2,893,611 2,871,068 2,260,490
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,920,536 4,144,770 3,877,092 3,746,617
Total assets BEE 8,085,942 7,038,381 6,748,160 6,007,107
Current liabilities mENAE 989,722 579,450 462,958 306,191
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 670,670 498,089 441,560 324,063
Total liabilities waE 1,660,392 1,077,539 904,518 630,254
Revenue WA 1,739,226 1,038,524 1,161,246 978,671
Other income Efblg A 251,875 240,368 346,805 279,169
Profit before income tax K BT BT A8 1,144,322 742,573 940,765 596,260
Profit for the year FREAE 815,679 510,296 707,368 412,937
Net cash generated from  && REFIEHEEFE

operating activities 1,363,449 534,266 948,210 404,933
Net cash used in investing & E& ZENFTAE & F5E

activities (1,167,546) (431,034) (272,421) (419,593)
Net cash used in financing B & RENFTAIR & /F58

activities (355,833) (367,656) (263,492) (635,140)

12 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The two major assets operated by two subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Panzhuang concession operated by Sino-American Energy, Inc.
("SAEI"), Mabi concession operated by Asian American Gas, Inc.
("AAGI") and others, which business review as follow:

Panzhuang Concession

Our Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with CUCBM,
continued to be the CBM project with the highest output in China, and
was listed as China’s key CBM project in production under the “14th
Five-Year Plan” for the development and utilization of CBM (coal mine
gas) prepared by the National Energy Administration (the “NEA") and
issued by the NDRC of the PRC.

In view of the impact of the "5 - 30" Incident (On 30 May 2022, a
leakage and explosion accident occurred in the Tongyu Pipeline, one
of the main transmission channel of Panzhuang concession (owned by
Shanxi Tongyu Coalbed Methane Transportation and Distribution Co.
Ltd, our associate)) on the production and sales of Panzhuang
concession and based on the actual situation, we adjusted the annual
targets for production and sales of the Panzhuang concession
moderately.

—  Production Update
In 2022, the gross production of Panzhuang concession reached
1,183 MMCM (41.8 bcf), which was 2.34% higher than the
adjusted target of 1,155 MMCM (40.8 bcf), with a YoY increase
compared to that of 1,175 MMCM (41.5 bcf) in 2021. The average
daily gas production was 3.24 MMCM, which was relatively stable
as compared to that of 3.22 MMCM in 2021. By the end of 2022,
there were a total of 582 wells in production, including 230 PDWs,
49 multi-lateral drilling wells (“MLD"”) and 303 SLHs in Panzhuang
concession. Further details on production and well count are set
out below in Table 1.

¥ OE e
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Panzhuang Concession (Continued)

14

Exploration and Development of Thin Coal Seams

The domestic proved CBM geological reserves is 5,950 MMCM
of Panzhuang concession thin coal seams. The reporting progress
of reserves is smooth. The report of proved reserves has passed
the expert evaluation by the reserves evaluation office of the
Ministry of Natural Resources of the PRC, and the approval
documents will be obtained soon. The exploratory wells of thin
coal seams have achieved good results and have been converted
into production wells to increase gas production. The
development plan for CBM in thin coal seams in Panzhuang
concession has been prepared and submitted. It is expected to
enter the development phase upon obtaining the relevant
approvals.

Drilling and Surface Facilities Update

In 2022, a total of 69 wells were drilled in Panzhuang concession,
including 8 SLHs and 61 PDWs (including 10 parameter wells).
The average drilling time for PDWs was only 5.16 days. The
construction of thin coal seam parameter wells has been
completed, which provide a basis for the preparation of thin coal
seam development plan and laid a solid foundation for the
replacement and improvement of production.

Currently, the surface facilities of Panzhuang concession include
6 gas gathering stations, 54 wellhead compressors, 68 kilometers
of trunk lines and 142 kilometers of inter-well pipelines. The
central gas gathering station has a secondary processing capacity
of 1.90 MMCM per day, and compressors at remaining stations
and wellheads have a processing capacity of 4.62 MMCM per
day.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) %ﬁ@ﬁﬁ(%ﬁ)
Mabi Concession EXER

Our Mabi concession, which is in partnership with CNPC, was listed as  F A AMEFENE MR - EHBEZKEER
China’s key CBM project under construction under the “14th Five-Year  B4IF - BIRE N E M E R (ERE R HT)
Plan” for the development and utilization of CBM (coal mine gas) FIZF B [+ R | R w5 ABRAEZE
prepared by the NEA and issued by the NDRC, and was also one of EBREZIEE L2 UFAE202FEERE
the key CBM construction projects in Shanxi Province in 2022. BIRTAEEH 2 — ©

—  Production Update —

In 2022, the gross production of Mabi concession was 284 MMCM
(10.0 bcf), which was 11.81% higher than the original target of 254
MMCM (9.0 bcf), with a 130.76% YoY increase compared to that
of 123 MMCM (4.3 bcf) in 2021. The average daily gas production
in 2022 was 0.78 MMCM, representing an increase of 129.41%
compared to that of 0.34 MMCM in 2021, the daily gas
production exceeded 1 MMCM by 31 October and achieved 1.15
MMCM by 31 December. By the end of 2022, there were a total
of 498 wells in production, including 314 PDWs, 1 MLD and 183
SLHs in Mabi concession. Further details on production and well
count are set out below in Table 1.

In 2022, a total of 181 wells were drilled (including 164 SLHs and
17 PDWs) in Mabi concession. With the maturity of the drilling
technology, the length of horizontal section of SLH has been
extended, with focus on areas with more complex geological
conditions. The average drilling time of SLH was 16 days.

In 2022, Mabi concession completed a total of 193 wells and a
total of 2,142 stages of fracturing, representing an increase of
79% and 195% compared with 2021, respectively. The test of
ultra-low-density ceramic proppant conducted in Mabi
concession in 2020 and 2021 has showed obvious production
enhancement effect in some wells, and further tests will be
conducted to obtain more data support. The results of the tests
of atypical large-scale volume fracturing of 2 wells and large-scale
volume fracturing of 4 wells conducted in Mabi concession in
2022 are expected to be obtained in 2023.

181 wells drilled in 2022 will commence production in 2023.

EEER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Mabi Concession (Continued)

16

Implementation Progress of the Overall Development Plan
("ODP") of the Southern Area of Mabi Concession

Through continuous summarization and optimization of the
management experience, a management model catering for the
development of southern area of Mabi concession has been
established. As the understanding of the geological conditions of
the concession, drilling, fracturing, surface construction and other
processes and technologies further enhances during the
development phase, the Company has formulated the
adjustment plan of the ODP of the southern area of Mabi
concession in 2022 and is actively handling the relevant review
and approval procedures, laying the foundation for further
efficient development of the southern area.

In 2022, the surface constructions of Mabi concession, including
the No. 2 gas gathering station, 35 kilovolt single tower double
circuit and substation, were completed and put into use. The
high-pressure outbound transmission capacity in the southern
area has been established, which has improved the outbound
capacity and supported the steady production enhancement in
the southern area effectively.

Research and Development Progress of the Northern Area of
Mabi Concession

The Company adheres to the step-by-step rolling development
strategy in order to facilitate the efficient development of Mabi
concession, and further enhances our understanding of the
geological conditions through 3D seismic exploration and
continues to monitor the preliminary test wells. The Company has
formulated the development plan for the selected MB076 well
block in 2022, and is actively handling the relevant review and
approval procedures. Upon approval, the Company will push
forward the construction work steadily and efficiently in order to
support the future production growth in Mabi concession.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) #7—]'%@53 (%)

Mabi Concession (Continued) EXER(8)

Table 1 — Operation Update* of Panzhuang (“PZ") and Mabi ®1—BHER(BEZDNSLER(FX])
("MB") concessions HIEZER*

Gross production (MMCM) BwEsS(BEMFAK) 1,297.94 13.00%
Total average daily production BEYHES
(MMCMD) (BB AEX) 3.56 12.92%
Gross production of PZ (MMCM) &EHAEE (BB HXK) 1,174.77 0.66%
PZ MLD FEHEMLD 123.05 -21.53%
PZ SLH I SLH 865.80 -1.52%
PZ PDW &4 PDW 185.92 25.48%
Total producing wells of PZ** BN A E 504 15.48%
PZ MLD EHMLD 49 0.00%
PZ SLH I SLH 297 2.02%
PZ PDW I PDW 158 45.57%
PZ wells drilled AL TR 62 11.29%
PZ wells fracked EH RIS ERBHE 39 89.74%
Gross production of MB (MMCM) B h#EES (& 5 K) 123.17 130.76%
MB MLD BF W MLD 0.20 0.00%
MB SLH B SLH 60.68 188.51%
MB PDW B PDW 62.29 74.92%
Total producing wells of Mabi** 5 A48 A = H 81 +* 327 52.29%
MB MLD 5 MLD 1 0.00%
MB SLH B SLH 54 238.89%
MB PDW B PDW 272 15.44%
MB wells drilled 5 B H e 190 -4.74%
MB wells fracked 5 WA R S 30 45 e B 108 78.70%
Notes: FieE
* Operations update as of 31 December 2022, 08: 00 CST. * BEEERBENBZE2022F12A31 81k - 08:004 &£
IEAERF[E ©
*x Well count is calculated from pumping start date. ** HESF Rz AEHE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Reserve Update

Based on reports issued by Netherland Sewell & Associates Inc.
("NSAI"), an independent reserve certification company, the Group's
1P and 2P natural gas reserves as at the end of 2022 (“2022YE") were
172.6 bef and 557.5 bcf respectively, representing a 14% increase from
the 1P reserve of 152.0 bcf as at the end of 2021 (“2021YE") and a 12%
decrease from the 2P reserve of 635.1 bcf as at 2021YE. After deducting
net gas production of 40.3 bcf for 2022, the 1P reserves increased by
55% and 2P reserves decreased by 6%.

The 1P reserve and 2P reserve of Panzhuang concession were 102.6 bcf
and 124.2 bcf as at 2022YE, representing a decrease of 11% and 16%
respectively from the 1P reserve of 114.7 bcf and the 2P reserve of
148.1 bcf as at 2021YE. After deducting net gas production of 32.0 bcf
for 2022, 1P reserves increased by 24% and 2P reserves increased by
7%.

The 1P reserve and 2P reserve of Mabi concession were 70.0 bcf and
433.3 bef as at 2022YE, representing an increase of 88% and a decrease
of 1% respectively from the 1P reserve of 37.3 bcf and the 2P reserve
of 487.0 bcf as at 2021YE. After deducting net gas production of 8.3 bcf
for 2022, the 1P reserve increased by 141% and the 2P reserve
decreased by 9%.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Reserve Update (Continued)
Table 2 — Reserve Data **

Total =

Proved (1P) EERE(IP)

Proved + probable (2P) BE+MERFEE(2P)
Proved + probable + possible (3P) BE+ME + IR #E(3P)
Panzhuang concession BHER

Proved (1P) EERE(P)

Proved + probable (2P) BE+MERE(2P)
Proved + probable + possible (3P) BE+PE+IBEHE(3P)
Mabi concession BUER

Proved (1P)
Proved + probable (2P)
Proved + probable + possible (3P)

EEEHR(P)
FE+MER=E 2P
FE+ME + A REHEZE(3P)

Notes:

*%

Net gas reserves are the Company's share of the gas reserves according to the
terms of each production sharing contract and after adjustment for fuel and
shrinkage.

Our reserve estimates and future net income have been prepared by NSAI in
accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and valuation principles
for oil and gas reserve estimates and audits issued by the Society for Petroleum
Engineering. According to the definitions and guidelines of the 2018 PRMS (the
Petroleum Resource Management System published by the Society of Petroleum
Engineers (“SPE"), the World Petroleum Council (“WPC"), the American Association
of Petroleum Geologists (“AAPG"), the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers
("SPEE"), the Society of Exploration Geophysicists (“SEG"), the Society of
Petrophysicists and Well Log Analysts (“SPWLA") and the European Association of
Geoscientists and Engineers ("EAGE") in June 2018), NSAI has adopted standard
engineering and geosciences methods or a combination of both, where analytical
methods such as (production) dynamic methods, volumetric methods and simulation
methods are considered to be necessary for the classification, classification and
estimation of reserves. Our reserves are estimates only and should not be construed
as exact quantities.

and Analysis

¥ OREE )

REEH (E)
®2— REBBIE

*k

EEES

172.65 152.0
557.48 635.1
655.85 876.2
102.62 114.7
124.16 148.1
150.85 213.2

70.03 37.3
433.32 487.0
505.00 663.0
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Liquefied Natural Gas ("LNG") Outsourced Processing and
Trading Business

In 2022, the LNG outsourced processing gas volume of Xinhe
Investment Holding Co., Ltd. (“Xinhe Investment”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, was 68.37 MMCM, the sales volume of LNG
was 45,600 tonnes. The sales volume of piped gas of the energy
trading business was 2.05 MMCM. The sales volume of LNG was 36,200
tonnes. The sales volume of CNG was 5.36 MMCM.

Operation of Dongcheng Xintai

Based on the development level of the energy industry and the
Group's own development scale, in order to better implement the
"Four Alterations” core strategy of “development of full industrial
chain, new-and-high technologies, internationalization and financial
development” of natural gas energy, Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co.
Ltd. (“XTRQ") and Xinhe Investment entered into the joint venture
agreement on 18 January 2022 to make a capital contribution of
RMB50 million for the joint establishment of Dongcheng Xintai Energy
Research Co., Ltd.* (“Dongcheng Xintai”), with XTRQ and Xinhe
Investment holding 51% (RMB25.50 million) and 49% (RMB24.50 million)
of the shares, respectively.

Dongcheng Xintai conducts research with focus on renewable energy
and new energy fields, develops new technologies, materials and
development solutions, and promotes the application of technological
research results. It has established a development platform through
resource integration and vertical development.

On 30 March 2022, XTRQ and Xinhe Investment entered into a capital
increase agreement, with each of XTRQ and Xinhe Investment
contributing an additional RMB127.5 million and RMB122.5 million,
respectively. The registered capital of the company increased to
RMB300 million, and the share of equity held by the shareholders
remained unchanged.

For details of Dongcheng Xintai, please refer to the announcement of

the Company dated 18 January 2022 and the announcement of the
Company dated 30 March 2022, respectively.
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MARKET OPERATION REVIEW

According to the 2022 Annual Report on Natural Gas Market by JLC(&
BB 2022 FRARR IS FEME)), in 2022, as a result of the global
widespread of COVID-19 pandemic, and increasingly intensified
regional supply-demand contradictions caused by the conflicts
between Russia and Ukraine and the surging international natural gas
prices, the domestic LNG and pipeline gas prices stood at high levels
during off seasons.

The Group focused on industry and market research to maintain high
market sensitivity, and deployed and built the industrial ecological
chains in advance. Despite the impact caused by the “5 - 30" Incident,
the Company promptly optimized its customer structure through the
implementation of market contingency plan, and achieved the increase
in both product volume and price as well as full production and sales.

In 2022, the annual gross sales volume of Panzhuang concession
reached 1,147 MMCM (40.5 bcf), representing a YoY increase of 0.44%,
of which 471 MMCM (16.6 bcf) for LNG customers, 655 MMCM (23.1
bcf) for piped gas customers and 21 MMCM (0.8 bcf) for CNG
customers. The annual realized ASP of Panzhuang concession was
RMB2.31 per cubic meter, representing a YoY increase of 28.33%, and
the annual production-to-sale ratio of Panzhuang concession was
97.02%.

In 2022, the annual gross sales volume of Mabi concession reached
268MMCM (9.5 bcf), representing a YoY increase of 148.34%, of which
264 MMCM (9.3 bcf) of piped gas customers and 4 MMCM (0.2 bcf) of
CNG customers. The annual realized ASP of Mabi concession was
RMB2.05 per cubic meter, representing a YoY increase of 22.75%, and
the annual production-to-sale ratio of Mabi concession was 94.42%.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

1.

22

Strictly carry out pandemic prevention and control and
strengthen safety production.

In 2022, the daily operation of the Group was affected due to the
significant impact on personnel and logistics caused by the
increasingly stringent pandemic control measures in different
cities. Faced with the complex and challenging pandemic
situation, the Group adhered to and implemented the prevention
and control requirements of local governments at all levels and
industry management departments, and increased production
and reserves of daily necessities. Meanwhile, the Group
emphasized employee care, especially the physical and mental
health of employees during the pandemic, and actively organized
various activities for employees. The Group continued to achieve
excellent pandemic prevention results and realized safe
production and operation.

Proactively adjust market layout to achieve balance
between production and sales

The ”5-30" Incident had a significant impact on the southern
market of the Panzhuang concession. In response, the Group
promptly implemented the contingency plan, and enhanced the
transmission and distribution capacity during the low season and
reconstructed the northern market in a short period of time. The
Group achieved balance between production and sales before
the peak season arrived, which has effectively supported the
outstanding performance of the Group during the year.

Quality and Efficiency Improvement through
Technological Innovation

The Group is committed to improving quality and efficiency
through technological innovation. In Panzhuang concession, the
use of negative pressure extraction technology has accelerated
the extraction of CBM, improved the recovery rate of CBM, and
significantly enhanced the efficiency. In Mabi concession, the
experimental ultra-low-density ceramic proppant fracturing
technology has shown obvious production enhancement effect,
providing support to the future production increase.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

4.

Deepen the Construction of Market Integration
Strategy and Improve Industrial Layout

Adhering to the strategy of integrating the operation of
upstream, midstream and downstream of natural gas, the Group
strengthened its upstream investment and actively promoted the
acquisition of new resources. In the midstream, the Group
strengthened the transmission and distribution capacity and the
construction of market channel interconnections. In downstream
markets, the Group continued to optimize the customer structure
and improve the gas industry layout while ensuring the full
production and sales in order to maintain its competitive
advantage.

Quality, Health, Safety and Environment (QHSE)

The Group placed great value on QHSE and made efforts on
assuming its social responsibilities. In 2022, in strict compliance
with the new Work Safety Law ({ & & 4 E J% )), the Group
established the dual prevention and control system and the
quality management mechanism to further enhance and upgrade
the QHSE management system. Through the HSE performance
evaluation, contractor bridging management and HSE
information system, the responsibilities of all employees in safety
production were consolidated, management measures were
refined, safety management of contractors were strengthened,
and HSE education and training and supervision and inspections
were enhanced. We continued to improve our risk management
capabilities so as to ensure the safe, continuous, stable and
compliant operation of all business activities of the Group. In
2022, the Group continued to maintain zero lost time injury rate
("LTIR"), zero total recordable incident rate (“TRIR"”) and zero
environmental pollution incident rate in respect of the HSE
performance. As of 31 December 2022, the Group has achieved
extraordinary results of a total of 8 years and 117 days without
lost time injury.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

6.

24

Acquisition of new resources

In 2022, the Group focused on developing new projects to
support our long-term development and seek potential resources
in resource-rich areas such as the Ordos Basin, Sichuan Basin,
and Southern North China Basin. In addition to shallow-level
CBM resources, we also put efforts in the acquisition of medium-
and deep-level CBM resources and other unconventional
resources such as tight gas and shale gas. In order to ensure the
development potential of resources and policy support, the
Group actively familiarized itself with the laws and regulations of
the resource locations and the policies for resource development
and establishment. Green mining, resource development, and
environmental protection were also considered as the basis for
resource evaluation. Currently, the Group has identified various
potential investment opportunities and is actively negotiating
with the resource owners for cooperation. In 2023, the Group is
expected to finalize the negotiations and establish partnerships
or acquisitions in respect of 1 to 2 concessions.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
— Panzhuang
— Mabi
— Xinhe
— Inter-segment eliminations

Subsidy income
— Panzhuang
— Mabi

VAT refund
— Panzhuang
— Mabi

Other (losses)/gains, net

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Exploration expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets
Others

Panzhuang
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets

Others

Mabi
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Exploration expenses
Materials, services and logistics

Net impairment losses on financial assets
Others
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1,739,226
1,522,736

176,946
39,544

111,630
99,188
12,442

140,245
124,463
15,782

18,022
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Xinhe
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets
Others

Inter-segment eliminations
Materials, services and logistics

Headquarters
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Others

EBITDA
— Panzhuang
— Mabi
— Xinhe
— Headquarters

Profit from operations
Finance income
Finance costs
Exchange gains/(losses)

Finance income, net

Share of net loss of associates accounted
for using the equity method

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year
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1,544,722
1,477,455
73,537
7,449
(13,719)

1,148,199
24,522
(5,750)
(8,597)

10,175

(14,052)

1,144,322
(328,643)

815,679
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

The gross production volume, gross sales volume, net sales volume,
realized ASP and revenue of Panzhuang and Mabi concessions are set

Bt ¥ B B (@)

BHBRRNELRIBNEES - AHE  FH
& FHEREEER AT

out below:

Gross production volume (bcf)! wEsS(THESARER) 45.84
Panzhuang I 41.49
Mabi 5w 4.35

Gross production volume (MMCM)' wEE(ABHK)! 1,297.94
Panzhuang E 1,174.77
Mabi 5w 123.17

Gross sales volume (bcf)? BEE (TEYHHR)? 4416
Panzhuang I 40.34
Mabi =S 3.82

Gross sales volume (MMCM)? e (A8 A K)?2 1,250.27
Panzhuang B 1,142.21
Mabi S 108.06

Net sales volume (bcf)? FiHE (HEY R 31.75
Panzhuang EH 28.79
Mabi [SUA 2.96

Net sales volume (MMCM)? FHE(BEML A K)? 899.20
Panzhuang I 815.34
Mabi 5 83.86

Realized ASP (RMB per cubic meter)* FHEREEER(ARERL LK) 1.79
Panzhuang A 1.80
Mabi 5w 1.67

Revenue (RMB’000) WA (ANBEETT) 1,699,682
Panzhuang EI 1,522,736
Mabi [SPA 176,946
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Notes:
1. Gross production volume is the total amount of CBM produced.
2. Gross sales volume is gross production volume less utilization loss.

3. Net sales volume is the portion of gross sales volume allocated to us under the
production sharing contract, after the deduction of amount sold to pay applicable VAT
and local taxes.

4. Realized ASP excludes the directly attributable pass through cost, thus reflecting the
realized wellhead price.

Revenue. Our revenue increased by RMB828 million or 47.58% from
RMB1.739 billion in 2021 to RMB2.567 billion in 2022. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in realized ASP and net sales volume as a
result of the increase in production volume in Panzhuang and Mabi
concessions, as well as the increase in revenue due to the newly
incurred energy trading and LNG outsourced processing and sales
businesses. The gross production volume of Panzhuang concession
increased by 0.66% from 1,175 MMCM in 2021 to 1,183 MMCM in 2022,
realized ASP increased from RMB1.80 per cubic meter in 2021 to
RMB2.31 per cubic meter in 2022. The gross production volume of
Mabi concession increased by 130.76% from 123 MMCM in 2021 to 284
MMCM in 2022; realized ASP increased from RMB1.67 per cubic meter
in 2021 to RMB2.05 per cubic meter in 2022.

Subsidy income. Our subsidy income increased by RMB53 million or
48.17% from RMB112 million in 2021 to RMB165 million in 2022,
primarily due to the increase in central and local fiscal award and
subsidy funds.

VAT refund. Our VAT refund increased by RMB42 million or 29.97%
from RMB140 million in 2021 to RMB182 million in 2022, mainly due to
the increase in net sales volume and realized ASP of Panzhuang and
Mabi concessions.

Other (losses)/gains, net. Our other (losses)/gains changed from a gain
of RMB18.02 million in 2021 to a loss of RMB21.73 million in 2022,
primarily due to the payment of other expenses for land occupation.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses increased by RMB335
million or 38.86% from RMB861 million in 2021 to RMB1,196 million in
2022, primarily due to the increase in depreciation and amortization as
a result of the increase in production wells and production volume, the
increase in exploration expenses, the increase in materials, services
and logistics as a result of the increase in production wells, the increase
in sales costs of LNG as a result of the increase in LNG outsourced
processing and sales businesses, and the increase in net impairment
losses on financial assets.

J Depreciation and amortisation. Our depreciation and
amortization increased by RMB158 million or 39.77% from
RMB396 million in 2021 to RMB554 miillion in 2022, mainly due to
the increase in production wells and production volume in
Panzhuang and Mabi concessions.

o Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses
were RMB103 million and RMB107 million in 2021 and 2022,
respectively.

o Exploration expenses. Our exploration expenses increased by
RMB45 million or 88.78% from RMB50 million in 2021 to RMB95
million in 2022, mainly due to the increase in the well closure in
Mabi concession.

° Materials, services and logistics. Our materials, services and
logistics expenses increased by RMB96 million or 33.92% from
RMB284 million in 2021 to RMB380 million in 2022, primarily due
to the increase in electricity, repair, wastewater treatment and
other operating costs as a result of more wells coming into
production and increased production, and the increase in sales
costs of LNG as a result of the increase in LNG outsourced
processing and sales businesses.

o Net impairment losses on financial assets. Our net impairment
losses on financial assets increased by RMB29.50 million or
302.42% from RMB9.76 million in 2021 to RMB39.26 million in
2022, primarily due to the increase in expected credit losses on
trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised costs.

o Others. Our other expenses were RMB17.82 million and
RMB20.40 million in 2021 and 2022, respectively.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

EBITDA. Our EBITDA increased by RMB706 million or 45.75% from
RMB1.545 billion in 2021 to RMB2.251 billion in 2022. The increase was
primarily due to the increase in realized ASP and production volume,
resulting in the increase in net sales volume in Panzhuang and Mabi
concessions, as well as the increase in revenue as a result of the newly
incurred energy trading and LNG outsourced processing and sales
businesses, partially offset by the increase in exploration expenses, the
increase in materials, services and logistics, and the increases in LNG
sales costs and net impairment losses on financial assets. Overall,
higher production volume and realized ASP have led to an increase in
EBITDA. The EBITDA of Panzhuang concession increased by RMB456
million or 30.87% from RMB1.477 billion in 2021 to RMB1.933 billion in
2022, primarily due to increase in production volume and realized ASP.
Mabi concession’s EBITDA increased by RMB227 million or 309.30%
from RMB74 million in 2021 to RMB301 million in 2022, primarily due to
increase in production volume and realized ASP, partially offset by
increase in materials, services and logistics and exploration expenses.
The EBITDA of Xinhe Investment increased by RMB24.12 million or
323.76% from RMB7.45 million in 2021 to RMB31.57 million in 2022,
mainly due to the increase in revenue from the newly incurred energy
trading and LNG outsourced processing and sales business, which was
partially offset by the increase in cost of sales of LNG.

Profit from operations. As a result of the foregoing, our profit from
operations increased by RMB549 million or 47.81% from RMB1.148
billion in 2021 to RMB1.697 billion in 2022.

Finance income. Our finance income increased by RMB11.50 million or
46.90% from RMB24.52 million in 2021 to RMB36.02 million in 2022,
primarily due to the increase in cash and bank balances.

Finance costs. Our finance costs were RMB5.75 million and RMB9.74
million in 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Exchange gains/(losses). Our exchange gains/(losses) turned from
exchange losses of RMB8.60 million in 2021 to exchange gains of
RMB95.10 million in 2022, primarily due to the foreign exchange gains
of monetary items in foreign currency arising from the exchange rate
fluctuations for foreign currency against RMB.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using the equity method.
Our share of net loss of associates accounted for using the equity
method were RMB14.05 million and RMB17.72 million in 2021 and
2022, respectively.

Profit before income tax. Our profit before income tax increased by
RMB657 million or 57.37%, from RMB1.144 billion in 2021 to RMB1.801
billion in 2022, primarily due to the factors affecting EBITDA as
described above and the increases in finance income and exchange
gains, partially offset by the increase in depreciation and amortization
expenses, the increase in finance costs and the increase in share of net
loss of associates accounted for using the equity method.

Income tax expense. Our income tax expenses increased by RMB56
million or 17.07% from RMB329 million in 2021 to RMB385 million in
2022, mainly due to the increase in profit before income tax of
Panzhuang concession in 2022.

Profit for the year. Our profit for the year increased by RMB600 million
or 73.61% from RMB816 million in 2021 to RMB1.416 billion in 2022,
mainly due to the factors affecting profit before income tax stated
above but partially offset by the increase in income tax expense.

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to profit
for the year, which is the most directly comparable financial
performance calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS.
EBITDA refers to earnings before finance income, finance costs,
exchange gains or losses, share of net profit or loss of associates
accounted for using the equity method, income tax, and depreciation
and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA refers to EBITDA adjusted to
exclude non-cash expenses, non-recurring items or non-operation-
related expenses to demonstrate EBITDA of the Group's core
operations.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe they are
financial measures commonly used in the oil and gas industry. We
believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used as supplemental
financial measures by our management, investors, research analysts,
bankers and others to assess our operating performance, cash flow and
return on capital as compared to those of other companies in our
industry, and our financing ability. However, EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as
alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure of
performance or as indicators of our operating performance or
profitability. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are unable to account for
income tax, share of net profit or loss of associates accounted for using
the equity method, exchange gains or losses, finance income, finance
costs, depreciation and amortization.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA to profit for the year.

Reconciliation of profit for the year
to EBITDA:

FERHEEBITDA WH R

EBITDA K & #8# EBITDA ()

M E & AEBITDA X &£ # ¥ EBITDA + & H
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K2 48 8 EBITDA T AT 48 52 7 18 S i 48 & 7
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™ &R & 5l 4 [ EBITDA % 4% 78 % EBITDA B2 |
THREER -

Profit for the year FERHE 815,679
Income tax expense FristiER 328,643
Share of net loss of associates accounted FEIE R EABRAEE 2 A A

for using the equity method KEEE 14,052
Finance income B s U e (24,522)
Finance costs B E A 5,750
Exchange (gains)/losses FEH (Uezs) 1Bk 8,597
Depreciation and amortization e Kk i 396,523

EBITDA EBITDA 1,544,722
Non-operation-related business JEEEMRANERERM

development and legal consulting ERBARBERI

service expenses

Adjusted EBITDA KA EBITDA 1,551,720
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

Our EBITDA increased by RMB706 million or 45.75% from RMB1.545
billion in 2021 to RMB2.251 billion in 2022. The increase was primarily
due to the increase in realised ASP and net sales volume as a result of
the increase in production volume in Panzhuang and Mabi concessions,
as well as the increase in revenue as a result of the newly incurred
energy trading and LNG outsourced processing and sales businesses,
partially offset by the increase in exploration expenses, the increase in
materials, services and logistics, and the increases in LNG sales costs
and net impairment losses on financial assets. In conclusion, higher
production volume and realised ASP have led to an increase in
EBITDA. The EBITDA of Panzhung concession increased by RMB456
million or 30.87% from RMB1.477 billion in 2021 to RMB1.933 billion in
2022, primarily due to increased production volume and realised ASP.
Mabi concession’s EBITDA increased by RMB227 million or 309.30%
from RMB74 million in 2021 to RMB301 million in 2022, primarily due to
increased production volume and realised ASP, partially offset by the
increases in materials, services and logistics and exploration expenses.
The EBITDA of Xinhe Investment increased by RMB24.12 million or
323.76% from RMB7.45 million in 2021 to RMB31.57 million in 2022,
mainly due to the increase in revenue from the newly incurred energy
trading and LNG outsourced processing and sales business, which was
partially offset by the increase in cost of sales of LNG.

Our adjusted EBITDA increased by RMB702 million or 45.27% from
RMB1.552 billion in 2021 to RMB2.254 billion in 2022. The increase was

primarily due to the aforementioned reasons for the increase in
EBITDA.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group's financial management department is responsible for the
financing and fund management policies related to the overall
operations of the Group. Our investment funds were mainly derived
from cash generated from operating activities.

As at 31 December 2022, we had cash and bank balances of RMB2.186
billion (31 December 2021: RMB1.887 billion).

Save as the information disclosed above or otherwise in this annual
report, the Group had no outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures
or other loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts,
borrowings, liabilities under acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire
purchase and finance lease commitments, or any guarantee or other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

EBITDA K & Z EBITDA ()
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued) RBEEREXRER@®

Cash flows ReRE
The table below sets forth our cash flow for each of the years indicated: TR&HIIASHIRFERMFNREERE :

Net cash generated from operating activities  #&&& /ZENFTIRIR & F5E 1,363,449

Net cash used in investing activities KEEETAR & /55 (1,167,546)

Net cash used in financing activities REEBFTRIR S 5 (355,833)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and Be RBESEYEM Ohd) F5E (159,930)
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FRe LIRS EEY 1,790,505
of the year

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and RekReFEWERLKE (BX) (3,900)

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  FRIR & MIREZEY

1,626,675

Operating activities REEE

Net cash generated from operating activities in 2022 was RMB1.825 #2022 » K& EFEMEHE S FEAARE
billion, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB1.801 billion, 1825187 - F 22BN GRATEHATFEAR
depreciation and amortization of RMB554 million, exploration expenses ¥ 18.0118 7T + #7T & K $8 A R 55418 7T -
of RMB95 million and net impairment losses on financial assets of B)FRFHSX ARK0.95E7T - U RS e EERME
RMB39 million. These items were offset by income tax paid of RMB651  JFi8k AR 0391870 » 2 EHEE WEMNFE
million and an increase in trade and other receivables of RMB25 %t A K& 6.51 {871 LA K2 JE W BR 5% T2 . th FE Wik
million. EINARE0.25BITATIEEH ©

Net cash generated from operating activities in 2021 was RMB1.363 20214 - K& FFMBHRESFEAARYE
billion, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB1.144 billion, 13.63187L - X2 HRBRAAGEHATFEAR
depreciation and amortization of RMB397 million and exploration ¥ 11.4487C » TE KB IHARKE3.97E LI
expenses of RMB50 million. These items were offset by income tax ~ N#HIEAT AR 050187 - ZEHBWE
paid of RMB210 million. FTST AR 2108 TETiKH
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)

Investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities in 2022 was RMB1.141 billion,
mainly comprised of purchases of property, plant and equipment of
RMB1.130 billion, investments in associates of RMB147 million,
investments in financial assets of RMB70 million, offset by a decrease in
term deposits with maturity over 3 months of RMB200 million. The
purchase of property, plant and equipment mainly comprised of
payment for more wells drilled, additional well head compressors and
construction of gas gathering stations and power facilities.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2021 was RMB1.168 billion,
mainly comprised of purchases of property, plant and equipment of
RMB699 million,
purchases of term deposits with maturity over 3 months of RMB200

investments in associates of RMB234 million,

million. The purchase of property, plant and equipment mainly
comprised of payment for more wells drilled, additional well head
compressors and construction of gas gathering stations and power
facilities.

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities in 2022 was RMB203 million, which
was mainly due to the payment of dividend of RMB197 million for year
ended 31 December 2021 and repayment of lease liabilities of RMB6.44
million.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2021 was RMB356 million, which
was mainly due to the payment of dividend of RMB351 million for year
ended 31 December 2020 and repayment of lease liabilities of RMB6.19
million.

Cash and bank balances

We had cash and bank balances of RMB1.887 billion and RMB2.186
billion as at 31 December 2021 and 2022, respectively. Our cash and
bank balances consist of cash on hand, cash at banks and restricted
bank deposits. As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, approximately 0.84%
and 20.55% of our cash and bank balances were held in Hong Kong
dollars or US dollars, respectively.

RBEERERER@®

BRETH
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FE & o
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SERILFNE ) RHE o

BMEEE
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k20318 TEANSIHEZE2021F12 A
BMNALEFENREARB17ETREER
EaEARBMIETT -
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k3561870 TEAN I HE E2020F 12 A
JMNBLEFENBREARBISIEITREER
EBBARB6I9ETT

RERBITEER

2021 FE K 2022F 12 A31 B RFNIEE K&
FIEBRIAARBISSTIRBIMARE
21.861B7C - HMIME S RIBTEBRBELET
e BITTFREZRHEITER - 72021
FER20229F12A31H  HMAEL0.84% K%
20.55% )38 & RERTT &S H I B TS E T
FH -
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The operating activities of the Group expose to a variety of financial
risks: credit risk, market risk (includes foreign exchange risk), liquidity
risk and concentration risk. The overall risk management program of
the Group focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial
performance of the Group.

Credit risk
Credit risk of the Group arises from cash at bank, trade and other
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost.

As the majority of the cash at bank are placed with state-owned and
international banks and financial institutions in the PRC and Hong
Kong, and there has been no recent history of default in relation to
these banks and financial institutions, the corresponding credit risk is
relatively low.

The Group has controls in place to assess the credit quality of its
customers, taking into account of their financial positions, past
experience and other factors. The Group's sales were only made to the
customers with good credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, particularly with respect to US dollar. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognized assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency other
than the entity’s functional currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, we were exposed to non-cash foreign exchange
risks arising from retranslation of inter-company loans denominated in
US dollar. To manage the foreign exchange risk, the management
decided to execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by converting
the inter-company loans into perpetual loans through entering into
perpetual loan agreements between respective group companies such
that the perpetual loans do not bear interest and the lenders cannot
request repayment. Upon completion of this debt restructuring, any
foreign exchange difference arising from the retranslation of these US
dollar denominated perpetual loans was recognized in equity in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring

the movement of the foreign exchange rates and companies’ internal
accounts denominated in US dollar.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
against US dollar, with all other variables being held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have been RMB46,000 (31
December 2021: negative RMB1,187,000) lower/higher, respectively,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of
US$ denominated receivables and payables held by our entities with
their functional currency as RMB.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments for the year ended
31 December 2022.

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
OR ASSOCIATES

The details of acquisition of associates by the Group are disclosed in
note 9 to the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report. Save as disclosed above, the Group
had no other acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associates for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2023

The Group will continue to strengthen the investment and
development strategy of the existing CBM concessions, striving to
build an ecological chain of the entire natural gas industry while
strengthening the development of CBM transmission and distribution
capabilities, thus lowering the market risks of the products. Meanwhile,
by leveraging its advantages in CBM exploration and development
technology and industry, the Group intends to further expand its
upstream resources.

For 2023, we are pleased to present the latest goals as follows:

R EE @)
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2023 (Continued)

Panzhuang Concession
The Group will continue to invest in Panzhuang concession in 2023,
details are as follows:

o The Group will implement the full year plan upon the related
government approvals on Panzhuang concession, including the
plans of completing pre-drilling construction of 21 well sites, the
drilling work of 75 new wells (including 70 drilling operations for
thin coal seams and 5 drilling operations for main coal seams),
the fracturing construction work of 77 new wells, the commencing
production of 85 new wells and implementing related ancillary
surface facilities engineering.

o With the scheduled project implementation and related
government approvals, the gross production of Panzhuang
concession in 2023 is expected to be 1,149 MMCM (40.6 bcf).

o Due to the frequent coal mining activities in the surrounding coal
mines adjoin Panzhuang concession, the Company will continue
to strengthen communication and cooperation with these coal
mines in 2023, to optimize mutual guarantee agreements and
continue to identify new development opportunities and
cooperation channels.

Mabi Concession
The Group will continue to strengthen investment in Mabi concession
in 2023, details are as follows:

o In Mabi concession, the Group will continue to obtain approval
for the ODP adjustment plan of the southern area and the
development plan for MB076 well block, continue to enhance the
investment and construction per the ODP of the southern area of
Mabi concession and optimize the development of the northern
area. In 2023, we plan to complete the drilling work of 178 new
wells (including 51 wells in the southern area and 127 wells in the
northern area), the fracturing construction work of 165 new wells,
the commencing production of 151 new wells and implementing
related ancillary surface facilities engineering in Mabi concession.

J With the scheduled project implementation and related

government approvals, the gross production of Mabi concession
in 2023 is expected to be 536 MMCM (18.9 bcf).
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2023 (Continued)

According to the development plan of Panzhuang concession and
Mabi concession mentioned above, the Group estimates to incur
capital expenditures of approximately RMB1.592 billion in 2023, which
will be financed by its own cash flow. The Group will assess the capital
investment plan for 2023 from time to time, and will make necessary
disclosure in the interim results for 2023 for any change.

The Group will committed to sustainable cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement to deliver promising operating results. Meanwhile, we
will continue to enhance technological innovation, thereby laying a
solid foundation for the stable production and development of
Panzhuang concession and the future development of Mabi
concession. Besides, the Group will base on its groundbreaking
technological advantages to identify new development opportunities
mainly in China’s market as planned and actively expand new
concessions and businesses.

LNG Outsourced Processing and Trading Business

It is expected that the global economic growth will slow down in 2023,
which may reduce the demand for natural gas. However, the natural
gas market remains in a tight balance. AAG Energy has implemented
the comprehensive industry strategy, strengthening strategy and
innovation strategy. By leveraging its platform advantages, Xinhe
Investment will continue to expand upstream gas sources, strengthen
pipeline interconnection, cultivate the mid and downstream markets,
and proactively layout incremental markets to expand its sales scope.
In the coming year, Xinhe Investment expects to achieve a sales
volume of 107,300 tonnes for the outsourced processing of LNG, a
sales volume of 2.85 MMCM for piped gas, a sales volume of 44,000
tonnes for LNG and a sales volume of 12 MMCM for CNG of the
energy trading business.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (B3F3g), aged 59, is an executive Director of the
Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ming is primarily responsible for the
Group's overall development and growth strategies, investor and
public relations, board governance and supervision of key
management issues. Mr. Ming was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Mr. Ming has been the chairman of the board of Xinjiang Xintai Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. GNESEHZRARKMHBRAF]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393), since January 2013.
From June 2010 to December 2012, Mr. Ming was a director of Xinjiang
Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Xinjiang Xintai
Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. ($TiBE&EHEE(EBE)ER A F]). From
March 1985 to May 1998, Mr. Ming served as the head of the
supervision and audit department, the head of the personnel
department, the chief audit officer and the deputy governor of the
Agricultural Bank of China Limited (Deyang Central District Branch) (4
Bl R ZR1T(EF M H R 17)), and as the director and the secretary of
the Party committee of the credit cooperative union, respectively.

Mr. Ming graduated from the correspondence college of Party College

of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of China ({3t
M9) 118 ZER KX ZPT) in 1987, majoring in law.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yan Danhua (B f3 %), aged 55, is an executive Director, the
President, a member of the Strategic Development Committee and a
member of the ESG Working Group of the Company. Mr. Yan is
primarily responsible for the Group’s overall operation management.
Mr. Yan was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 24
August 2018, the President of the Company on 7 September 2018, a
member of the ESG Working Group of the Company on 27 March 2020
and a member of the Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 26 March 2021.

Mr. Yan has more than 11 years of strategic investment and operation
management experience in the energy industry. He was responsible
for managing the energy investment projects of China AVIC Trust Co.,
Ltd. (PHUEFER D AR F]) from 2016 to 2018. In 2015, Mr. Yan was
the deputy general manager of Guangzheng Group Co., Ltd. (Y IE&E
f&H B A E]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002524), and was responsible for the business of natural
gas and new energy development. From 2007 to 2013, he worked as
the office director of balanced scorecard department for Xinjiang
Guanghui Industry Investment Group Co., Ltd. (32 EEE 1% & (5 F)
BREFEAF) and as the deputy general manager for Guanghui
Energy Co., Ltd. (BERERMN AR AF]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600256), respectively. In
Guanghui Energy Co., Ltd., he was responsible for strategic planning,
operation management, natural gas project management and the
development of conventional gas and oil. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Yan
worked as the general manager at the department of fruit business of
Xinjiang Tunhe Co., Ltd. GFEH AN BRAR) (currently known as
Cofco Tunhe Sugar Co., Ltd. (Pl A EERDBRAF]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600737)).

Mr. Yan obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from Shaanxi
Institute of Finance and Economics (BRFEES4&EEFR), currently known as
Xi'an Jiao Tong University of China (FF B 7% 35 i@ A E2), in 1990.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (5RA%£T), aged 59, is an executive Director, authorized
representative, an executive vice-president, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the ESG Working Group of the Company. Mr.
Zhang is authorized to be responsible for general management of the
Group, primarily responsible for human resources and management of
procurement matters. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on 24 August 2018 and an authorized representative of the
Company on 25 August 2018, respectively. He was appointed as the vice
president of the Company on 7 September 2018 and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 21 March 2019, respectively.
He was redesignated from vice president to executive vice-president on 28
January 2021 and appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of
the Company on 19 August 2021, respectively.

Mr. Zhang has worked in various government departments and
enterprises for over 35 years. Mr. Zhang has management experience
in industrial economy, finance, safety production management and
other aspects. Since April 2015, Mr. Zhang has worked as a director of
the general manager’s office of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd.,
the general manager of Fukang Xintai Gas Co., Ltd. (REM&RMRE
R EEAF], the head of investment management department and an
assistant to the general manager of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co.,
Ltd., respectively. From 2010 to 2015, Mr. Zhang served as a deputy
director of Deyang Municipal Committee of Economic and Information
Technology (5 M 4E{EZ). From 2006 to 2010, he was a director of
Deyang Information & Technology Office (fEfZ M {E B/LHAE).
1999 to 2006, Mr. Zhang worked in Deyang Municipal Government
Office (BFE BT #%) as a deputy chief of the administrative
department and the deputy director of the supervision and inspection
office. From 1990 to 1999, Mr. Zhang served as a deputy chief of the
industrial transport department in Deyang Economic Restructuring
Committee (BT BRFINEZER)

From

Mr. Zhang graduated from the correspondence college of Party
College of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of
China (209118 ZER KEZPT) in 2000, majoring in law. Mr. Zhang
obtained the Certificate of Secretary from the Shanghai Stock
Exchange in 2018.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Huang Min (E8)), aged 59, is a non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang is primarily responsible
for advising on accounting, internal control and financial matters. Mr. Huang
joined the Company and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 27 March 2020. He was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company on 27 August 2020.

Mr. Huang has been focusing on the natural gas sector for over 20
years with extensive experience in the industry. He is currently the
chairman of the supervisory committee of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 603393). Prior to that, he served as an accountant, teller, credit
and subsequently deposits officer and credit card business officer of
the Agricultural Bank of China Limited (Deyang City Jingyang District
Branch) (FEIREIRIT(EIZ T HESEZ17)) from December 1979 to
March 2000. He served as a manager in Miquan LPG Co., Ltd., CK&FE &
{ERAT]) from March 2000 to March 2002, a chief officer of the
Planning and Construction Office of the Urban Natural Gas
Transmission Project in Yangi County from March 2002 to February
2003, and a manager of Business Operations Department in Xinjiang
Xintai Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. from March 2004 to December
2012. He has been the chairman of the supervisory committee of
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. since January 2013.

Mr. Huang graduated from Deyang Municipal College of the
Communist party of China (F 2£ZF T Z E4%) in 1987, majoring in law.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (8B R), aged 65, is an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Strategic Development
Committee of the Company and the chairman of the Audit Committee
of the Company. Mr. Tai is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Tai joined the Company on 24
August 2018, and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was appointed as the
chairman of Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 7 September 2018.

Mr. Tai is currently a partner of VMS Securities Limited. Mr. Tai currently
also serves as an independent non-executive director for each of
China Star Entertainment Limited (FEZ%£BE AR A 7)) (Stock Code:
326), G&M Holdings Limited (SBUZR AR A 7)) (Stock Code: 6038)
and Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (B RIRITAXH B R A E]) (Stock Code:
2066), all being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He was appointed as an independent director of Qingdao
Eoroom Smart Home Technology Company Limited (E 5 EE &R
ERBERMDBERAT) on 29 June 2020 and ceased to be an
independent non-executive director of Anhui Conch Cement Company
Limited (ZBUBBICRK M BR R F]) (Stock Code: 914), Luk Fook
Holdings (International) Limited (7~#@ 5 B(EF) B R A A) (Stock Code:
0590), and Jiayuan International Group Limited ()R BB %% B PR A 7))
(Stock Code: 2768), all being companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, on 30 May 2019, 20 August 2020 and 30 June
2022, respectively. Mr. Tai was elected as a member of the 12th session
of Shandong Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference in January 2018.

Mr. Tai is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, CPA Australia and New Zealand Institute of Chartered
Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting, corporate
finance and investment in Hong Kong and overseas.

Mr. Tai obtained a bachelor’'s degree in commerce and administration

from Victoria University of Wellington (B ZE 14 % F 25 K22), New
Zealand in 1982.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (Z|Bi£), aged 60, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee of the Company and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Dr. Liu is primarily responsible for
independently overseeing the management. Dr. Liu joined the
Company on 24 August 2018 and was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and the Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 7 September 2018. He ceased to be the chairman of the
Strategic Development Committee of the Company on 9 November
2018.

Dr. Liu has been an independent non-executive director of Kunlun
Energy Company Limited (2 &E/RBEPR A R]) (Stock Code: 0135) since
2004, Cinda International Holdings Limited ({5 BB IER AR A 7))
(Stock Code: 0111) since 2016, Sunfonda Group Holdings Limited (¥7%
FEEZRBR 2R (Stock Code: 1771) since 2017, and Logory
Logistics Technology Co., Ltd. (& B4 RERBE SRR AR AR)
(Stock Code: 2482) since 2021, all being companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Liu was an independent non-
executive director of Honghua Group Limited (REE£BEGR A 7))
(stock code: 0196) from 2008 to 2021, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Liu also served as an independent
director of the board of UBS Securities Company Limited from June
2016 to June 2022. Dr. Liu has more than 29 years of experience in
corporate finance. He has served in a number of international financial
institutions since 1993, including N.M. Rothschild & Sons Limited (/&%
WRFAEMRAF], J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited (EEIR KiB
(FEH)N(EARN)ER AT, N.M. Rothschild & Sons (HK) Limited (&% B X T
(BE)EBR A7), DBS Asia Capital Limited (2R IMEEBR A7) and
China Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited (Z & @iz A
R a)).

Dr. Liu obtained a master’'s degree and a PhD from the Faculty of
Economics, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom in 1988 and
1994, respectively. He obtained a master's degree in development
studies from the University of Bath, United Kingdom in 1987, and a
bachelor’s degree in political economics from the Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics (P78 M &KX £2) (formerly known as
Sichuan Economic College (PUJIIEF 4% £F%)) in the PRC in 1983,
successively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (5% &), aged 59, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee and
the head of the ESG Working Group of the Company. Dr. Yang is
primarily responsible for independently overseeing the management.
Dr. Yang was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 9 November 2018. He was appointed as the head of the
ESG Working Group of the Company on 27 March 2020.

Dr. Yang worked as a geological engineer in the Institute of Petroleum
Geology at the Department of Geology and Minerals (biEZ8A M0 E
T PT) from July 1986 to April 1995. Dr. Yang then served as a senior
geological engineer in the Institute of Petroleum at China New Star
Petroleum Co. (T2 AM A AIAFERT) from April 1995 to July 1996.
From May 2000 to July 2002, Dr. Yang joined the post-doctoral
program and conducted research work in areas of geological resources
and geological engineering at the China University of Mining and
Technology (Beijing branch) (fE#EZ X2 JER)). In December 2002,
Dr. Yang started working as a senior geological engineer and an
associate professor at the China University of Mining and Technology
(Beijing branch) and was later promoted as a professor in July 2017. He
has been working as a senior geological engineer and a professor at
the China University of Mining and Technology (Beijing branch) since
then. Dr. Yang has received several awards including a special award
from the China Coal Industry Association (B K T E) and a
second prize for progress in Science and Technology from the State
Council of the PRC. Dr. Yang was also appointed as a member of the
Mine Geophysical Committee of the Chinese Geophysical Society (1
B IR IB 2SR LR YIEEEEZ S ®) and Geofluid Science
Committee (fRABMIRRI B EX R B |).

Dr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree of petroleum geology from the
Chengdu College of Geology (X #BH#LE ) in the PRC in July 1986
and a doctoral degree in earth exploration and information technology
from the China University of Geosciences (Beijing) (FF EthE AL R))
in December 1999, respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGSREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wei Jiangtao (f717%), aged 55, vice president, financial controller
and member of the ESG Working Group of the Company.

Mr. Wei has served as the vice president and financial controller of the
Company since September 2018 and is primarily responsible for the
Group's financial compliance management, project budget and final
accounts management and corporate financing activities. He has over
20 years of experience in auditing, corporate finance, corporate
governance and financial management. Mr. Wei was appointed as a
member of the ESG Working Group of the Company on 19 January
2022.

Before joining the Group, from 2016 to 2018, Mr. Wei served as a post-
investment manager for energy projects of China AVIC Trust Co., Ltd.
(P S FERR DB MR Q2 A]). From 2008 to 2015, he was a financial
controller of each of Jiangsu YangKou Port Development and
Investment Co., Ltd. (L& F 0B EREBMRAF]) and Jiangsu
Yangtong Investment and Development Co., Ltd. (&R FBFAZEERER
[/ 7)), both are the subsidiaries of PYl Corporation Limited (fRE= 5=
BRAT]) (Stock Code: 0498), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. From 2006 to 2007, he was a founding partner and
general manager of Xi'an Junchung Finance Consulting Limited (F%
E B ARAMR A R)). From 1999 to 2005, he successively served as a
project manager, department manager and business director in
Shaanxi Yiyou Accounting Firm Limited Liability Company (PRizmAk Z
SRS AR A R).

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor’'s degree in industrial economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (PRPEEF4EEF), currently
known as Xi'an Jiaotong University of China (FBAZZEAAE), in
1990 and was admitted as a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 1999.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Wang Bing (£7K), aged 53, vice president and a member of the
ESG Working Group of the Company.

Mr. Wang has been the vice president of the Company since
November 2013 and is primarily responsible for the Group's
government relations and investment development matters. Mr. Wang
was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company on 27 March 2020.

Mr. Wang has over 15 years of experience in project management,
public relations, sales and marketing in the CBM business. Mr. Wang
has held various positions in the Group since joining the Group in June
2005. Mr. Wang served as a director of operation from February 2012
to November 2013 and as a general manager of Panzhuang Project
from September 2008 to February 2012. He was a business
development and sales manager of Mabi Project from 2005 to 2007.

Before joining the Group, he was the deputy general manager of
Shanxi Kotel Micro Technique Co., Ltd. (ILFA R AR A7) from
September 2001 to May 2005 and the marketing manager of the
Beijing branch of American ATMEL Company from July 1997 to
September 2001.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in metallic material
engineering from Northeast Heavy Machinery Institute (324t E5 AU
Et), currently known as Yanshan University (F&HLIKE), in the PRC in
September 1992 and his master’s degree in business administration
from Hong Kong Metropolitan University (formerly known as The Open
University of Hong Kong) (B8 A AZ) in December 2000.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Li Jun (ZE), aged 58, vice president and a member of the ESG
Working Group of the Company.

Mr. Li was appointed as a vice president of the Company in December
2020, and is primarily responsible for the Group’s production and
operation management, administration management and information
management. Mr. Li was appointed as a member of the ESG Working
Group of the Company on 19 August 2021. In February 2022, his
division of duties as a vice president of the Company was adjusted to
primarily responsible for new energy technology research management
and new project development management.

Mr. Li has nearly 30 years of experience in project management, supply
chain management, public relations and crisis management in the oil
and gas industry. He has held various positions since joining the Group
in September 2014. He has been a vice president since December 2020
and primarily responsible for production operation since December
2020 and project management. From April 2020 to December 2020, he
was an assistant to the President and the Head of Investment
Development Department. From September 2014 to September 2020,
he was the general manager of each of Panzhuang Project and Mabi
Project respectively.

Prior to joining the Group, he was the Panyu asset manager of
ConocoPhillips China Inc. (E3EA B BB AT from January 2013
to June 2014. From November 2009 to December 2012, he was the
general manager of supply chain in the PRC for ConocoPhillips China
Inc., During his tenure, Mr. Li, as a representative of ConocoPhillips
China Inc., coordinated the crisis management and communication
with the authorities in respect of the Bohai Bay oil spill from July 2011
to January 2012. From October 1995 to October 2009, he was the chief
operation officer of logistics, liaison officer in charge of communication
with government authorities and joint venturers, and the head of
procurement and logistics management for ConocoPhillips China Inc.,
overseeing the operations in Bohai Rim Region. Prior to that, he was a
diplomatic, political and press attaché at the embassy of the People's
Republic of China in Yemen (% A R XA B E 5 I RFEE) from
February 1991 to April 1994, when he was stationed in Sana’a, the
capital of the Republic of Yemen.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in English Language and Literature
from Tianjin Foreign Studies University (K}Z5NEIFEARE) in 1986 and an
MBA degree from the State University of New York (I KE),
USA in June 2004.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Gong Chihua (88}th%£), aged 54, vice president and a member of
the ESG Working Group of the Company.

Mr. Gong has been a vice president of the Company since 5 February
2022 and is primarily responsible for the Group's production and
operation management and HSE matters. Mr. Gong was appointed as
a member of the ESG Working Group of the Company in 2022.

Mr. Gong has over 30 years of experience in both state-owned and
foreign enterprises, including international oil companies, covering
both conventional and unconventional energy industries. He has held
various positions since joining the Group in April 2015, and was
appointed as the vice president of the Company on 5 February 2022.
From September 2020 to December 2020, Mr. Gong served as the vice
president of the Company, as well as a general manager of both the
Panzhuang Project and Mabi Project. From April 2020 to September
2020, he served as the vice president of the Company and a general
manager of Panzhuang Project. From January 2016 to April 2020, he
served as a general manager of Panzhuang Project of the Company.
From April 2015 to December 2015, he served as a general manager of
Mabi Project of the Company.

Before joining the Group, from November 2009 to March 2015, Mr.
Gong served as a manager of supply chain and Panyu asset manager
of ConocoPhillips China Inc. (BE3EARF BB A F]). From July 2008
to October 2009, he served as production manager of Bohai Operation
Zone of ConocoPhillips China Inc.. From September 2006 to June 2008,
he served as an oilfield director of the BELENAK in the Eastern Region
of ConocoPhillips Indonesia. From December 2005 to August 2006, he
was the director of production operations of ConocoPhillips China Inc..
Prior to that, he held various positions from September 1992 to
November 2005, including the Pearl No. 1 FPSO offshore installation
manager of SuiZhong 36-1 oilfield in China National Offshore Oil
Corporation Bohai Branch, engineering coordinator of the
development department in the Bohai Branch, head of engineering of
Penglai 19-3 Phase |, coordinator of the overall development plan of
Penglai 19-3 Phase Il and deputy director of production operations of
Penglai Phase I.

Mr. Gong obtained a bachelor’s degree in China University of
Petroleum (East China) with a major in Oil and Gas Storage and
Transportation in 1991 and a master’s degree in Oil and Gas Storage
and Transportation from China University of Petroleum (Beijing) in
2002.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Mr. He Guoxian (IB] &), aged 59, is the chief geologist of the Company.

Mr. He was appointed as the chief geologist of the Company on 9
December 2021 and is primarily responsible for the preparation of
exploration and development plans, drilling deployment, production
dynamic analysis, comprehensive geological research, reserves
assessment of the existing concessions of the Group as well as
geological assessment of new businesses and concessions.

Mr. He has over 30 years of extensive work experience in the oil and
gas industry including geological evaluation, exploration and
development, drilling deployment, engineering technology innovation
and management. Mr. He has held various positions since joining the
Group in January 2010. From December 2020 to December 2021, he
was the deputy chief engineer and general manager of Mabi project.
From April 2020 to December 2020, he was the deputy chief engineer
and the Head of Geology and Gas Reserve Department. From October
2018 to April 2020, he was the Head of Technology Department and
from January 2010 to October 2018, he was a senior geologist of Mabi
Project and an exploration manager of Mabi Project successively.

Before joining the Group, from July 2002 to January 2010, Mr. He
served as a manager of the Northeast Project Department, a manager
of the production technology department and the deputy chief
engineer and the head of research institute of Sinopec North China
Petroleum Bureau Logging Company (At ZE 4L Al B H A 7))
successively. From December 1983 to June 2002, he successively
served as a geology team member, a geologist, and a geology team
leader of the drilling team of the 5th survey and exploration brigade of
the North China Petroleum Geology Bureau of the Ministry of Geology
and Mineral Resources (#EEBEEIL A hithE 55 7 E & MR KN & H
FX).

Mr. He graduated from Zhengzhou School of Geology (£ /! #b & £2 £7)
(currently known as Zhengzhou Industry & Trade School (#8)I| T & 52
X)) majoring in geology in December 1983, and graduated from China
University of Geosciences (Wuhan) (7 B # & X 2 (& /%)) majoring in
exploration geology in July 1991. Mr. He holds the title of senior
engineer of petroleum geology.
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EEREREER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. Su Xiaohang (&kBEfii), aged 37, company secretary, authorized
representative and a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company.

Ms. Su has served as the manager of the board of Directors’ office (&
EFEWAEE) of the Company from September 2018 to January
2021 and was appointed as a joint company secretary and the Board
secretary of the Company in April 2019. She is primarily responsible for
implementing good corporate governance and the Group's
compliance matters, investors’ and public relations management. Ms.
Su was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company on 19 August 2021. She was appointed as the sole company
secretary and the authorized representative of the Company on 22 July
2022.

Ms. Su has over seven years of experience in the financial services and
investment industry. Before joining the Company, she worked as an
investment manager in the investment department at Chinastone
Capital Management Limited (BAREHREEIR (8 RHBRAA)
from November 2016 to August 2018. She served as a branch finance
manager in the finance department at the Beijing Branch of the
Standard Chartered Bank (China) Limited (BT #E1T(FE)ER A aldb R
5317) from February 2014 to November 2016. From January 2011 to
January 2014, she worked as a senior auditor at the Beijing office of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. (2% FE K @ 5TENET5FT) under
the audit group of global financial service industry.

Ms. Su obtained a master’'s degree of science in International
Accounting and Finance at the University of Birmingham ({HRF#AE2),
United Kingdom, in 2010. She obtained the Securities Qualification
Certificate from the Asset Management Association of China (F B7& %
KEREESERHE) in June 2017. She is a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

52 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SREERRE®)

FRfizt 375 ARFIREWE - BER
=& ESG TR E -

BT E 20189 B & 2021 F 1 AETAA A
EESRAETEML  R2019F4 AEZT AR
RABFEAPNERESSWE  HXEAE
HITRTMDEE AT  AEEARES -
WEEBERAEBERERE - #7202
F8HI9AERTANRNARESG TIEMEMKE -
R2022F7 A28 EZFE AR AR —2RF
EREERE -

BLLTRESBREREETERERBLEN
KB o IMARRBIZA HAR2016F11BE
2018 F 8 AT BAREIREER (L8 RNAE
PRAFIREFBEMICELIE  R2014F 2%
2016 1M A - BEETRIT(FE)BRAF
RS THBEE  R2011F1ARE2014
F1R AR EXSHAMELEMIERD
FTeike miRIS EE T AN S TR o

BMAZTR2010FNEER AR RERE S
SHESRIBEE 24 o PN 2017 F6 A B
BEEASEECEREBENESENESR

- RARBEBFARGHMAGEER -



Report of the Directors

EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is a leading independent CBM producer in China. It
focuses on developing and optimizing value of unconventional gas
resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese economy. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set
out in note 1 and note 32 to the section headed “Consolidated
Financial Statements” of this annual report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 and a discussion on the Group's future business
development are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report. Description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can also be found in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. In
addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group can be found in note 3 to the section headed “Consolidated
Financial Statements” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year ended 31 December 2022 using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further,
discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships with
its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
sections headed "Chairman’s Statement”, “Report of the Directors”,
and "Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report,
respectively. Discussions and information therein form part of this
Report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.
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DIVIDEND

The Board has not recommended the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING OF THE
COMPANY

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 23 June
2015 with proceeds from the initial public offering (“IPO") of
approximately RMB1.5069 billion, after deduction of the underwriting
commission and other expenses. The Company intends to apply the
proceeds from the Listing in accordance with the proposed
applications as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds — Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company
dated 11 June 2015.

As at 31 December 2022, the proceeds from the IPO of the Company
had been fully utilized.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
REVENUE GENERATING ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
revenue generating assets of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 6 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
incentive schemes are set out in note 15 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report and the
paragraph headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below, respectively.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 2 May 2023. The AGM
circular will be published and issued to the Shareholders in due course.
For the purposes of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company (the
“Register of Members"”) will be closed from 26 April 2023 to 2 May
2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 25 April 2023 (being the business
day prior to the first day of closure of the Register of Members).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

RESERVES

Details of reserve movement of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in note 31 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2022, the distributable reserves of the Company
was approximately RMB4,510 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made charitable
contributions of RMB100,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 48.6% of the total sales for the year, in
which the sales to the largest customer represented 18.4%. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's five largest customers
were principally engaged in the exploration and exploitation of CBM,
liquefaction and processing of CBM, and sales of town gas. The Group
and its five largest customers have maintained a relationship for 1 year
and even longer. The credit term granted to the Group's major
customers for trade receivables is generally 30 to 90 days, which is
consistent with that granted to other customers. In response to the risk
of the Group's dependence on major customers in peak-shaving of
natural gas, the Group has taken targeted measures to add other
customers for peak-shaving and establish a long-term and stable
relationship with its customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 20.9% of the total purchases for the
year in which the purchases from the largest supplier represented 4.7%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any substantial shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material and

significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Yan Danhua (President)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Executive Vice President)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Huang Min

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

As of 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Wei
Jiangtao was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company on 19 January 2022 with effect on the same day. Mr. Gong
Chihua was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company on 16 March 2022 with effect on the same day. Ms. Su Xiaohang
was appointed as our sole company secretary and authorized
representative on 22 July 2022 with effect on the same day. Mr. Chiu Ming
King resigned as the joint company secretary and authorized
representative with effect from 22 July 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this annual report, there have been no changes to the composition
of each of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Strategic Development
Committee and the ESG Working Group of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed "Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
therein, there was no other matter with respect to the appointment of
the Directors that needs to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and there was no information relating to the Directors
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of
the Listing Rules as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of
appointment subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance
with the Articles. Each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors), Mr. Huang Min, Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Dr. Yang Ruizhao, have signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the date of appointment subject to the relevant
provisions of retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Yan Danhua, Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and
Dr. Yang Ruizhao will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts, transactions and
arrangements of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during the year ended 31 December 2022 or at any time of this period.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 33 and note 22 to the
section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual
report. The remunerations of the Directors are determined based on
the market price and contribution made by such Directors to the
Company. There has been no arrangement under which any Director
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and as of the
date of this annual report, the Company considers that they are all
independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her officer or
otherwise in relation thereto. Provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of such directors or officers. In addition, the Company has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

R2022F12A31H  ARABIEERETETH
ABEARLBINEBY AR (TERES K
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R WIRAESTRI ([ZESFR ) BHE ARG R
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Approximate
Company/name of Number of  percentage of
associated shares held  shareholding
Name Position corporation Capacity (Note 1) (Note 2)
v N MERGEE BREAEIL
e -4 HEEE AR 514 (Bt=E1) (P5E2)
Ming Zaiyuan (Note 3) Chairman and Executive Company Interest in a controlled  1,933,704,886(L) 56.95%(L)
BES A X)) Director VAYNG] corporation
IRFNTES ZErEER
Interest in spouse 2,024,000(L) 0.060%(L)
iR
Huang Min Non-executive Director Xinjiang Xintai Natural Beneficial owner 5,146,656(L) 1.21%(L)
B FTES Gas Co., Ltd EnBAA
MEERRARRN
BRAR
Interest in spouse 60,000(L) 0.01%(L)
iR 3
Notes: FifeE -
1. The letter “L" denotes long position in such shares. 1. FE L EZATEELRNPHFE -
2. Approximate percentage of shareholding as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 2. B ZE2022F 12 A31 H LM E S LL o 7120224

December 2022, the total number of issued shares was 3,395,316,832. 128318 ' BEITRH B EUA3,395,316,832/% °

3. Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned 1,933,704,886 Shares of the Company. 3.
Liming Holding Limited is entirely controlled by Sichuan Liming Energy

BAENPZERERA BB EHR AR RE1,933,704,886
RR A% A7 o 2578 FIBR 1 AR A BR 2 71 3 P01 7 B8R 8 IR 5
BAREMC AL mWIIFAERAZER
FEARFIHHBERRARRN ARA 2L -
PAEABBEFENNEERRATBRGBRAF

Development Co., Ltd., which in turn is entirely controlled by Xinjiang Xintai Natural

Gas Co., Ltd. Mr. Ming beneficially owned 1,933,704,886 Shares of the Company

through his holding of 174,090,367 shares in Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd,

representing 41.07% of the total issued share capital of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas 174,090,367 IRAR 17 - thFTIBEBRRARKRO BR A

Co., Ltd. In addition, Mr. Ming is deemed to be interested in 2,024,000 Shares held BB EITIRANH) 41.07% + ¥ A2 7] 1,933,704,886

by his spouse for the purposes of the SFO. MERAD o tboh - ESF R EEDITM S - FAEER
A1 2,024,000 RBR D P HEE R - ZSRmABL
EHRBERES -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company) have interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying shares or debentures as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

FERREADTRS - HEKRD
RESZTHEENESZNKXE

R2022F 124318 TOAT(RRGIES
HEBITHABRIN EARRQBRIEES KB
B1R0IE 336 FFEE ML - 18R
ety REFTREAESIORBINT

Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity (Note 1) (Note 2)
FrERHEE BERBAED K
RRER =47} (Fft=E1) (Fft=E2)
Liming Holding Ltd. (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,933,704,886(L) 56.95%(L)
EBNAZERAR AR (FEE3) EREAA
Sichuan Liming Energy Development Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,933,704,886(L) 56.95%(L)
)| FIER LR B B AR A EA R (MR 3) R FERER
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,933,704,886(L) 56.95%(L)
HESEFAARRMNARLF (HE3) R FERER
Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. (Note 4) (#f3£4) Beneficial owner 601,628,379(L) 17.72%(L)
Hi B A
Weng Ming (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 601,628,379(L) 17.72%(L)
S8 (F3E4) R FERER
Beneficial owner 3,361,000(L) 0.10%(L)
ERBEAA
Notes: B3
1. The letter “L" denotes long position in such shares. 1. FH L EEELELST IR -
2. Approximate percentage of shareholding as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 2. HE202F 12831 HIFERE D o R 20224F
December 2022, the total number of issued shares was 3,395,316,832. 128318 DRITBRHNASAE3,395,316,832 0% o
3. Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned 1,933,704,886 Shares (long position) of 3. BEFAZERERARE =S 1,933,704,886 i It
the Company. Liming Holding Limited is entirely controlled by Sichuan Liming BDUFE) o BAENBBIERAERE QS BRI FIBHEER
Energy Development Co., Ltd., which in turn is entirely controlled by Xinjiang Xintai B EREMA TSRS 1)l FBL RN RS
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. In addition, according to the security pledge and transfer RETATLYEESRERATRDERATDHER
deed signed by Liming Holding Limited and Urumgi Branch of China Minsheng . . S 7 ey A E
Banking Corp., Ltd. on 27 December 2022, Liming Holding Limited (as the charger) ) ﬁti‘ﬁ *B};i;fﬂ[@jiﬁxgﬁgﬁ;ﬁézjéiflg
pledged its 1,933,704,886 ordinary shares of AAG Energy Holdings Limited to leZ E;EPE SEHX BﬁﬁE\L\ 7= s 7 2
Urumgi Branch of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. for the loan agreement aTl[\g"J“i‘ ﬁﬁﬁi’%?@ﬁ% ' E%*‘JE)EEHQE’ZEA
signed by Sichuan Liming Energy Development Co., Ltd. (as the borrower) and EHEAIRE AR FIBRGEIRF A R AT AR (1F
Urumgi Branch of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. (as the lender) on 27 REFAN) BRRERERITROERRADVSEARED
December 2022. TUERERA)N2022912 A27 AT A E 5
EOBERASAEONTEZRRERAR A A
1,933,704,886 B AR TR B R A SRITRR M BR
AISBAREDIT
4. Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. beneficially owned 601,628,379 Shares (long 4. Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. Bz # A 601,628,379

position). Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. is entirely controlled by Mr. Weng Ming,
who beneficially owned 3,361,000 Shares (long position).
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& A& 15 (45 & ) © Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. i
HSEETRES - RYBLEESEHESE 3,361,000
fehetn (452 ) -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company are aware of any other
person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

In order to incentivize the Directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group and to
attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, the Company
adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme (as defined below).

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) on 31 March 2015, the principal terms (such
as the purpose, participants and consideration for accepting any
options) of which are set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V
to the prospectus of the Company dated 11 June 2015 (the
“Prospectus”).

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is valid from its effective date to the
earlier of the Listing Date or the date of completion of the Pre-IPO
change of control and no further options will be granted under it
thereafter. Options granted during the term of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme may be terminated in accordance with any of the
provisions described in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Each option
will lapse on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, but in any event the exercise period of the options shall not
exceed five years from the date of vesting of the relevant options.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to any
person (including exercised and outstanding options) pursuant to the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share compensation
arrangements adopted by the Company shall not exceed 3.0% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Outstanding Options

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 192,715 options were exercised
and no option was cancelled or lapsed. There was no change in the
share options of the Directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates during the
year. As at 31 December 2022, the Company has no option
outstanding. None of the Directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates held
outstanding options.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has no option
outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, no further options have been or would be
granted by the Company after the Listing Date pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, movements of the share
options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are as follows:

BRAHBEANERESTE @

RITHEERE
HE2202F12A31HIEFEE » 5192715

AATEE  BETHABXEIBREXHE
SEMBEANEEEETABRERD - R
20224F 12 A3 B+ AR KTEZBR
B HRAATES  RETRABREER
RXAESEBEAREAEMRITEZBR
# o

BULAFRFER - RIEARZEERERE
FARDAICERARITE 2 BAE -

B EXFTREESIN - AABR LT B RILE
RIBEE R ARG E A B AT 8% SR
H At R

HE202F12ANBILFEE A HBE
ATEERRERTEIE TR EE B BT ¢

Number Total number
of Shares of Shares  Approximate
represented represented  percentage of
Exercise by Options Exercised Lapsed Cancelled by Options issued shares
Name of Price  at 1 January during the during the during the  at 31 December of the Vesting Exercise
Share Option Grantees Date of Grant (US$) 2022 period® period period 2022 Company* Period® Period®
BRER BRER
202F 2022F EELE
1A1H 12A318 BEfT
T® i ARl RONED
BRERRAZE" RHAH (%) RHOHE  HRETES L IEES: BAREEH RHB#E ALY BRH fEse
Other employees of 31 March 2015 and 0151 192,715 192,715 - - - - please see please see
the Company 5 June 2015 note 2below  note 3 below
RRAREMESR 15F3A318R 0151 F2HTX FRHTX
015%675R M2 i3
Total 192,715 192,715 - - - - - -
&t
Notes: FHaE -
1. Prior to the Listing, certain of the grantees have transferred their options to 1. REMAT - —LEREARACREBEEROHAEE

companies wholly-owned by them, in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

AR S Mt P2 AR A A RS R R AE -
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

BRAHBEANERESTE @

MsE - ()

2. Unvested options granted to the grantees pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option RIBERAFREES AR R T EREAR
Scheme vested as follows: ANAGBEREZATHIRER
(a) 50% of the Share Options shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate of (i) (a) 50% [0 8% A HE () 5 2015451 A1 8 (2N SR 817K

one half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if AN EREBAEOHEBERIR((EEEH))
the relevant date on which the employment relationship between the AB2014AF VA1 2 81) e & 1218 A 5
Company (the “Employment Date"”) is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) FREREIZR - s 22— (1/2) L BIsRE « sk
one third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant (B HEEFEB (MR B EBE20145F1
Employment Date if such date is after 1 January 2014; and A1BZ#&) st 81218 A SRR EREE
=9 2—(13)MLLAISHE LRk
(b) 50% of the Share Options shall be KPI-linked (the “KPI-linked Options"”) and (b) 50% H il A 1t 78 £ A 4 SE A R AT A 60 ([ BRGR
shall be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment being EBEEHBNBREDTEESA=F5H
linked with one of the three KPIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of BhE=-EARREEEEZS(ERA T2
one (i) half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 BME - WARE A T2 F#E B ()2015F1 81
if the relevant Employment Date is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) one B (B (&% B #A1E2014F 1 A1 Bl 2 Al
third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant HBE1R2EABEE =, 2—(1/2) L HH
Employment Date if such date is after 1 January 2014 pursuant to the B s G EEE e B (A EREE B B Bt
following payout schedule: 2014481 B B zig) ieat @ 1218 A Bk =
A2z— U3 LLAIER
(1) 100% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI 1 MErEKIEREEREETEZRE
Target is met; or AR EE IR EENERESBES
B osE
) if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked ) Ik SEREM AR R EEIRIZAEZ
Options shall vest if 80% of the Relevant KPI Target is met and an B 80% + Al B A IBIT AN E
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest for each 1% B —FERE - MxEREER
further improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the ZEEZEENRE1% " AEXENEBE
performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of 25% Rt AR ITHMOEENIRE B
the improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance IR B AR B R ERIR
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished. TR E B 100% - Blmx % H10%H)
ZHBREEEEEREREAFAR
TERERNEMBERESEREZEEN
REME ©
For the purposes of above, “KPIs” refer to (i) EBITDA; (ii) Reserves; and (iii) All-in EXME  BBREERIZEGOEBITDA : ()=
Unit Cost. “KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and Reserves) or AR (i) BB BERZ AR AN o [BASEREEIRIZ A IZ | 45 () &K
105% (in the case of All-in-Unit Cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI FESHERBEENFE T RFEE @ (i)
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by HEFEELETEE e8| REE R AR AREE
the Board; or (i) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year, BEEREETEHENS% (N AEBITDANHE)
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for 3% 105% (U AFE(EBEMKA) - WHEESIESEESI
any unvested KPI-linked Options shall be determined by the Board or the o (AR B R AR R R R IR
Committee as delegated by the Board. AHERSNEFRETENEEGARE -

3. Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in the Pre-IPO Share Option R B R A 53 E AT IRE ST B P A (R (T HR AT AR
Scheme, each option shall expire on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share b BNEREBSNERARBEAERETSIE
Option, provided that in no event, shall the Exercise Period of an Option exceed THREMBHER - BER A BRENTTFE Y
five years from the date upon which the relevant option has vested. NMeERAREERERBEE BRTFIAR -

4. Approximate percentage of issued Shares of the Company is calculated by dividing RARRFEBITROORNDE DL - IRIARE R

the options held by the relevant grantees by the issued and outstanding Shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2022.

EEARBNBRERIA2022512 A3 AE #1T
FARBITHRDFE -

BRAFRBERBRE SN EMHITEHNA

R -

Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.
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POST-IPO RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted a post-IPO restricted share unit scheme (the
"Post-IPO RSU Scheme”) on 5 June 2015, which took effect on the
Listing Date, a summary of the principal terms (such as the purpose,
participants) of which is set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Post-IPO RSU Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.

The Post-IPO RSU Scheme is valid and effective for a term of 10 years
from 5 June 2015 (the “Scheme Period”), after which period no further
restricted share units (“RSUs") shall be granted or accepted, but the
provisions of such scheme shall remain in full force and effect in order
to give effect to the vesting of RSUs granted and accepted prior to the
expiration of the Scheme Period.

The Post-IPO RSU Scheme Limit may be refreshed from time to time
subject to prior Shareholders’ approval, but in any event, the total
number of Shares that may underlie the RSUs granted following the
date of approval of the refreshed limit (the “New Approval Date")
under the limit as refreshed from time to time must not exceed 2% of
the number of Shares in issue as at the New Approval Date.

On 18 December 2015, the Company granted an aggregate of
41,234,696 RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected
grantees of the Group pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.
Subsequently the grant of RSUs to three connected grantees was
approved by the independent shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 22 January 2016. On 31 January 2016, an
aggregate of 19,865,199 RSUs were accepted by the connected
grantees and an aggregate of 21,199,297 RSUs were accepted by the
non-connected grantees, respectively.

On 24 March 2017, the Board granted an aggregate of 26,333,182
RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected grantees of
the Group pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. Subsequently the
grant of RSUs to six connected grantees was approved by the
independent shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 9 May 2017. On 31 May 2017, an aggregate of 26,333,182 RSUs were
accepted by the relevant grantees.

At the 2021 AGM, a specific mandate was granted to the Directors to
exercise all the powers of the Company to grant RSUs pursuant to the
Post-IPO RSU Scheme in respect of the underlying Shares not
exceeding 2% (i.e. the Directors were authorized to exercise the
powers of the Company to grant the RSUs involving a maximum
number of 67,902,482 underlying Shares) of the Shares in issue as at
the date of the 2021 AGM during the period from the date of
approving the Mandate at that meeting up to the conclusion of the
next AGM.

RARBERZREROGEMT

MHB{

RABIR2015%F 6 A5 BEME XN AFREEE
SRR DEMFTE((BERAHBRERZRE
Bﬁﬁﬁu—rsm EREmAMBER HFXE
EX(ERREERN 2BAN)BEHRBRE
BHEERAEER—RER —BXARERE
%BZIRBIAADBEALETE]] —&p -

_\

BRARBEERZBHRGEMEE 2015
F6ASHBHTFAN(FEBEDBEIRA
BN B ek A SRR I AR D B
7 - HEZERTEERER T BRI AR ET &
ERIE AT IR I R EZ OB HIR M B HE
HER e

%/K@Eﬁ%ﬁ‘%fﬁxﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ\“LL.:Jri\JBE%EE’\HX
SRRERIERA FIARER - ERELT
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R2015%F 12 4188 » AR RIRIEBE X AFE
ERZBRHIRMD BELIFTEE T AREE B EHEE
EER A R IEREFEE A A 2£41,234,696 10 ZBR
HIRR D BEAL o B AR R E &R 2016F 1 822
A B AKREERIAS EHAER T = fE @
ZAZRB DB - BR2016F 18318 ¢
519,865,199 10 5 BR I B 15 BE (o7 R B8 S8 A #%
N H5H21,199,297 1) 2R S A% 1D B AL
JERRIE AR AEHN ©

R2017F38248 EFeREBRNAME
ERZBRHIIRGD BEALFT B M AN E BEE T B
BARIEBEFRR AR T A £26,333,18210%
PR A BN - B IR E B 2017F 589
A BRI EEFRIRE EHER T /S B8
ZAZRBRHRMDEBEMN - R2017F58318 ¢
FRRBE AR AE 44 £ 26,333,182 1) LR HIAL 17
BAL o
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OUTSTANDING RSUs AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

During the reporting period, no RSUs have been granted, vested,
lapsed or cancelled. As at 31 December 2022, there were no
outstanding RSUs.

As at the date of this annual report, pursuant to the specific mandate
obtained by the Board, the total number of securities available for
issue under the Scheme were 67,902,482 representing approximately
2.0% of the issued shares. However, this specific mandate will expire at
the conclusion of the 2022 AGM.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted
at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules),
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules),
to acquire such rights in acquisition of any other body corporate for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, except as disclosed below, the
Group has not entered into any connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transaction with
Shanxi Tongyu, as set out in note 29 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” in this annual report, is not a
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 18 January 2022, Xinhe Investment and XTRQ entered into a joint
venture agreement (the “Joint Venture Agreement”), pursuant to
which Xinhe and XTRQ agreed to make a capital contribution of
RMB24.5 million and RMB25.5 million, respectively, to establish
Dongcheng Xintai Energy Research Co., Ltd* (RAZRERAEBRE
£ 2 7)) ("Dongcheng Xintai"). On 30 March 2022, Xinhe Investment
and XTRQ further entered into the capital increase agreement (the
"Capital Increase Agreement”) to increase the registered capital of
Dongcheng Xintai. Pursuant to the Capital Increase Agreement, Xinhe
Investment and XTRQ agreed to increase the registered capital of
Dongcheng Xintai from RMB50 million to RMB300 million, with each of
Xinhe Investment and XTRQ contributing additional RMB122.5 million
and RMB127.5 million by cash, respectively. Upon completion of such
capital increase, Dongcheng Xintai was held as to 49% by Xinhe
Investment and 51% by XTRQ. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company on 18 January 2022 and 30 March 2022.

XTRQ indirectly holds approximately 56.95% of the total issued share
capital of the Company. Accordingly, XTRQ, the controlling
shareholder of the Company is a connected person of the Company
and the transactions contemplated under the Joint Venture Agreement
and the Capital Increase Agreement constitute connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the
Capital Increase Agreement was entered into within 12 months after
the signing of the Joint Venture Agreement, the transactions under the
Joint Venture Agreement and the Capital Increase Agreement shall be
aggregated pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

M
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On 16 December 2021, the Company entered into the
Cooperation Framework Agreement with Urumgji Xintai Jinggong
Construction Engineering Co., Ltd (5B ARE&RBLERTLIES
R A7R]) ("XTJG") (2022 Cooperation Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which, XTJG and its associates may bid for the Group's
coalbed methane (the “"CBM") development projects as
construction contractor for the provision of construction services in
accordance with the invited bidding, inquiry procurement or
competitive negotiation procedures of the Group from time to
time, following the same and general terms offered to other
independent third parties. The final price and transaction terms
entered into between the Group and XTJG and/or its associates
are subject to the invited bidding, inquiry procurement or
competitive negotiation procedures which apply to both
connected persons and independent third parties of the Group.

As XTRQ holds 100% equity interests in XTJG, and XTRQ holds
approximately 56.95% of the total issued share capital of the
Company through Sichuan Liming Energy Development Co., Ltd.
and Liming Holding Limited. Therefore, XTJG is the contact
person of XTRQ and a connected person of the Company, and
the transactions contemplated under the 2022 Cooperation
Framework Agreement constitute a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Background and purpose of entering into the 2022 Cooperation
Framework Agreement: With the increase in production output
of the Group of both the Panzhuang and Mabi concessions in the
past few years, demand for the Construction Services increased
accordingly. XTJG is a reputable contractor in the industry with
experience in handling various construction projects as an
independent contractor for CBM projects. XTJG's participation in
the bidding, inquiry procurement or competitive negotiations will
increase the competitiveness between other construction
contractors and will accordingly allow the Group to reduce its
procurement risks and ensure quality services provided by the
construction contractors.

Under the 2022 Cooperation Framework Agreement, the annual
caps of the transactions under the agreement for each of the
years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 are
RMB38,740,000, RMB40,410,000 and RMB41,350,000 respectively.
The agreement shall be valid for three years from 1 January 2022
to 31 December 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(1) (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total contract value of
the execution agreement entered into between the Group and
XTJG under the 2022 Cooperation Framework Agreement was
approximately RMB15,731,396. As of 31 December 2022, the sum
of the transaction amount of the year under the total contract
value of the execution agreement concluded above, and the
transaction amount of the year under the total contract value of
the execution agreement entered into in 2021 under the
Cooperation Framework Agreement entered into between the
Company and XTJG on 28 January 2021 accordingly was
RMB10,054,215.

ANNUAL REVIEW BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS AND THE AUDITOR

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions in accordance
with the Listing Rules, and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions:

a)  were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

b)  were entered into on normal commercial terms; and

o) the terms of the agreements are fair and reasonable and are in
the interests of the shareholders of the listed issuer as a whole.

CONFIRMATION FROM THE AUDITOR OF THE COMPANY
The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unmodified letter to the
Board containing its conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this Report of the
Directors in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange as required under Main Board Listing Rule 14A.57.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 29 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report, of which
connected transactions under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules is only
set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” above. During the year under review, the
directors of the Company confirmed that we have complied with the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained the sufficiency of public float as required
under the Listing Rules at all times for the year ended 31 December
2022 and as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2022 none of the Directors or their respective
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or likely to compete with the business of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 the Company was not engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 the Company obtained all the
material licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the development
stage of Panzhuang concession; and for the Southern area of Mabi
concession (131 sq km), except for the mining license which is still
under approval, all material licenses have been obtained. The “3in 1"
proposal of the proven reserves in the Northern area of Mabi
concession was approved in 2021, whereas the material licenses, such
as the approval of the environmental assessment report were handled
in 2021, other related works have been progressing well.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this

report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with applicable laws and regulations in all material respects.
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HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The management believes that talent is the basis for corporate
development. Based on the results of the “Leadership Censoring and
Development Program for Middle and Senior Managers”, the Group
has been able to conduct leadership improvement planning with
continuous precise teaching. Through the echelon building of talents
and the development of employee training system, the Group provides
a platform and assistance for the development of employees’ personal
potential and career path. In addition, the Group provides its
employees with competitive remuneration packages and various
benefits in line with industry practice, aiming to create a good working
environment and cultivate positive corporate culture atmosphere. The
Group regularly reviews human resources policies to ensure that the
policies align with market practice and comply with regulatory
requirements. As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 531
employees (including five disabled persons), with two of them based in
Hong Kong. The total employee benefit expenses (excluding
termination compensation) for 2022 was approximately RMB107
million. Details are set out in note 22 to the section headed “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2022

Reference is made to the announcement jointly issued by the Company
and Liming Holdings Limited (the "Offeror”) dated 17 February 2023
(the “Scheme Announcement”) in relation to, among other things, the
proposed privatisation of the Company by the Offeror by way of a
scheme of arrangement (the “Scheme”) under section 86 of the
Companies Act and the proposed withdrawal of listing of the
Company. Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms used in this
paragraph shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Scheme Announcement. If the Scheme becomes unconditional, the
Scheme Shareholders will receive from the Offeror the Scheme
Consideration of HK$1.85 in cash for each Scheme Share, as
consideration for the cancellation and extinguishment of the Scheme
Shares held as at the Effective Date. Upon the Scheme becoming
effective, all Scheme Shares will be cancelled and extinguished (with
the equivalent number of new Shares being issued as fully paid to the
Offeror) and the share certificates for the Scheme Shares will thereafter
cease to have effect as documents or evidence of title. The Company
will apply to the Stock Exchange for the withdrawal of the listing of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange immediately following the Effective
Date pursuant to Rule 6.15 of the Listing Rules.

Saved as disclosed in the section headed "Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report, there were no subsequent events
between the end of the reporting period and the date of this annual
report that would have a material impact on the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Information on the environmental, social and governance aspects of
the Company will be prepared based on the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules. The environmental, social and governance report of the
Group will be published no later than 4 months after the financial year
ended 31 December 2022. The Group has established an ESG working
group under the Board. The working group consists of eight members,
of which the leader (or person in charge) is served by an independent
non-executive director. The working group reports to the Board and is
accountable to the Board, it is mainly responsible for formulating ESG
strategies for the Company and monitoring the enforcement; reviewing
the progress of ESG objectives; supervising the operating system to
ensure its consistently effectiveness and reviewing and auditing the
ESG report, etc.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group's risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters with the
management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Policy”) aims to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

The Board adopts the policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well as
its shareholder value. The Company intends to distribute no less than
25% of its annual net profits as dividends to its shareholders, subject to
the conditions and factors as set out below.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company, subject to the articles of association of
the Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors
set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

financial results;

o cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

J future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of Shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

J any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES (Continued)

Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions
and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board for a financial year or period:

. interim dividend;

final dividend;
. special dividend; and

J any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

REVIEW OF THE POLICY
The Board will review the Policy as appropriate from time to time.

AUDITORS

There have been no changes of auditors in the past three years.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for their
outstanding contribution towards the Group's development. The
Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their dedication
and diligence, and they are the key factors for the Group to continue
its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for
the continued support from its Shareholders, customers, and business
partners. The Group will continue to deliver sustainable business
development, so as to meet its business objectives for 2023 and realize
higher values for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
14 March 2023
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Review Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance our corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
as its own code of corporate governance. The Company has complied
with all applicable provisions under the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Company will continue to review and
monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with
the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company'’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
and a working group under the Board, namely the Audit Committee
(the "Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), the Nomination Committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the strategic development committee
(the "Strategic Development Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”) and the ESG Working Group. The Board has delegated
to the Board Committees and ESG Working Group responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference.

The Board's composition is in compliance with the requirements under
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-
executive directors must represent at least one-third of the Board. The
Board believes that the balance between executive Directors and the
non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including one executive director and chairman of the Board, two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan

Executive Directors
Mr. Yan Danhua (President)
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Executive Vice President)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Huang Min

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

The biographies of the current Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Saved as disclosed in this annual report (if any), to the knowledge of
the Directors, the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material relationship with each other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and there are
no evidence that have an adverse impact on their independence.
Therefore, the Company considers each of them to be independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Strategic Development Committee and
the ESG Working Group.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Induction and Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to perform
their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company and the lawyers engaged by the
Company have from time to time updated and provided written
training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
Director.

BEEE ()
EEWRBANSESLERE

BEHRENEFTSRIEHAAR L BERE &
Bl UEREFTDOBEBEARRNEERE
% AR B FERBARBA  ZEERTH
Bff - ARAHLEIRFRERREFEN TR
AR EMRERERRERIBER B EN
EMEHER - EFESRRHEBRARFE
BRI RARAISNERERER - UEE
FETRMEBREFETRE

ARBRSBERLEDNNERAFZEEUR
R ZEAB LR - AR RAWERA
AEREME TR EMWIREABESRS -
B BB ERIFIER -

DEEREBRERLAR/ 255K 77




Corporate Governance Report

TEEREE
THE BOARD (Continued) EEE 0
Induction and Continuous Professional Development for EENMBANSESERE (8

Directors (Continued)

During the Review Period, all Directors have participated in continuous ~ fEEIEEEAA - 22T R @B N, HEE
professional development by attending training courses and/or HEAEEER  FTAREEA® i
referring materials on the topics related to the Group's business, BE BN EE AMES HIEIIERIEM K
corporate governance and regulations on the roles, functions and  #k} - AR EIFEHE R ¢

duties of a Director of a listed company:

Attending
expert briefings/
seminars/
conferences/
on-line courses
relevant to
Reading the business of
regulatory the Group or
Name of Director update directors’ duties
ZmEEAEE
XBREERHE
ZEREHE
- Ve
EEnA HESHEEER S ERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) REEEE(FE) v v
Mr. Yan Danhua BSR4 v 4
Mr. Zhang Jianbing SR T A 4 v
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Huang Min s v v
Independent non-executive Directors BUKHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HER T4 v v
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng ZlEEEE+ v v
Dr. Yang Ruizhao Bin gt v 4
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement or a letter of appointment with the Company. There are
currently seven members in the Board, the term of service for each of
them is three years from the date of appointment or re-appointment.
Such term is subject to re-election by the Company at an annual
general meeting upon retirement. The Articles provide that Directors
are eligible to appoint any person to fill a casual vacancy in the Board
or as an additional Director to the existing Board from time to time.
Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment, and for any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company, and in both
cases, they shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting. In
accordance with the Articles, at every annual general meeting, one
third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Yan Danhua, Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and
Dr. Yang Ruizhao shall retire by rotation and being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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General Meetings

During the Review Period, a general meeting, being the 2021 AGM,
was held and the attendance of the individual Directors at the meeting

BEEE ()
BEAGEE

HEEREEA - BT XREARSEZR 2021
FERRAFRE  SEELFELISENE

is set out in the table below: HETER:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EERE BER LR AHERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) AEERE(FE) 1”7
Mr. Yan Danhua BRI E 1/1
Mr. Zhang Jianbing B e 1”1
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Huang Min =L 1/
Independent non-executive Directors BAHHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERTE 11
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng ZlEElEE + 11
Dr. Yang Ruizhao HinEE T 1”1
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or committee members three days before
the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the
papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When directors
or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman of the Board prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.
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During the Review Period, five board meetings were held and the 7ZERIEERN  EFSRITTAAEER S5
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in ~ HEELSHMBRE K :
the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EERE BER LR AHERE
Executive Directors BiITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) AEERE(FE) 4/4
Mr. Yan Danhua BFHEE SR 5/5
Mr. Zhang Jianbing B e 5/5
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Huang Min mEE 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors BAHHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERTE 5/5
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng ZlEElEE + 5/5
Dr. Yang Ruizhao HinEE T 5/5

Our Company held a meeting attended by the chairman of the Board ANAGDEFTEE EMHRAME+OEC27
and independent non-executive Directors during the Review Period in &2 #iE - BN AR T EF S FfEEE L
compliance with requirements under Rule C.2.7 of Appendix 14 to the  JEMITEEEH - MR RIS EREHANE
Listing Rules to discuss and consider duties and roles of the Board and FERIEHEKEREACREITIENR °

its relevant members as well as their performance during the Reporting
Period.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the president of the Company are
currently two separate positions held by Mr. Ming Zaiyuan as the
chairman of the Board and Mr. Yan Danhua as the president, with clear
distinction in responsibilities. The chairman of the Board is responsible
for providing strategic advice and guidance on the business
development of the Group, while the president is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Group.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the “"Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “"Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings
in the Company’s securities. No incident of non-compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was noted
by the Company during the Review Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision-making authorities on all major
matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.
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Delegation by the Board (Continued)
The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are

delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and

responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to

be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions

entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance

duties include:

(a)

84

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the

Company and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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THE BOARD (Continued) EEE 0
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAETM

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for  ARARAHIETAEEES KSR EIE A BFHH
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior HHKEREY T —ELRMEGEHENER
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the & B EAREEEH Z 2022412 A 31 A FHENF
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 33 |EEH N ANER [ S HFHERERN T — &0 ==
to the section headed “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” 33 °

of this annual report.

The remuneration of the senior management who were senior R2022F 12 A3 BEARNEBRSREEER
management of the Group as at 31 December 2022 is within the SREREAENFHEE DT

following bands:

Number of Individuals

A
Emolument bands e =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T & 2,000,000 7% 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 78 7L = 3,000,000 74 7T 6
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 78 7T = 4,000,000 7 7T 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 %8 7T & 7,000,000 % 7T 1
Directors’ Liability Insurance ESEER
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of ZAARIEHESTHLEEHERFABE TS
legal action against its Directors. BRI R ©
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Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises
three members, namely Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander and Dr. Liu
Xiaofeng, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Huang
Min, the non-executive Director. The chairman is Mr. Tai Kwok Leung
Alexander, who confirmed that he possesses appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company's staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

3. to review the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
Company'’s financial reporting system, internal control system
and risk management system and associated procedures,
including the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, reports to the Board on any material

issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EEZEE®W)

Audit Committee (Continued) EREES (H)

During the Review Period, five meetings of the Audit Committee were RN BEREZE S8BT T AREE @ &
held to discuss and consider the following matters: WIS T AT EIE

. reviewed annual results, auditor’s report internal audit report, e FRIAD A R BB A Rl#EE 2021 12

auditors’ remuneration, engagement conditions, independence
and terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the period ended 31 December 2021,

J reviewed the unaudited financial information of the Company e

and its subsidiaries for the three months ended 31 March 2022;

o reviewed interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for e

the period ended 30 June 2022, execution of their risk
management and internal control system for the first half of 2022
and internal audit and risk management plan for the second half

of 2022 etc.;

J reviewed the unaudited financial information of the Company e
and its subsidiaries for the nine months ended 30 September
2022; and

J reviewed the 2022 audit plan, 2022 internal review work plan e

adjustment and the remedy for deficiencies in internal control of
the Company and its subsidiaries in 2021.

A3 AR FEEE R RS
NEREZ R E  ZBEME - BAK
B RERZESRERES

EW AN NEMNBRGEHZE 202243
B31BIE=ZEANKREAMEEM

EEARAINENBRREE2022%6
A 30 BEfM AR BRZEAE + 2022 F £
FRBEEMANIDEIEZGRITER
2022 F NEFARRAREETEE

EHARAREMEBERREE2022F9
A30BIENE A KREFHBER - A
&

BERARAREWMEBRF 2022 FEER
FHEl - 2022 F NE TVERT 81 F% 1 2021
FREREBHEBER -

The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set out in B EBIZEESKENHEDLHER &

the table below:

Attended/
Members of the Audit Committee Eligible to attend
EREEERE BEHEE W ERE
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (Chairman) BERSEE(EE) 5/5
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng 2lEEEE+ 5/5
Mr. Huang Min mEUEE 5/5

Pursuant to the code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code, the Audit RIEMXEATREREDIIKIHRT B
Committee should meet with the Company’s auditors at least twice a ZEESEEHFEVEAQNRIZEMESEMAX -
year. During the Review Period, the Company had met the auditors  7EEIEEEAR » N AR 2 P EET S mE/M X -

twice.
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Remuneration Committee
As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee

BEEZEEH)

FMESS
RAFHREH  FHEESHE=2KE
BIUFMTESFRRERS L  BERELE N
WITESFRESEL - HPRIBREB L RH
ZBEXIF -

comprises three members, namely Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Zhang Jianbing, the executive Director. Dr. Liu Xiaofeng is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the HMEZEEFTEREHOT :
following:

RARRZREENSREEABNG

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy 1.

and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

PSR ~ /48 ARBIRT M 5 B BR
MELIERMEZEHAZNER  AEF
SRR

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration Z2EZEEEMEERERERN
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives HEEEENEHNER
determined by the Board;

3. to adopt the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) by making recommendations FATANEXEA2Q0)IEE N2 MES
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual eRFEINNTESNSRETEAED
executive Directors and senior management. These include FNEGE RREEYEN - BRKe B
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, B (BT E LR IEBEETm
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of FEMREE(E) ;
their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of RIERTEEN TN EESREES
non-executive Directors; e

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time EEREATINOER - BANEAOE
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions of FMRBE - ARREEBLER GRS
the Group;

6.  to review and approve compensation payable to executive EZTHERRTESNESREEAR
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of MEFERFR I B EEmAL
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with B8 - DAERIE LA (EEA HER—B:
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; EARBEBEAYNBER B BEDEAF

518 TERZ

7.  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to EZUHERTAREMERERSEEE
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that FESATA MR ELTHEE ERE L
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise THE A XER— BAREHES E
reasonable and appropriate; and R EEAREHESERET UK

8. to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in BREMESHIHEMERA(EER L

88

the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Remuneration Committee (Continued)
The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed and discussed the performance evaluation and an
analysis of bonus distribution and staff cost for the year 2021,

o reviewed remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and
senior management;

o reviewed and discussed the suspension of granting of share
option incentive;

o reviewed and discussed the 2022 performance bonus scheme;
and
° reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee.

The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is
set out in the table below:

BEEZEEH)

FMESS (8)
HEZ B e E MBS E A X R AR A
AR A -

EOEMA - FHREERTT —Rea U
A IR A N FIA -

o ERNFW2021 FERAREME RN
TR ATRADT

s EREREZENSMEEABNFBHK
RERE

o ERMIWEER TR

BIZ LR 2022 FEERESFE - &

s ERFHNZESETEBERE -

EFMEEeXENHFERERL TR

Attended/
Members of the Remuneration Committee Eligible to attend
FHMESERE BER MR ATHERE
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (Chairman) B gig+ (E ) 1/1
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HER L 1/
Mr. Zhang Jianbing B el 1/1

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The remuneration of Directors comprises an annual directors’ fee and
may also be entitled to options and/or awards under the rules of the
share option scheme or restricted share unit scheme adopted by the
Company from time to time. Such remuneration is determined and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee with reference to the
respective Directors’ qualifications, industry experience, position and
performance, and the prevailing market conditions.

EEHFMBE

EEFNeERESFREAS RMRBARRITE
RN BB AT ) R IR IR0 B AL AT 815 R
FEMBREN, SRR o HRHFMEFHE
BE@2ELEBRZNER  1TELR  BUKEK
BUARIRITO TR IBARR ETE R i2e -
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Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members, being Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Ming Zaiyuan, the executive Director and chairman of the Board. Mr.
Ming Zaiyuan is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer; and

5. toreview the Board diversity policy and the Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to assume the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Nomination Committee (Continued)
During the Review Period, a meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held to discuss and consider the following matters:

J reviewed the structure, size, composition and the Board diversity
policy and its implementation;

° reviewed and considered retirement and re-election of Directors;

o reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

o reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The attendance record of the Nomination Committee members is set
out in the table below:

BEEZEEH)

REZES(H®)
EOBEBA - REZEBEBTT —R&F MU
AR EEA TR

s EREFEMRE - AB EHAMZT
LR R ESITIEN

s ERUEEEZFNRENEE

o ERBUIFMITERNBEIUME AR

s ERRLZEENZHBESE -

RAZEENEMBRBEEY XL ARF
ABuh A &R -

BEREZBEENEMHFELEIL TR

Attended/
Members of the Nomination Committee Eligible to attend
REZEEERE BERHE W ERH
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) PAERSE(FE) 1”7
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng g+ 11
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERTE 11
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Strategic Development Committee
As at the date of this annual report, the Strategic Development

Committee consists of three members, being Dr. Yang Ruizhao and

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Yan Danhua, the executive Director. Dr. Yang
Ruizhao is the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee.

The principal duties of the Strategic Development Committee include

the following:

92

to review and evaluate the investment strategies, annual
investment plan(s) proposed by senior management and the
chairman of the Board and the relevant risk management policy
of the Company and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and evaluate the investment opportunities of the
Company and issue opinion for long-term development plan
(including mergers and acquisition, joint venture and equity
investments) proposed by senior management and the chairman
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and evaluate significant investment projects pursued
under the Company’s investment strategy and annual investment
plan, review and approve the issue of non-binding indicative
offers or letter of intent, and make recommendations to the
Board on final proposals of significant investment projects;

to review and assess, in addition to new opportunities, the
ongoing investment strategy, technical merits and risks
associated with existing development and exploration projects,
including the annual reserve and resource assessments and make
recommendations to the Board;

to supervise the implementation of the above-mentioned matters
duly approved by the Board and assess periodically the
Company’s capacity to conduct technical work and the
Company'’s approach in managing technical risk associated with
above matters;

to advise management from time to time on the engagement of
appropriate external financial and technical advisors in
connection with material acquisitions or divestitures, including a

review of the terms of their proposed compensation; and

other matters as delegated by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Strategic Development Committee (Continued)

The written terms of reference of the Strategic Development
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

During the Review Period, two meetings of Strategic Development
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

J reviewed the reports relating to the technical summary and
development update of existing concessions of the Company;

o reviewed the reports relating to strategic consideration and
development of the Company;

o reviewed the strategic pilot test for medium- and deep-level
CBM; and

J reviewed the terms of reference of the Strategic Development
Committee.
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The attendance record of the Strategic Development Committee REEREESKEMNHFBIERE TR
members is set out in the table below:
Attended/
Members of the Strategic Development Committee Eligible to attend
BRERZEERE BRI ERE
Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Chairman) BB EL(FE) 2/2
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HERLE 2/2
Mr. Yan Danhua B E 2/2

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

The composition of the Board (includes gender, age, cultural and
educational background, profession, experience, skills and knowledge),
which is characterized by significant diversity, is disclosed in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management”.

Workforce diversity

As of December 31, 2022, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) is 83%:17%. The Group will continue to maintain
the gender diversity in workforce. For further details of gender ratio
and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity together with the
relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the Sustainable
Development Report.

The Board will identify suitable female candidate to serve on the Board
in due course and will appoint at least one female Director no later
than September 30, 2024.

Board Independence

The Company recognizes that Board independence is key to good
corporate governance. The Company has in place effective
mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that
independent views. The current composition of the Board, comprising
one third of the of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee are all chaired by
independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors is subject to a regular review to
maintain competitiveness and commensurate with their responsibilities
and workload. The independence of each independent non-executive
Director is assessed upon his/her appointment and annually.
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Board Independence (Continued)

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if
any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board at the
Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External
independent professional advice is available to all Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary.
The independent non-executive Directors have consistently
demonstrated strong commitment and the ability to devote sufficient
time to discharge their responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and
informal means whereby independent non-executive Directors can
express their views in an open manner, and in a confidential manner,
should circumstances requires.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company does not tolerate any form of bribery, whether direct or
indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, employees, agents or
consultants or any persons or companies acting for it or on its behalf.
The Company adopts the anti-corruption policy in assisting the
employees in recognising circumstances which may lead to or give the
appearance of being involved in corruption or unethical business
conduct, so as to avoid such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to
promptly seek guidance if necessary.

The anti-corruption policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, any
convicted cases will be reported to the Board/the Audit Committee.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company expects and encourages employees of the Group and
those who deal with the Group (e.g. suppliers, customers, creditors
and debtors) to report to the Company, in confidence, any suspected
impropriety, misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group. The
Company adopts the whistleblowing policy to provide reporting
channels and guidance on reporting possible improprieties and
reassurance to whistleblowers of the protection that the Group will
extend to them in the formal system.

The whistleblowing policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, any
suspected cases will be reported to the Audit Committee.
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Company'’s Culture

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term
business, economic success and sustainable growth of the Group. A
strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable
performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate citizen. The
Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive
culture that is built on its Vision and Mission.

During 2022, the Company continued to strengthen its cultural
framework by focusing on the following:

o Vision: to be the world's leading, most enduring clean energy
company for today and tomorrow.

J Mission: to create best value for society, optimized platform for
employees and highest return for shareholders.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and
requires all employees to reinforce. All of our new employees are
required to attend orientation and training programs so that they may
better understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn
relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In
addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external experts to
provide training to our management personnel to improve their
relevant knowledge and management skills.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect
of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

Pursuant to the code provision C.5.9 of the CG Code, the management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The Board is also
aware of the fact that such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management form the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
the risk management function, comprised of Legal, HSE departments
etc., aiming to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective
risk management practices by operational management throughout
the Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company’s risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact and
the maturity of our control and management measures, taken into
account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these risks.
The risk assessment results are reported to senior management and
the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been appropriately
managed and decide on our priorities in risk management, based on
the Company'’s risk appetite, and in particular how much risks the
Company is willing to take for the achievement of its strategy and
business objectives, the availability of resources for risk mitigation, and
the effectiveness of current internal control system.

The Company’s internal control system is based on Internal Control —
Integrated Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission, and has five components, namely
Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Information
and Communication, and Monitoring Activities. The system intends to
facilitate the design and functioning of good control practices and
reduce the likelihood and impact of risks to an acceptably low level, in
order for us to achieve our objectives in operations, reporting, and
compliance.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(Continued)

Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statuses are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

During the Review Period, the Company continuously upgraded its
internal control system starting from corporate governance,
organisation structure and business process through risk identification
and assessment, thereby reducing operational risk while further
enhancing operational efficiency of the Company at the same time.

Internal Audit Function

In order to enhance the Company’s adaptability to the business
environment, the Company established the Risk Control and
Compliance Department, which is responsible for providing effective
legal professional support for various legal matters of the Company,
handling corporate information disclosure and legal compliance
management, as well as providing value-added internal audit and
consulting services for independent review, in January 2021 by merging
the functions of the former Legal Affairs Department, the Board of
Directors’ Office and the Audit and Supervision Department. The
internal audit function reports to the Company Secretary in respect of
administration and directly to the Board and the Audit Committee in
respect of operation. The internal audit function still has the
independence required to conduct audit business.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)

Internal Audit Function (Continued)

The Company's internal audit function plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company'’s internal governance processes, i.e., to
provide independent assurance that the Company’s risk management,
governance and internal control processes are operating effectively.
The major tasks of this function include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company’s governance, risk management and
internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of the
Company and its subsidiaries on a regular basis with recommended
action plans to audit findings. This function also provides consulting
services in risk management and internal control related issues within
the Company.

During the Review Period, the Company’s internal audit function
conducted annual independent full scope risk assessment update and
internal audit for selected areas, and reported to the management and
the Board.

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Our Systems
The Company prepares and submits reports to the Board in relation to
risk and control at least annually, detailing how risks have been
managed and internal controls been designed and implemented in
accordance with the established risk and control frameworks, to keep
our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and achieve our business
objectives. The Board reviews the reasonableness of these reports and
representations from management and makes sufficient enquiries
whenever they feel necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

During the Review Period, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems with the application of the above review process, and
considered our risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate in both design and operations.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), for audit and related services totaled RMB3,150,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to PwC is set out
below:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Su Xiaohang is the company secretary of the Company, mainly
responsible for reporting different affairs to the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer, and all Directors may obtain advises and
service from Ms. Su. Please refer to the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” for details of Ms. Su.

During the Review Period, Ms. Su undertook at least 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and
nonselective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to
answer Shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company
will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
Shareholders and maintains a website at http://www.aagenergy.com/,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings ("EGM") by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. An EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting on a one vote per share basis at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition and to include the relevant
resolution in such meeting. The Directors shall within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene such
meeting. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders of
the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles and the laws of the Cayman Islands (2021
version). Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meeting may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are published on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board and Contact Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send their
enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit 2506, 25/F

Cosco Tower

183 Queen'’s Road Central, Sheung Wan
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: xiaohang.su@aagenergy.com

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company was adopted by special resolutions
passed on May 20, 2022, which allow the Company to:

1. hold hybrid general meetings and general meetings by electronic

means;

2. ensure the existing Memorandum and Articles of Association to
align with any amendments of the applicable laws of the Cayman
Islands and the Listing Rules; and

3. adopt certain amendments on internal management measures.
The second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of

Association of the Company is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of AAG Energy Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 112 to 197, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022;

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,;

and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to:
o Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets and gas

properties, gas gathering stations and relating facilities and
constructions in progress.

-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Key Audit Matter
HREITER

-
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B AR E
BEXERERERAITKRR (E)
(REIESHBFME L BRAE])

BEEFETEE @)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AN ETNATEERRETNER

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets ("E&E
Assets”) and gas properties, gas gathering stations
and relating facilities and constructions in progress
(collectively the "Relevant Gas Assets”)
BRRFAGEENAAREE - SRUREBREMETE
IR (EBIXRRRMEEEE ] BB ETE

Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HAGUBERERMES -

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of E&E
Assets and Relevant Gas Assets of the Group amounted
to 763.9 million and 4,361.3 million (31 December 2021:
661.6 million and 3,757.5 million), respectively.
R2022F12 431 B - ARENHHELFEEEMKAR
EHEEEREEBESRT3IBEAREMLINIEE
ARME(20215F 128318 : 661.6 BB ARKEMI 75758
BARK) -

Management assessed E&E Assets and Relevant Gas

Assets for impairment whenever there are events or

changes in circumstance which indicate that the carrying
amounts of these assets may exceed their recoverable
amounts.
ERAEFHRRBECBRYR LT HEEMRARIAEHE
BEMNEREEEEBEBE NS RE  BEESHE
REHEEEMRARBEEEETRERN S -

106

In addressing this matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

HREBRESFET  RFONTTUATERF:

. Understood and assessed the design,
implementation effectiveness of key process and
controls relating to the identification of impairment
indicator, determination of cash generating units and
the assessment of the recoverable amount.

o TERUWIMHEBEBELTRENR WEREELET
NEPE AT el 78 A R RO B B A2 M AR RA 45 I BV AR &
KATEV A L -

° Evaluated management’s assessment of whether
events or circumstances existed at 31 December
2022, which would indicate that E&E Assets or
Relevant Gas Assets are impaired.

e FHMEEEREHN2022F12A31AREBFEA BT
R MAEEEMRAREEEERENFEIIRR
ST o

o Where an impairment indicator was identified by
management, procedures were performed on their
impairment assessment, as below:

e EFERERLFEEENETRE - QB EEREN
TERERERRT

—  Compared the forecast gas prices used in the
determination of the recoverable amount of
respective cash generating unit against
historical actual gas prices;

— BEREANGEHEENRSELETN KD
SRENRANTEANRAREREELERX
AREREITIE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BEREGER

HRETSHEH®
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BAMES AR ERRENEE

When indicators of impairment of E&E Assets or Relevant
Gas Assets were identified, management assessed the
recoverable amounts of the cash generating units based
on their value in use as estimated using discounted cash
flow models. In performing such assessment,
management adopted key assumptions, including:

g B IR AT Al & B R R O SROAE B & 7 B RUE IR SR A 5 Al
i BEEEUEARTRASREAGESENAERER
REMHINEEA BRI AR E S RBREITHE - EEEX
BEETER - EREERATUTHERREBR

—  Forecast gas prices;

— TERINRARER

—  Forecast production volumes;

— TEAIMEES:

—  Forecast operating costs and capital expenditures;
and

— FERMKEMTHMERESTL R

—  Discount rates.

—  FEE-

Because of the significant balance of E&E Assets and
Relevant Gas Assets as at 31 December 2022, together
with the use of significant management judgements over
various assumptions in estimating the recoverable
amount, we have identified this matter as a key audit
matter.

ERBR M EEEMRAREREER 20224 12 A 31
HRREEEMAYEXN UREHZEEEENIKRE S
BETHER SN RERERTEEAEENERREA
b P EER R AR ETEE -

—  Assessed the forecast production volume by
comparing it against (i) the approved
production plan for the year ending 31
December 2023; (ii) forecast production volume
for the remaining concession period prepared
by the management, which is consistent to the
information set out in the reserve report; and
(iii) historical actual production volume. We also
performed procedures to evaluate the
competence, capability and objectivity of
external reserve experts engaged by
management for preparing the reserve report;

—  STRAIAE S () B HLER B E 2023 12 A 31
BIEEENEETS : ()EEBEENFIGRE
FIERAMTERIES - ZEE B RN EE R
ERHNER - RNELERESETY
B URHRIEAMES - I RPIEREB MR
FHERERANGEN#ERENINEERD
BE - B REBIEETIE

—  Assessed the forecast operating costs against (i)
the approved budget; and (ii) the historical
actual costs;

— BB E M T HEG) S ENTESE ¢ K (i)
RS BB S BT

—  Compared the forecast capital expenditures
against (i) the approved budget; and (ii) the
historical actual costs;

—  BIEAMEARMES S EGEHENTEE - K (i)
B BB R EITHOE

— Compared the discount rate with external
market data and published information of
comparable companies;

— BIFREEINBHISERMA LR RNRFEE
BETHER

— Tested mathematical accuracy of the
discounted cash flow projections.

— RERRRSRERAFTENEREE -

Based on our work, no significant exception has been
noticed.

ERNFEATHE  REREREET -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hon Chong Heng.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 14 March 2023
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
B =E AR®T T AREEF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment TE)E « TR &E 6 5,202,581 4,478,379
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 7 51,838 59,435
Intangible assets By AE 8 20,809 24,198
Restricted bank deposits SIRAIRITIER 14 67,797 60,230
Investments in associates HEENRIIRE 9 372,270 242,985
Other financial assets at amortised cost AR AT ENE M S MEE 10 31,378 55,000
Other non-current assets HitndEme&EE 34,243 309
5,780,916 4,920,536
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16,871 11,049
Other current assets Hime&eE 77,146 101,146
Trade and other receivables JE S B R K EL b B U Rk 11 1,246,486 1,226,536
Financial assets at fair value through URnEBEFEEEEY
profit or loss STAEGHEREE 12 69,646 -
Term deposits with initial terms of A BABR iR 8 = A A &Y
over three months FHAITFR 14 = 200,000
Cash and cash equivalents HWEREESEEY 14 2,118,660 1,626,675
3,528,809 3,165,406
Total assets HWEE 9,309,725 8,085,942
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of BERAEAATMEENER
the Company
Share capital B& R 15 2,080 2,080
Share premium f& A% (8 3,323,159 3,522,168
Other reserves Hih s 16 217,044 276,058
Retained earnings BFEWE 4,041,353 2,625,244
Total equity RS 7,583,636 6,425,550
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E ARET T AREFIT
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Asset retirement obligations BEREERB 17 141,335 150,695
Non-current lease liabilities ERBHEHEAR 7 41,297 41,914
Deferred income tax liabilities FEIEFTSHaE 18 195,678 478,061
378,310 670,670
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JREA<F B R e LAt A5 3R 19 1,149,372 803,599
Current income tax liabilities EHIFMSEH AR 188,967 172,390
Current lease liabilities mEHEEAaE 7 9,440 13,733
1,347,779 989,722
Total liabilities e F 1,726,089 1,660,392
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 9,309,725 8,085,942

The notes on pages 117 to 197 are an integral part of these F17EZ197 BT RAEHUBHREKL
consolidated financial statements. BEEHD -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 197 were #112BZE197 AN BWMERBAEEFT 2712023
approved by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2023 and were signed 3 A 14 B#E - WHERKEE -

on its behalf.

Director Director
EF EF
Yan Danhua Zhang Jianbing
BAAE RES
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

B mERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5E ARET T AREEFIT
Revenue WA 20 2,566,744 1,739,226
Other income H At WA 21 347,683 251,875
Other (losses)/gains, net Hith ($BK),/FE — F88 (21,729) 18,022
Operating expenses BERX
Depreciation and amortisation e L EY (554,238) (396,523)
Employee benefit expenses EEEAMAY 22 (106,833) (102,901)
Exploration expenses RS (94,918) (50,280)
Materials, services and logistics MR RIS R im (379,862) (283,644)
Net impairment losses on TRIEEREFREX
financial assets (39,264) 9,757)
Others Hith (20,396) (17,819)
Total operating expenses e (1,195,511) (860,924)
Profit from operations K RE 1,697,187 1,148,199
Finance income B ES 23 36,023 24,522
Finance costs PisBH 23 (9,738) (5,750)
Exchange gains/(losses) PE H Uhzs (18 5%) 23 95,100 (8,597)
Finance income, net B E — FE 121,385 10,175
Share of net loss of associates FE(E R AE R ABRHB S A F)
accounted for using LA EE
the equity method (17,715) (14,052)
Profit before income tax K Er 58 A R B8 24 1,800,857 1,144,322
Income tax expense IRy k-4 25 (384,748) (328,643)
Profit attributable to owners of BEREQGFMEEN
the Company for the year FERNHE 1,416,109 815,679
Other comprehensive income: Hittima s .
Items that may be reclassified Hig gt E S Z i) EH
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences HNEE I & =R (58,811) (1,663)
Total comprehensive income BEBRAQARMEEN
attributable to owners of FEFANZEEE
the Company for the year 1,357,298 814,016
Earnings per share (RMB) SRKR(ARERT)
— Basic — ®HRK 26 0.417 0.240
— Diluted — e 26 0.417 0.240
The notes on pages 117 to 197 are an integral part of these SE1M7EZE 197 BMHERASHTIFEHRED
consolidated financial statements. FRBE I o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOREEEE XK

Attributable to owners of the Company

BEREDANAEE
Share Share Other Retained Total
capital premium reserves earnings equity

BA BRARE  HttRE Bk Y $:3
Note ~ RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'O0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000

ME ARBTE ARRTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR

As at 1 January 2021 M2021F1 818 2,079 3,869,806 279,392 1,809,565 5,960,842

Comprehensive income FehE

Profit for the year EFEFNE - - - 815,679 815,679

Currency translation differences  SMEIFTEZEE - - (1,663) - (1,663)
- - (1,663) 815,679 814,016

Transactions with owners HTEENRS

Exercise of options B RS NRAE 15 1 3,157 (1,671) - 1,487

Dividends B e 27 - (350,795) - - (350,795)
1 (347,638) (1,671) - (349,308)

As at 31 December 2021 M2021512831H 2,080 3,522,168 276,058 2,625,244 6,425,550

As at 1 January 2022 202251 A1H 2,080 3,522,168 276,058 2,625,244 6,425,550

Comprehensive income FEWE

Profit for the year FEFIE - - - 1,416,109 1,416,109

Currency translation differences 4N E =58 =

(58,811) - (58,811)
(58,811) 1,416,109 1,357,298

Transactions with owners HFTEENRS

Exercise of options TR BB R AE 15 - 422 (203) = 219

Dividends [ 73 Be 27 - (199,431) - - (199,431)
- (199,009) (203) - (199,212)

As at 31 December 2022 M2022F12A31H 2,080 3,323,159 217,044 4,041,353 7,583,636

The notes on pages 117 to 197 are an integral part of these F117EE197 AT R2AA HHBERERD

consolidated financial statements. gy -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
i ARBT T ARBF T
Cash flows from operating activities KETHEESRE
Cash generated from operations REPTSIR S 28 2,479,187 1,577,532
Interest paid ERAFE (3,785) (3,707)
Income tax paid BAIEIERR (650,554) (210,376)
Net cash generated from KRBTSR S F5
operating activities 1,824,848 1,363,449
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEESRE
Purchases of property, plant and BETHE  LTWMEXRE
equipment and intangible assets LA R 4 (1,130,134) (699,239
Increase in restricted bank deposits SR B8R 1T 17 ) AN (7,566) (5,182)
Decrease/(increase) in term deposits with )24 HAFR 838 =1E A &9
initial terms of over three months FHIEZORA (38 H0) 200,000 (200,000)
Payments for financial assets at fair BEUARABEITEEEEZY
value through profit or loss SFABZNEMEE (279,114) (789,345)
Payments for financial assets BE ARG EN
at amortised cost Hih e Rh&E (604) (207,957)
Loans to third party ME=FRHEER (2,300) (3/452)
Investments to associates HEta N mRE (147,000) (234,388)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HENAABEAEAEES)
at fair value through profit or loss SFABZNERMEE 212,450 790,156
Proceeds from repayment of financial WO B AR BRAC AN ST E 8D
assets at amortised cost Hih &R & EEER = 166,124
Proceeds from disposal of property, HETEE - TR E
plant and equipment PG RIE - 741
Interest received B U F & 13,022 14,996
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBFARE 55 (1,141,246) (1,167,546)
Cash flows from financing activities RETBHHRSRE
Proceeds from exercise of options ITE RTS8 207 1,481
Principal elements of lease payments BEEHEaERS (6,436) (6,194)
Dividends paid to the Company's BT T
shareholders (196,790) (351,120)
Net cash used in financing activities REEHTRIR S5 (203,019) (355,833)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRELESEYWE M (D)
cash equivalents EEE 480,583 (159,930)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#38& RIREHEY
of the year 14 1,626,675 1,790,505
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and HeNIBSZEBYIEN
cash equivalents Wz, (1828) 11,402 (3,900)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRBERESEEY
of the year 14 2,118,660 1,626,675
The notes on pages 117 to 197 are an integral part of these FE117EE 197 AT 2 AA G ERERD
consolidated financial statements. B -
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GENERAL INFORMATION

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in
exploration, development and production of coalbed methane
("CBM") in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 23 December 2014. The address of
the Company's registered office is P.O. Box 31119, Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1205, Cayman Islands.

The Group conducts its business through two Production Sharing
Contracts ("PSC") entered into with China United Coalbed
Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") and China National
Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC") (authorizing its subsidiary
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”)) for Panzhuang and
Mabi concessions respectively in Shanxi Province of the PRC.

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP") of Panzhuang concession
was approved by the National Development and Reform
Commission (“NDRC") of the PRC on 28 November 2011, which
allowed Panzhuang concession to enter into commercial
development phase. On 1 November 2016, Panzhuang
concession entered into production phase after the Joint
Management Committee (“JMC") approved and announced
based on the terms of Panzhuang PSC. The ODP of the Southern
Area of Mabi concession was approved by NDRC in September
2018. With this approval, the Southern Area of Mabi concession
is eligible for commercial development. On 1 January 2020, the
Southern Area of Mabi concession entered into production phase
after the JMC approved and announced based on the terms of
Mabi PSC. As at 31 December 2022, the Northern Area of Mabi
concession was still in exploration phase.

The Company's initial public offering ("IPO") of its shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was
completed on 23 June 2015.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

—REH
DERERERERAR(TARAR]) RHE
MEBAR (5 [ AEE]) T2HEREA
RAMBE((HEDREEER(CBMI)
MR - FENMEE - NARIN20144
12A23HERSHSEMKLAERR
BRAR] - NRABEEM M ERII S
P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus
Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands °

AEEBBEPHEEREREMTEAR
(TCUCBM)) R Bl AR AREEER
R A]([CNPC)) (RHEE T RARIFEAH
RARBMBERRE ([HAH])) D 5IH
BRI PE &S LR BAT LM M D
EmoKAER(ERDKAR]) MEE
% o

EHEMMNLERAE S R(ODP) R
2011 F 11 A28 HEFBEBRRERFNE
ZEG((ERERZ)HE  AFHEH
&R AR R ERE - R20165F 11 A
1H BHERREERSEELZE S ([
AEBRZEE ) ENEHERIKNER
BB ENTE 2% EAEER
- BN EIEE R ODP R 201849 A &
BXREXRZHE - AL EVEREE
BB T EERBMKML - K 20201 B 1
H BUEREETEERAEELZES
ERNBFUVERDKERIEROIENS
HE2% EANEERE - RN2022%12A4
318 - HEiitRDER R -

RRRBMR2015F6 AHEFTBHAER
SGHBERABERTKERLMEE
(TERAFEE]D -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A
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GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

In 2018, Liming Holding Limited (“Liming”), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, controlled through Sichuan Liming Energy
Development Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Liming”), of Xinjiang Xintai
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (“"XTRQ"), a company incorporated in the
PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603393), acquired approximately 50.5% of issued shares of the
Company.

The Directors regard Liming, Sichuan Liming and XTRQ as its
immediate parent entity, intermediate parent entity and the
ultimate parent entity of the Company respectively subsequent
to the completion of the takeover (“Change of Control”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
ordinance Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESTHERBEE®
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)
(@) New and amended standards adopted by the (a) AEEEEMAFITREHEE
Group 8|
The Group has applied the following amendments or AEER202F1H18 B
annual improvements for the first time for their annual 1R B F JE R B B R ER A
reporting period commencing 1 January 2022: LATMEET Sk G Bk -
o Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before D W BERZE: &
Intended Use — Amendments to HKAS 16 ERZERMmE — 3
(BEBETERIZE165%)
HERT
o Reference to the Conceptual Framework — D DEMONER — H(H
Amendments to HKFRS 3 ISR E A RIS 357 )
IERT
o Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards o 2018-2020%F & 7 Bt %
2018-2020 WS R W FE
e Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 o 2021 6H30H AL
June 2021 — Amendment to HKFRS 16 (March FERERENESE
2021) B — KEBUBRE
AR 1655 ) & & 7
(202143 A)
The Group did not change its accounting policies or N EE B R B4R (s
make retrospective adjustments as a result of BT SR E HGE T g st
adopting the abovementioned amended standards or BURSEITIEBMAEE -

annual improvements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEESE)
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet (b) MERFEMNIFEARFEE

adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments and ZIEF 2T R - B8] &R

interpretations have been published that are not e A B AR 2022F

mandatory for 31 December 2022 reporting periods 12 A 31 B 5 HAfE 08 6 &

and have not been early adopted by the Group. A mAEEIVER RN o

e Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- o REBEEMIIERDAE
current — Amendments to HKAS 1 WO — EEEGET

AERIE 1 FROMERT

e Disclosure of Accounting Policies — o EEHBEER — ¥KE
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice BEETERIF 157 )
Statement 2 (BEBVBRELENE

TERABASE 25 8B ET

o Definition of Accounting Estimates — D et EE — ¥

Amendments to HKAS 8 (BHEFTHEAEFESR)
HIERT

. Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities o HEBERFELENEE
arising from a Single Transaction — MEFEHEENELTERE
Amendments to HKAS 12 B — S(EBGETER

FE1258)RER]

These standards, amendments or interpretations are HEXER - (E5] sk R TE A
not expected to have a material impact on the entity B2 R E Aok R RS H
in the current or future reporting periods and on fE ¥ fﬁfﬁgb{&—]ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁii%
foreseeable future transactions. ERBE KT E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHERBE®

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries 22 WEAFE
Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over S EENGIR =N e = =gk si) v
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity MER(BEABIEEE) - 2488
where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable BE2EZEEMES N E A A&
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the E¥HiER - WA NBBHEEN
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the BEEEEE M EZ LR - B
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated AEBEHZEREGIEGHE - (B
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. REAEHEEREAER AR
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. Z2EAHFAR - TRREZEFIHELK

b7 Bz EaptARR -

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on SERNHRS  SEQRMBRSE
transactions between group companies are eliminated. EWMEBRRERERKNRSHEER
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction §H o REIREEL Y« BRI
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred RBIEETEREEREBENTE -
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been RUEBERSYHKB AR R
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the TEL T LARE IR EL AR S B P ER A Y
policies adopted by the Group. BERRIF—5 -

2.3 Production Sharing Contract 23 EmoHKER
The Group's exploration, development and production AEBRSE HREREESESE

activities are primarily conducted through PSCs which
establish joint control over the exploration, development
and production activities. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflects:

(i) The Group's assets used in joint operations;

(i) Any liabilities that the Group has incurred;

Any income from the sale or use the Group's share of

the output of the production, together with its share
of any expenses incurred in the production; and

(iv)  Any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect
of its interest in the production.

DEEREBRERLAR/ 255K
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

23 EmoRER (%)

122

The Group's PSCs comprise of three phases: the
exploration phase, development phase and production
phase. Costs incurred with respect to exploration activities
within the PSC contract areas are solely borne by the
Group. All costs incurred subsequent to the date of the
approval of ODP are treated as development costs and
provided by the Group and the PSC partners in the
proportion of their respective participating interests.
Operating costs incurred for the production operation shall
be borne by the Group and the PSC partners in proportion
to their share of the output of the CBM productions in each
concession.

Pursuant to the Panzhuang and Mabi PSCs, the annual
gross production of CBM, after payment of value-added tax
("VAT") and royalties, is allocated into Cost Recovery CBM
and Remainder CBM.

(@) Cost Recovery CBM

Cost Recovery CBM is the CBM allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for recovery of the
operating costs, as well as the exploration costs and
development costs. 70% and 80% of annual gross
production of CBM is deemed as Cost Recovery CBM
under the Panzhuang and Mabi PSC, respectively.
Cost Recovery CBM is allocated until all costs incurred
by each party have been fully recovered. Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated as follows:

() Prior to the production phase, Cost Recovery
CBM is firstly applied to recover costs incurred
during the exploration phase of the PSC and
once such costs have been fully recovered, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated to recover costs
incurred during the development phase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

Cost Recovery CBM (Continued)

(a)

(i)

After the PSC enters the production phase, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated according to the
following mechanism:

Operating cost recovery: payment in kind for
the operating costs actually incurred but not yet
recovered by each party.

Exploration and development cost recovery:
after operating costs have been fully recovered,
the Cost Recovery CBM is allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for the recovery of
exploration and development costs. Exploration
costs, 100% of which are borne by the Group,
are fully recovered before development costs
can be recovered. Upon the full recovery of
exploration costs, any remaining Cost Recovery
CBM is allocated between the Group and the
PSC partners for the recovery of development
costs according to the respective participating
interests in the CBM concessions.

For the purpose of recovery, exploration costs
do not include any interest, while development
costs include a deemed interest calculated at a
fixed compound interest rate of 9% per annum.

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

2.3 EmoRER (%)
BREEKER (8)

(a)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

124

2.3

Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

(b) Remainder CBM
Remainder CBM represents the remainder annual
gross CBM production after payment of VAT, royalties
and allocation to Cost Recovery CBM.

The Remainder CBM is further divided into allocable
remainder CBM and share CBM. The allocable
remainder CBM equals to the total remainder CBM
multiplied by a factor (X) and the share CBM equals
the Remainder CBM minus the allocable remainder
CBM. The factor (X) is determined in accordance with
a set of successive incremental tiers on the basis of
the annual gross CBM production as set out in the
PSCs. The allocable remainder CBM is allocated
between the Group and the PSC partner according to
the respective participating interest in the PSC. Share
CBM is allocated 100% to the PSC partner.

2.4 Segment reporting

2.5

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the
Company.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is US$, whereas the
functional currency of the production sharing projects
in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
within “exchange gains/(losses)”.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income

("OCI").

2. EESHHEXBE®H)
2.5 SEFE(E)

(b)

()
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, other than exploration and

2.6

evaluation assets and construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Other than gas properties, depreciation of each asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

TEE ITHRESRE

TEYE - TR AR (BEMEE
BEREETIRRIN HUELRK
KBEZFITEMNREYI TR - BEE
RABEEEFBNIEIEE MFT
BRAX -

BERAESEEIER GRRE
BN RRABERAAREE - Max
THEB BRI AR A SRt &R - )5
S ABENREEERERS —
HEFEE(WER) - E¥RED
FAREEE T AR ILHER - A E
e Mg EBEES 2 V5 HIR]
FAAGHHRA AR ©

(RTRAREE  SEEMINER

HRA BT EEERGEFHERSF

MR ABAREFTE - T8E - TR
REEFHERFEHMOT

Estimated useful lives

fhat I 6 A 5

Gas gathering station and relating facilities
SR N AE R

Building and structures

BT REEY

Vehicles

B

Furniture, fittings and others
FRIE - REREM

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress represents development costs
occurred after the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable
and the buildings, machinery and equipment for which the
construction work has not been completed. It is carried at
cost which includes construction expenditures and other
direct costs less any impairment losses. Upon completion,
the development costs recorded in construction in progress
are transferred to gas properties. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until they are
completed and available for use.

Spare parts are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment when (a) they can be used only in connection
with an item of property, plant and equipment; or (b) the
Group expects to use them during more than one year.
Other spare parts are classified as inventory.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other (losses)/gains” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation expenditures mainly include
acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological,
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling,
sampling and activities in relation to evaluating the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a
mineral resource.

During initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on a
project after it has reached a stage at which there is a high
degree of confidence in its viability is capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets. If a project does not
prove viable, all irrecoverable expenditures associated with
the project are expensed in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued) 27 BRKRFEEE(E)
Costs of exploratory wells are capitalised and evaluated for R FF A AR TR —F AT
economic viability within one year after completion of BRI FHEH LB AIATIE < 10
drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes if R BB ER 1T ERER
it is determined that such economic viability is not attained. HEFK AV EAT X8 -
Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less IR K 51 B B AR AR (B B 1
impairment provisions. Exploration and evaluation assets B - EEERIM LT R
are reclassified to gas properties when the technical RIEEERA{TE  MELFTHE
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral ESESHEERAR[EE -

resource are demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for EEENERERERE KT
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the BEREEEENEHB:AET O
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may SRR BHBEMTEEEETT
exceed its recoverable amount, and also tested for BERHE - TERESEERAR
impairment immediately prior to reclassification to gas BERETRERNR -
properties.

2.8 Gas properties 28 RAREE
Gas properties include drilling costs, exploration and KARBEBIREIRA  BIEK
evaluation costs, development costs and other direct costs FEEAAR - FEK AN EMEB R
attributable to the gas production properties. Gas AARAEEEEMBEEKA o XA
properties are depreciated based on the unit of production REEENEMEEETRITE -
method. Unit of production rates are based on proved and BUAEZEZTHNEXRESER
probable gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from DRERBRITHRR  REEREE
whole concessions based on the current terms of the KARFEENEFAIREFTELE
respective PSC and taking into account estimated future BEEZSREMTNMHETRAKRA
development costs necessary to bring those reserves into BERAN o
production.

2.9 Intangible assets 29 BREE
Intangible assets represent computer software. Acquired B EESREEREGT - BANE
computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs PEBR IR EE A ZTE T RE T S L 1%
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. AFERAEENKATUERL -
These costs are amortised using the straight-line method IR =T ERNEET A ERAF
over their estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 10 years. PR DA B AR RSN o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

210 kERMEERE

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows which are largely independently of
the cash flows from other assets or group of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet date.

2.11 Investments in associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting, after initially being
recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments in associates (Continued)

2. EEEHHERE &)
211 HEE QA TRE (&)

130

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.10.

2.12 Financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through OCI or through profit or loss),
and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and

only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in other (losses)/gains
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

2. EEEHHERE &)
212 SREE (8)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

132

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through OCI,
except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other
(losses)/gains. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
other (losses)/gains and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other
(losses)/gains in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other (losses)/gains in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Inventories 213 FE

134

(a) Material, spare parts and consumables with low

value

Material, spare parts and consumables with low value
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
cost method. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

(b) Raw materials, work in progress and finished
goods
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises raw material costs, pipeline
transportation costs associated with purchasing raw
materials and outsourced processing costs. Costs are
assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis
of weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for gas
sold in the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Other receivables are mainly government grants due from
government and PSC partners and cash call due from PSC
partners, which are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

See Note 11 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade and other receivables and Note 3.1(a)
for a description of the Group's impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

BEEESHBEREE®

215 RERBFEEEY

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 15).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after
the reporting period.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in OCI or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in OCI or
directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

136

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the
Group companies operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised on all
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates,
and interests in joint arrangements, except to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on all
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates,
and interests in joint arrangements only to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary difference will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and tax liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2. EEEHHERE &)
2.18 EERIEL FTEH ()

(b)

(c)
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BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits

2. EESHHEXBE®H)
2.19 EEEF

138

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits, that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled.

The Group participates in defined contribution plans
operated by relevant government authorities. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan which the Group pays to
the relevant government authorities contributions
calculated according to the bases and percentage
prescribed. When employees retire, the relevant
government authorities are obliged to pay the pensions to
them. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised and allocated to related cost
of assets and expenses based on different beneficiaries.
There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) to offset existing contributions
under the defined contribution schemes.

All Chinese employees of the Group also participate in
other social security plans, including medical, housing and
other welfare benefits, organised and administered by the
government authorities. According to the relevant
regulations, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions
that should be borne by the Group are calculated based on
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a
certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition

2.20 W ATERR

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts and VAT.

Sales of gas

The Group produces and sells gas. Sales of gas are
recognised when control of the gas has transferred, being
when the gas is delivered to the customers. The amount of
revenue is recognised based on the terms of the PSCs and
gas sales agreements.

2.21 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred with no future related
costs, such as refund of VAT paid and subsidies granted
according to CBM production, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Note 21
provides further information on how the Group accounts for
government grants.
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BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Share-based compensation

140

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates two equity-settled share-based
compensation plans, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options and restricted share unit) of the
Company. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options and
restricted share unit is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options and
restricted share unit granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the Group over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or to hold shares for a
specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of the equity instruments
that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received from the exercise
of options net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (and share
premium).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
at a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the equity instruments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at
the date of modification.

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled
during the vesting period, the Company shall account
for the cancellation or settlement as an acceleration
of vesting, and shall therefore recognise immediately
the amount that otherwise would have been
recognised for services received over the remainder
of the vesting period.

Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the
Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment
in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding
credit to equity in the parent company entity
accounts.

2.23 Interest income
Interest income is presented as finance income where it is

earned from financial assets that are held for cash

management purposes. Interest income is calculated by

applying the effective interest rate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Provision-Asset retirement obligation
Asset retirement obligation for environmental restoration is

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

224 e — EEREEK
EAEERBTEHMELRE X
FHRHEEER WAt EHFER
MO EER B egn 5%

recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Asset retirement obligation is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Asset retirement obligation are measured at the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.25 Lease

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
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the net present value of the following lease payments: NHEEA)FIRE -
e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed o BEEMNRBE(BEZELEETE
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; ER) - MR ERHEE
A
e variable lease payment that are based on an index or o  ERNEHSLE@MEMNAH

MEMNHE  KAHERNFE
9a H RO FE B E L BT

e

a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Lease (Continued) 225 HE (&)

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under o AEERBEHREERBE
residual value guarantees; EEREE

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is . AEBEASEETEBITEANE
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and EREENITRERER &

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the e MHEHRBEANEREIT
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option. ERIZEMNB A TITRIEEE

BEIREHE o

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain EAREEHBSEE T BT ERRE

extension options are also included in the measurement of R HENRELANABENG

the liability. e

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate HEMNRBEZBEERNS M EITR -

implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily AEEMHERSHEBTEEE

determined, which is generally the case for leases in the BT mERT - EELREAME

Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, ABPIESERFIE - BIAHE AT

being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay PR EIRIE N ESETREEER

to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar BN EE TR AL

value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic IR EEAE S MM B HEF

environment with similar terms, security and conditions. R o

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: BIEFEIGE BN E - KEEE

FERIBERMBRT - AEFEA

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing

received by the individual lessee as a starting point, AR E=ZTRME AL
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions o WHETHBARRAE
since third party financing was received; BHEEBRIE=FTREED
21t
e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free e HRNITHIREGSE=7TmE
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by NASEEFENEE  HA
the Group, which does not have recent third party DA L B I SR AR B A R
financing; and - WIRREERERRR

EITHE R

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, e HHHAEMEFTERAE W
country, currency and security. HEH - BxR - BRI -
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.25 Lease (Continued)

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

2258 (&)

144

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take effect.
When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or
rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and
adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

J any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs; and

. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While
the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of buildings
and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)
2.26 Dividends

BEEESHBEREE®

2.26 BRI

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk),
liquidity risk and concentration risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Credit risk
() Risk management
Credit risk of the Group arises from cash at
bank, trade and other receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost.

As the majority of the cash at bank are placed
with state-owned and international banks and
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong,
and there has been no recent history of default
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RBERIRTT R B
B BZERTIRER

in relation to these banks and financial MBI BT EENR
institutions, the corresponding credit risk is 8% FEEE R
relatively low. BIK -

The Group has controls in place to assess the
credit quality of its customers, taking into
account of their financial positions, past
experience and other factors. The Group's sales
were only made to the customers with good
credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. BREAREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEERKBEZE(E)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) ERREKE)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets (i) ZEEERE
The Group has financial assets that are subject AEBMUTEESRH
to the expected credit loss model: BEBEANEHRERE
KIRAL -
—  trade receivables, —  EYERF
—  notes receivables, — RBWREE:
—  other receivables, and —  HMERF X
—  other financial assets at amortised cost — LAESRRK A E
HEM A E
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject ReRBEeFEWINA
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the BIER BT IEHRE 2R
identified impairment loss was immaterial. FIRAMEZR - B
EHERARER KT T
BR-
For trade and notes receivables, the Group ThE W BRI M FE N IR
applies the simplified approach to measuring s NEERASG
expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime FEFEEBERE
expected loss allowance for all trade and notes K BIET P FE YR X
receivables. KW E R ERERE T

B TERIR RS -
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group assesses the expected credit losses
on an individual basis and grouped basis. As for
the grouped basis, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, and then recalculates their
respective historical credit loss information. The
historical credit loss rate are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the consumer price index
to be the most relevant factors and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rate based on
expected changes in these factors.

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at
31 December reconcile to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

3.

BEERERE @)
3.1 B¥ERBEZE(E)
ERRK(E)

(a)

(i1)

THEENRE (B)

AR ER [ 4% {8 Bl =M 4H
BEEFEEMERE
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TR R e R R MR
RETTOME  ARE
Mt EESEENELE
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BTELERBELRE
IR RFEE P R R
AEEBE N HE AT A
EUEEBRERRE
B AKECHHEES
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=R E R
BELERBEREX -

REE KRR 12
31 B BRI R

HEEMEREE
BT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREF T
Opening loss allowance EATB KRB E (15,184) (7,600)
Increase in loss allowance RERNGTABRH
recognised in profit or loss BB AL
during the year (15,038) (7,584)
Closing loss allowance HRIE R BE (30,222) (15,184)
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3.

148

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

To measure the expected credit losses of notes
receivables, the Group calculates the expected
credit loss based on the default risk exposure
and the lifetime expected credit loss rate, with
the consideration of the historical credit loss
experience, the current situation and the
forecast of future economic conditions.
Considering all of the notes receivables are
bank acceptance bills and there is no default
experience in the past, the Group does not
recognise any impairment.

For other receivables, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the other receivables since initial
recognition or the other receivables not
determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date, in which cases the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The loss allowances for other receivables as at
31 December reconcile to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

3.

B 7 B B ()
3.1 HMEEREE(E)
(@) EHARAR(E)
(i) TEEEREE)

7N 5 ] 55 L At B LR
12A31TH/ERE X
BERARE B AR
% BT

Year ended 31 December

BE12ANBLEE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Opening loss allowance HYiE R B (2,173) -
Increase in loss allowance RERNGTABRH

recognised in profit or loss BARRHEIL N
during the year - (2,173)
Closing loss allowance BRI R HHE (2,173) (2,173)

The Group assess the expected credit losses of
other financial assets at amortised cost on an
individual basis. The expected credit losses are
assessed with reference to the credit status of

the recipients and the past due status of
doubtful debtors.

The loss allowances for other financial assets at
amortised cost as at 31 December reconcile to
the opening loss allowances as follows:

B IE 1R (8 Bl B FF L
A SRR AR E M E M
TREENEMERRE
Ko FREMERIRRTIE
SE WG ANERMR
RRIREEANBRIT
MARHETTRHS -

AN £ B8 A B R Ak AR 5t
ENHMESREEN12
A 31 B EIRIB R EE
TR E BRI B R A
BT -

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2022 2021

2022 2021 4F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Opening loss allowance HA¥NIE R BE - -
Increase in loss allowance RERNFTABTRH

recognised in profit or loss IBRBAEE M
during the year (24,226) -
Closing loss allowance HARIBREE (24,226) -
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3.

150

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to US$. Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions or recognised assets
or liabilities are denominated in a currency other than
the entity’s functional currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, the Group was exposed to non-
cash foreign exchange risk arising from retranslation
of US$ denominated inter-company loans. To manage
the foreign exchange risk, management decided to
execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by
converting the inter-company loans into perpetual
loans through entering into perpetual loan
agreements between respective group companies
such that the perpetual loans do not bear interest and
the lenders can not request repayment. Upon
completion of this debt restructuring, any foreign
exchange differences arising from retranslation of
these US$ denominated perpetual loans are
recognised in equity in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates, and by monitoring the amount of the
US$ intracompany accounts.

As at 31 December 2022, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 1% against the US$ with all other
variables held constant, profit before income tax for
the year would have been RMB46,000 (31 December
2021: negative RMB1,187,000) lower/higher,
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
receivables and payables held by the Group entities
with their functional currency as RMB.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. MKEKREE@
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BMBREBEE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk () REBMERE
The liquidity risk of the Group is mainly controlled by AEENRBMERARFER
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents BRACEERFTBNIAES R
through operations. The table below analyses the ReFEWETES - TFX
Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity BRAEENEREE &
groupings based on the remaining period at the RN BHER - RER
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. HERAZEREIEB TR
W EEIT DA -

Total  Carrying

Less than Over contractual amount

Tyear 1-2years  2-5 years 5years cashflows liabilities

EERE EHEE

PR-F -EZ@ME WERF EENLE REAH &8

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

As at 31 December 2022 #2022 12A31R

Trade and other payables ~ ERTEFREMERNT 1,099,727 - - - 1,099,727 1,099,727

Lease liabilities HERRE 9,440 10,895 29,048 17,904 67,287 50,737

1,109,167 10,895 29,048 17,904 1,167,014 1,150,464

As at 31 December 2021 420216 12A31R

Trade and other payables R EFREMERT 750415 - - - 750415 750415

Lease labilities BEARE 13733 10,519 26,831 24,205 75,308 55,647

764,148 10,519 26,831 24,225 825,723 806,062

(d) Concentration risk (d) SHmEkE

AREBEH WA EBRAER
B ZRREENEAT
B R HARENKLE
EERPBIRAEREAN
PR E -

Revenue of the Group is mainly derived from
Panzhuang concession. Any disruption to the
operation of the concession may have a material
adverse impact to the result of operation and the
financial position of the Group.

During the year, 48.6% of the Group’s revenue was
derived from sales made to the top five customers
(2021: 46.7%). In the event that these customers
terminate their business relationship with the Group
and the Group fails to find new customers, it may
have a material adverse impact on the Group's
financial position and result of operations.
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BOFM IR M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3.

3.2 Capital management

MRS ERE )
3.2 EXER

152

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares.

The Group monitors capital by using debt-to-asset ratio
analysis. This ratio is calculated as amount of total liabilities
divided by total assets as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet. The debt-to-asset ratio at 31 December
2022 and 2021 is 18.5% and 20.5%, respectively.

AEEMNEAEEBZEERER
SEENFELYE  BRREHRD
WEAEMN AR E RN -
R @R RENENERBARDE
NP PN

BTHRENARER SR  A&H
AEEEHEX N EBRAENE
B ARRREEARNKEITH o

ARENAEERBRDTERE
Ao RZEHEERBRIR
MABEEERNEERETHE - X
120224 12 A 31 H [ 2021 %
RANBWEEABED A
18.5% F120.5% ©

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 RABEME
This section explains the judgements and estimates made REFRREE R B HRERAZE AR
in determining the fair values of the financial instruments BEERANFEZERIAEZAR

that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
financial statements. To provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the
Group has classified its financial instruments into the three
levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level is as follow:

(i) Financial instruments in level 1
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and
equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation
techniques which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument
is included in level 2.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. KRBERH
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMF(E)
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (i) EFE=ZERANSMIA

M—IARZHERB AL
REABEREMHEE - A&
TRTAFBRE=BMR-
FLEMREBEEFBRUER

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

e
The following table presents the Group's financial assets TREIAEBUARBENEN
that are measured at fair value. TREE o
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—EBHR EEBH FE=BH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%ETrT AR%®Tr AR®TR AR®Tx
Financial assets tREE
As at 31 December 2022 A 2022%12H31H8
Financial assets at fair value LA AR BHEEER
through profit or loss HE 8 ABR
MEREE
— Investment in unlisted — EREE
fund (Note 12) (FFEE12) - 69,646 69,646

For the financial instruments traded in active market, the
Group generally use the closing price quoted on the
relevant active market; for the financial instruments not
traded in active market, the Group use the valuation
techniques to determine the fair value. Specific valuation
techniques used to value financial instruments include the
use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments, discounted cashflow model and etc.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, if the fair values of
the financial assets at FVPL held by the Group had been
10% higher/lower, the profit before income tax would have
been approximately RMB6,964,600 higher/lower.

HREZETSE ELRXS5NERT
B AEBEAHERTISRERT
HRnEE YR HEEARMS L
REMeMTRE  AEERAMGE
RiftEEE A EIE - FAERG
EENTERRAUTANTISRE
AR HPRE REREFRRL
REA M o

HZE202F12A31HIEFE - 00
AEBHFAUAREBEFEZEAEH
FEEt AN BENEREENANE
BT TH10% - BIRR TSR A
FEHE T BAREE 6,964,600
5T o
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

4.1 Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
Proved gas reserves are those quantities of CBM that by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially
recoverable, from a given date forward and under defined
economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations. Probable gas reserves are those additional
reserves of CBM that analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered
than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than
possible reserves.

The Group's reserve estimates were prepared for each
concession area and include only CBM that the Group
believes can be reasonably produced within current
economic and operating conditions. Reserves cannot be
measured exactly. Reserve estimates are based on many
factors that require evaluation by the engineers interpreting
the available data, as well as price and other economic
factors. The reliability of these estimates at any point in
time depends on both the quality and quantity of the
technical and economic data, and the production
performance as well as engineering judgement.
Consequently, reserve estimates are subject to revision as
additional data become available. Well tests and
engineering studies will likely improve the reliability of the
reserve estimate. The evolution of technology may also
result in the application of improved recovery techniques
such as supplemental or enhanced recovery projects, or
both, which have the potential to increase reserves beyond
those envisioned during the early years of a reservoir’s
producing life.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
(Continued)

Proved and probable reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. A reduction
in proved and probable reserves will increase depreciation
and amortisation charges (assuming constant production)
and reduce net profit. Proved and probable reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including gas prices, contract
terms or development plans.

In general, changes in the technical maturity of gas reserves
resulting from new information becoming available from
exploration, development and production activities and
change in gas price have tended to be the most significant
cause of annual revisions.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are capitalised on a field-
by-field basis and are assessed for impairment when
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. This assessment involves
judgment as to (i) the period for which the Group has the
right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected
to be renewed; and (i) substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; and (iii)
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
and (iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale. While conducting an impairment review of its
assets, the Group makes certain judgments in making
assumptions about the future gas prices, reserves and
future development and production costs. Changes in
these estimates could require a material change on the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets.

4. BAREEEERHE @)

4.1

4.2

DEEREBRERLAR/ 255K

HERBMERERMFEENMGE
(#8)

BENMBERERAEEREARAK
BETHNERITE - BERERNR
MEETE EFENMIERERD
HEMTEREEER(BRREE
&) WHAFFE - FE R
B EMF AR ERE R (Fa0 2K
BREERTNEEZDHERAR
B - ARGFRIARRAELD REL
BRZEE)) A L@ T -

—MRimE - FAEER  REREER
HMERHENMSEERFED
B S Z B A KR A REIEE
HEEHFFIEHENRERZR
o

BHRRFHEERE
BFEMF A EERGMEEETE
N EBRARMEEBATRES
BEME R ERE - AT E SR
EBUTSEMNALE  (EFTEE
o B R AE HE HA N B 48 3 P 3T B fE
w o WIEER TS ERD ¢ [k (i) HE—
SRR S TR SEEE RN
AERYBLETBE ERE K
T RS HEMGHEREERA
BREELEINREELEREE -
A 5 R AR IEFE RZ (& 19 A 0E
B MiVERTLERBET  BF
AIRETE R E BRI EITRHE - BT
M EENEEEEET A REER
g sk s & R 2 B[ - TE#ETT
BERBENHE  TNEEREHER
BRANRER - ERARMEN
EEMARRRETTE T HIE - Z
HErEF A BB RE LT EEE
MEREEEESEERES -

155




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

156

4.3

44

Impairment of gas properties, gas gathering
stations and relating facilities and construction in
progress

Gas properties, gas gathering stations and relating facilities
and construction in progress are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell or value in use. In estimating the
recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions,
including future cash flow to be associated with the assets
and discounted rates, are made. If future events do not
correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts
will be revised and this may have impacts on the Group's
result of operation or financial position.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will be reflected in the
income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the realisation of future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group's ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits
and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future profitability
from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and
liabilities that could have a significant effect on the income
tax expenses.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BARGTHETRHE @)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.5 Impairment of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’'s past history existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(a).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker ("CODM") has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the Company
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM considers the business from perspective of types of
goods delivered. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group's operating segments are as follows:

—  Panzhuang and Mabi concessions: the sales of CBM

The two operating segments are defined by PSCs, which is
the basis by which the CODM makes decisions about
resources to be allocated and assesses their performance.
The financial information of the two concessions under the
relating PSCs has been separated to present segment
information to be reviewed by the CODM.

—  Xinhe: the sales of liquified natural gas ("LNG")

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the
performance of the operating segments based on profit before
income tax, depreciation and amortisation, finance income,
finance costs and exchange gains/(losses) (“EBITDA").
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2EER @)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the HZE202F12AR31BIEFE BtAl 2
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as MAOHIRBLETEEERRENDIE
follows: BT
Panzhuang Mabi
concession  concession Xinhe Total
BHER BYER e st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AR¥ETRT AR%TR AR®TxR
Year ended 31 December HBZE2022%12H31H
2022 EFE
Segment revenue D EBUA 1,918,205 471,513 297,725 2,687,443
Inter-segment revenue 2R A (120,699) - - (120,699)
Revenue from external REINBEF HIA
customers 1,797,506 471,513 297,725 2,566,744
EBITDA (i) EBITDA (i) 1,933,483 300,990 31,566 2,266,039
Other income HAd WA 280,422 67,261 - 347,683
Operating expenses KEFRT (616,777)  (411,382)  (146,921) (1,175,080)
Depreciation and amortisation T8 [ % §H (356,703) (190,687) (2,800) (550,190)
Net impairment losses on TREEREBEFIEX
financial assets (15,038) - (24,226) (39,264)
Finance income B s Es 22,246 4,124 4,194 30,564
Finance costs MIBER (8,449) (1,251) - (9,700)
Exchange gains/(losses) PE 5 ezt (FBk) 40,897 (6,705) - 34,192
Share of net loss of associates  E(LIZHEE AR
accounted for using KEEE
the equity method - - (17,715) (17,715)
Income tax expense EREYE-3:| (391,930) 15,745 (8,562) (384,747)

(i) EBITDA is calculated based on segment revenue and

segment expenses of each segment.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. o%ER &)
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Xinhe Total
BT E SR LN Fiik=y 5T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Year ended 31 December BZE2021%F12A31H
2021 IEFEE
Revenue from external REINBEFERUA
customers 1,522,736 176,946 39,544 1,739,226
EBITDA EBITDA 1,477,455 73,537 7,449 1,558,441
Other income E At A 223,651 28,224 - 251,875
Operating expenses KEFRT (596,668) (196,727) (46,480) (839,875)
Depreciation and amortisation 378 5 # 4 (325,181) (65,389) (1,592) (392,162)
Net impairment losses on TREEREBEFIEX
financial assets (7,579) (2,173) (5) (9,757)
Finance income B 2 17,200 2,221 1,899 21,320
Finance costs B ¥ & A (4,602) (1,078) - (5,680)
Exchange (losses)/gains &5 (185k), W (10,358) 6,054 (548) (4,852)
Share of net loss of associates  E(LIZHEE AR
accounted for using K& EiE
the equity method - - (14,052) (14,052)
Income tax expense i3 & A (295,202) (31,559) (1,878) (328,639)

DEEREBRERLAR/ 255K

159




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

160

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2EER @)
Panzhuang Mabi
concession  concession Xinhe Total
BHER BYESR e #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
As at 31 December 2022 720226128311
Segment assets DEEE 3,502,496 4,442,580 646,627 8,591,703
Segment liabilities NEPAE 712,711 982,183 23,822 1,718,716
Investments in associates HEENRIRE - - 372,270 372,270
Additions to non-current assets  3Ei Eh & E G AN
(other than deferred income GRIEBIIBE ERIN)
tax assets) 239,265 1,055,927 126,485 1,421,677
As at 31 December 2021 M2021%F12831H
Segment assets DEEE 4,088,985 3,261,864 618,392 7,969,241
Segment liabilities HEWEE 1,073,233 566,004 13,772 1,653,009
Investments in associates HEEARIRE - - 242,985 242,985
Additions to non-current assets  JEi B E E 1L AN
(other than deferred income GRIERIIBEERIN)
tax assets) 292,940 537,638 352,064 1,182,642
A reconciliation of EBITDA to total profit before income tax is EBITDA 2R3 Fr S 11 B A E & xE M B &5 a0
provided as follows: T
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MBLEFE
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 %
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Total EBITDA for reportable segments T 23R % £ #9 EBITDA 4258 2,266,039 1,558,441
Headquarters overheads BE AT (14,614) (13,719)
Depreciation and amortisation e R (554,238) (396,523)
Finance income B 75 W 2 36,023 24,522
Finance costs % ER (9,738) (5,750)
Exchange gains/(losses) P 5 e (382K 95,100 (8,597)
Share of net loss of associates accounted {5 IRRE R A ABRAVE 2 A A)
for using the equity method & EiE (17,715) (14,052)
Profit before income tax R P55 5l A1) 1,800,857 1,144,322
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as

follows:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2022 2021
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
Total segment assets DEEEERE 8,591,703 7,969,241
Unallocated R E
Unallocated property, plant AOBMTEE - THAERE
and equipment 51 151
Unallocated trade and other receivables k%> B & Uk BR 5k N2 EL A0 FE Y 5% 338 250
Unallocated financial assets at fair value ~ RO BELARA AR BEEHAE
through profit or loss FFABRNEREE 69,646 -
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents KPR ENIREEEBY 647,661 115,225
Others HA 326 1,075
Total assets per balance sheet BEBERMTEELRE 9,309,725 8,085,942

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities

as follows:

As at 31 December

MR12H831H
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREEF T
Total segment liabilities DE B ERRE 1,718,716 1,653,009

Unallocated ROE

Unallocated lease liabilities Ao HEEE 83 823
Unallocated trade and other payables ADECENBRR L E b BT FR 7,290 6,560
Total liabilities per balance sheet EEBERAITAERR 1,726,089 1,660,392
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

6. THBE IHKRR®E

Gas
Exploration  gathering
and station and Building Furniture,
Gas  evaluation relating Construction and fittings and
properties assets facilities  in progress  Structures Vehicles others Total
BAER  RRUR BER A £EBR
RRREE  TMHEE  BBRE  HRIR =2 ) L] A @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETE ARET:R
Year ended 31 December 2021 ~ EZ2021E12A31 BLLEE
Opening net book value ENRERE 2204548 683,024 518,526 561,932 - 2002 4227 3,994,259
Additions 5 79,644 299 2,492 728,051 61,230 1,849 2022 926,784
Transferred in/{ou) g)/(ih) 463403 - 57,171 (520574) - - - -
Disposal — cost RE—RKA - - - - (7,608) - (914) (8,522)
— depreciation —HE - - - - - - 777 777
Write off ikiz - (50,280) - - - - - (50,280)
Depreciation charge HEER (312,146) - (64,729) - (1,564) (779) (1.92) (381,141
Currency translation differences INEEZE (2.289) 642) - (567) - - (1) (3498)
Closing net book value FREESE 2453161 661,598 535460 768,842 52,058 3076 4184 4478319
As at 31 December 2021 R2021512A318
Cost A 3,782,445 661,598 841,689 768,842 5362 18771 54685 6,181,652
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (1,329,284) - (306,229 - (1,564) (15,695) (50,501 (1,703,273)
Net book value BEFE 2453161 661,598 535,460 768,842 52,058 3076 4184 4478319
Year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022%12A31 BLLEE
Opening net book value FEmFE 2,453,161 661,598 535,460 768,842 52,058 3,076 4,184 4,478,379
Additions #10 31,221 194,668 9972 1,104,325 - 1,088 4,253 1,345,527
Transferred in/(out) g)/(1) 585,936 - 197,157 (783,093) = = = =
Disposal — cost RE—HAK - = - = - = (433) (433)
— depreciation — & - - - - - - 433 433
Write off ki = (94,918) - - - - - (94,918)
Depreciation charge HEER (450,771) - (82,648) - (2,681) (943) (2,280) (539,323
Currency translation differences NEREESE 8,276 2,533 = 2,098 = = 9 12,916
Closing net book value EREAFE 2,627,823 763,881 659,941 1,092,172 49,377 3,221 6,166 5,202,581
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%€128318
Cost KA 4,414,737 763,881 1,048,818 1,092,172 53,622 19,859 58,772 7,451,861
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (1,786,914) - (388,877) - (4,245) (16,638) (52,606)  (2,249,280)
Net book value REFE 2,627,823 763,881 659,941 1,092,172 49,377 3,221 6,166 5,202,581

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the additions of

HE2022F12 A3 HIEEE » TFE

property, plant and equipment include RMB2,265,126 (2021:
RMB102,189,482) relating to the asset retirement obligations
recognised during the year.

TR B RRAB 18 1N AR5 2,265,126 70(2021
£ ANR1102,189,4827T ) » B4 A i
RNEEEEERBER -
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7. LEASE 7. A&
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance (a) AHEEEEBERAEINSE
sheet
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following AHEEBERY RO TS £%EH
amounts relating to leases: HEBH
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use rights + b fE 51,763 56,990
Buildings gt 75 2,445
51,838 59,435
Lease liabilities HEESE
Current ED (9,440) (13,733)
Non-current FEMED (41,297) (41,914)
(50,737) (55,647)
Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2022 were 2024 - FRAEEEEMARE
RMB1,487,000 (2021: RMB6,077,000). 1,487,0007T (20214 = A R
6,077,0007T) °
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (b) EHEZENERABRNESE
of comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income aPFERERI TN TS 5EE
shows the following amounts relating to leases: HERH :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31HILLEE

2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use fEAEEENITEEHR

assets
Land use rights + b fsh A (8,014) (7.112)
Buildings =SS (1,120) (2,476)

(9,134) (9,588)

Interest expense (included in MEEBRGIAMBER)

finance cost) (Note 23) (7% 23) (3,785) (3,707)
Expense relating to short-term leases  E25EHATHEHEMNE A

(included in administrative expenses) (Gt ABEIEEMR) (1,077) (3,140)
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. EEEE
Computer
software
EiEH
RMB'000
AREFIT
As at 1 January 2021 ®2021F1A1H
Cost AR 58,474
Accumulated amortisation RET I (28,732)
Net book value BREDFE 29,742
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZE2021%F12A31HLEE
Opening net book value FHRREFE 29,742
Additions b 250
Amortisation charge BIHER (5,794)
Closing net book value FAREREFE 24,198
As at 31 December 2021 M2021%12H31H
Cost @ 58,724
Accumulated amortisation ESiE: 35 (34,526)
Net book value BREDFE 24,198
Year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F12A31HLLEE
Opening net book value FHRREDFE 24,198
Additions 10 2,392
Amortisation charge BIHER (5,781)
Closing net book value FRREFE 20,809
As at 31 December 2022 M2022%12H31H
Cost AR 61,116
Accumulated amortisation RETE Y (40,307)
Net book value BREDFE 20,809
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 9. HHENTARE
As at 31 December
®12H31H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARMBTIT
Beginning of the year REH] 242,985 -
Addition(a) 91 (a) 147,000 257,037
Loss for the year FRERE (17,715) (14,052)
End of the year RER 372,270 242,985
(@) During the year of 2021, the Group increased the capital of (a) 20214  AEBEH LABEZRILE -
Shanxi Tongyu Coalbed Methane Transportation and 48 B A A R ¥ 257,036,418 7T
Distribution Ltd (“Shanxi Tongyu”) with a total WHETKFERSR LARRKR
consideration of RMB257,036,418 and hold 32.1296% of the 32.1296% #) B i = 1L 78 38 5 AR
total shares of Shanxi Tongyu after the completion of RBEERAR(NLARKR])EE
capital contribution. Shanxi Tongyu is mainly engaged in REEERNHEEEE o
sales, transmission and distribution of CBM.
During the year of 2022, the Group paid RMB 147,000,000 to 2022%F - K £ B LA ARK
establish Dongcheng Xintai Energy Research Co., Ltd. 147,000,000 7T 7% 37 3R 7 5 %= Az IR
("Dongcheng Xintai”), representing 49% share of the total MREREEAF ([ RAZE])
capital contribution. Dongcheng Xintai is mainly engaged T EBERNAI% RAEABRTE
in energy technology development and energy technology 1 =5 B2 IR B 117 57 B8 A0 g R B 1T AR
services. % e
(b) Interests in associates (b) HEZEAQATKRE
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 TN AREEE2022F12A318 -
December 2022 which, in the opinion of the directors, are EERAEYEEBEANEZAQ
material to the Group. The entities listed below have share CIRNY NI 4= 0): - WNGI L @ Nea
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held REBR  HEBBEERSAE M
directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or R BERBER T AEEZERBH
registration is also their principal place of business, and the Bho FRB R EPT IS RO
proportion of ownership interest is the same as the FEE °
proportion of voting rights held.
Place of Carrying
business/ % of amount at
country of ownership Nature of Measurement 31 December
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship  method 2022
2022 F
EMRIER 12A31R8
=18 EF3: 0k ez BERILE SRS ARTEE
RMB’000
% ARMETFTT
Shanxi Tongyu Shanxi, PRC 321296  Associate Equity method 225,265
(I EE FE LT S /NE] A
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 9. HEEQNTRARE®
(c) Summarised financial information for associates () EXBMEATRBENKER

The tables below provide summarised financial information HERBEANWHEATHAERE
HEERMT - HENEERMRT
A S AR BEREF 2NN
BHoMAEREEAELRERH
188 - WHEAS IFARBRERETEH
BEERTMMARE - BEARE
BERNFBRNMETBREZMNTE -

for those associates that are material to the Group. The
information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the
financial statements of the relevant associates and not the
Group's share of those amounts. They have been amended
to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the
equity method, including fair value adjustments and
modifications for differences in accounting policy.

As at 31 December

166

M12A31H

Shanxi Tongyu LFEE® 2022 2021
2022 F 2021 %

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETIT

Current assets mBNEE 235,503 312,192
Non-current assets IEREEE 559,617 555,610
Current liabilities mEaE (256,772) (258,148)
Non-current liabilities EREaE (52,901) (113,806)
Net assets BEE 485,447 495,848

Reconciliation to carrying amounts: HEMKEERMNAL :

Net assets FEE 485,447 495,848
Group's share (%) AN B FE(h (%) 32.1296% 32.1296%
Group's share (RMB'000) REFELE(ARETIT) 155,972 159,314
Goodwill and others PR K EAM 69,293 83,671
Carrying amount FREE 225,265 242,985
Revenue WA 178,355 53,678
Loss for the period HAEE (15,487) (131,466)
Other comprehensive income Hiz s lkss - -
Total comprehensive income Bz a s (15,487) (131,466)
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(d) Individually immaterial associates (d)

In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above,
the Group also has interests in individually immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity method.

9. HEENTKRE W)

ENBER
R EX P ERR E A

BRIMSE FTEANBELQAH

AlfEmsN -

SEEAERNE TEAREE
DA - AERAAR ©

As at
31 December
2022
" 2022 F
12A31H
RMB’000
ARBT T

Carrying amount of individually immaterial BRI = T EREEE AR REE
associates 147,005

Amounts of the Group's share of: REEE(, -

Net Profit A pbE 11
Other comprehensive income HAbhra W =
Total comprehensive income IR AW 11

10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 10. BB RAFENHMERNE
E

COST

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFIT
Beginning of the period NEEE) 55,000 -
Addition N 604 55,000

Increase in loss allowance recognised in = ANHARET A B 25 HY 18 K BB 1L 0

profit or loss during the period (24,226) -
End of the period FERR 31,378 55,000

On 28 June 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with a
third party company (original lessor) and acquired the leased
property under the lease contract and its associated rights and
interests related to the leased property, and obtained the right
to collect rent and other payments from the lessee, a company
mainly engaged in the investment and construction of liquefied
natural gas, and the guarantee rights under the related guarantee

and pledge contracts.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and detail of loss

allowance are provided in Note 3.1 (a).

R2021F6A28H » AEEBEE=FR
AIREEAN)ZiTHE  USHEAR
EHTINEEVE UWLKEHAENEHEDR
FiEes - WEISAABRA(—REBHRE
BIERARIEZEZH RG] JIHEE R
HREOERN A RBEERMNZLIE
& FTE TR ERIER -

RERBR BB R R B R BEF SRR K
FE3.1() °
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 1. BYURR R H b B

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Trade receivables (a) FEULBR X (a)
— CUCBM — CUCBM 344,921 318,319
— PetroChina — A 79,789 102,049
— Shanxi Tongyu (Note 9, 29(b)) — IPEm & (M9 ~ 29(b)) 89,267 89,267
— External customers — IR 3,365 8,271
517,342 517,906
Less: loss allowance for impairment of R FEULBRFRIE B (f)
trade receivables (f) (30,222) (15,184)
Trade receivables, net JEUER R — JF 58 487,120 502,722
Notes receivables (b) FEUEHE (b) 16,000 -
Government grants receivables (c) JE U T 478 B (<)
— Government — B 397,323 404,779
— CUCBM — CUCBM 20,137 43,783
— PetroChina — A - 9,745
Due from PSC partners for cash calls and ~ EWERDKAEREIES
accrued expenses (d) ReBERLERER ()
— CUCBM — CUCBM 107,492 134,876
— PetroChina — A 205,892 123,096
Loans to third party (e) ME=FRHER () 5,752 3,452
Deposits and others HeFMEMER 8,943 6,256
745,539 725,987
Less: loss allowance for impairment of SR L R SRR IR SR B ()
other receivables (f) (2,173) (2,173)
Other receivables, net H i el — F58 743,366 723,814
Total trade and other receivables FEURBE X K H fh FE U Fh 42 5B 1,246,486 1,226,536
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

11. EWBRF R H bR ()

(a)

FE U B R
FEW AR SR E BREE D AT AN TS

As at 31 December

R12H31H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Within 3 months Z@AR 428,075 505,367
6 months to 1 year NEAZE—F = 12,539
1 year to 2 years —EME 89,267 -
517,342 517,906

Less: loss allowance for impairment of & : & Uz BR FUIB S B4 ()
trade receivables (f) (30,222) (15,184)
487,120 502,722

Trade receivables due from CUCBM represent the cash
collected from external customers attributable to Sino-
American Energy, Inc. ("SAEI") and deposited into
CUCBM's bank account on behalf of the Group, which is
jointly managed by CUCBM and SAEL.

Trade receivables due from PetroChina represent the
amount to be collected from PetroChina relating to the sale
of the Group's share of CBM from Mabi and Panzhuang
concessions.

Trade receivables due from Shanxi Tongyu represent the
amount to be collected from Shanxi Tongyu relating to the
sale of the Group’s share of CBM from Panzhuang
concession.

Trade receivables due from external customers represent
the amount to be collected from the independent
customers relating to the sale of LNG from Xinhe and the
sale of the Group’s share of CBM from Panzhuang
concession.

DEEREBRERLAR/ 255K

JFE UL CUCBM B9 JiE Uk AR SR8 U B
SNERES P 30 77 A BB CUCBM B2 3£ AR
BERAR AR ([EPEERAR])
F&EIE - W CUCBMA R ANE H
FMAIRTTERPMIRS -

R M5 ek ) FE MK R R 4 MR B
POMABAKE QS BRI NE
FERIBATIE R E R ERRIR -

JRE M5 L) 7 5 TR Y R MK R R T
BUEBBRERAREEEHER
FrE R B RS E TR

TR 5575 ) T MR B 36 6
ABYEFABAREETAN
LNG $¥ SR IA T B R S
BRI E B -
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

170

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Notes receivable are bank acceptance with maturity dates
within six months.

This represents the VAT refund and government subsidies
for CBM receivable from the government directly or
through CUCBM and PetroChina.

This represents CUCBM's and PetroChina’s share of the
cash calls and accrued expenses for the development and
production costs of Panzhuang and Mabi concessions yet
to be received from CUCBM and PetroChina, respectively.

This represents loans to third party with a term of six
months.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and detail of
loss allowance are provided in Note 3.1(a).

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of trade and

other receivables approximated their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

11. BEWBRA R H R ()

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

RN EE R B B ENEA AR
RITEHERE -

I A B 1 8 38 CUCBM K AR A U
FEU R T HO IR 8 R B TR AR T R
FE AL

Ik & CUCBM KA AR 7 G & i &
B8 M 5 AR R A B R A EE R AR IR
S ERRTBARER MARMRA
CUCBM KA Al e E

HRRE =TT RENER - BRA
NER e

AEBEREBRRBRBEEFEH
RMIEE31(@) °

R2022512A31H - EWER N
Em RS EmEEE AL (EE
5 o

7R 6% ] Y R MK Pl R e EL A P MR B
RREEA T HIEREHE

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2022 2021
2022 & 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
RMB AR 1,246,241 1,226,312
HK$ BT 245 224
1,246,486 1,226,536
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12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 12. LA AREEFTEBEEESBFT A
THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS ERnemEE
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETIT
Investment in unlisted fund FEETESEKE 69,646 -
69,646 -
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the changes in fair value HE202F128318IEFE ARE
of this financial assets is not material due to the investment has BEEENFR  ZEMEENALE
been made closing to the year end. BEHWIERX -
Details about the Group’s accounting policies in determining fair AEBBEAABENSTBRFBEH

value are provided in Note 3.3. RHIFE33 °
13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 13. @BMT A GRER)

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2022 2021
2022 % 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Financial assets SREE
Other financial assets at amortised cost SR AT ENENSREE
(Note 10) (KtzE10) 31,378 55,000
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) FEUBR Z M Uz (B R 11) 1,246,486 1,226,536
Financial assets at fair value through AR EBENEEHEEHTA
profit or loss (Note 12) BRerEE (ME12) 69,646 -
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 14) ReMRLEEY (KHizE14) 2,118,660 1,626,675
Term deposits with initial terms of over IR ERRR BB =8 A W F BiTE X
three months (Note 14) (MzE14) = 200,000
Restricted bank deposits (Note 14) ZRGIRITFR (M5 14) 67,797 60,230

3,533,967 3,168,441
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 13. @R T A (REH) @)

(Continued)

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 ¢
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREETIT
Financial liabilities TReE
Trade and other payables excluding FEAT BR R S B FE AT 3K
non-financial liabilities TRIEIEERIBE 1,099,727 750,415
Lease liabilities (Note 7) MEAaEIE7) 50,737 55,647
1,150,464 806,062
14. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14. BERIBITER
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 %
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETIT
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFSEEY
— Cash at banks — RITEFER 2,118,660 1,626,675

Term deposits with initial terms of over M4A BRRR B B = 8 A W F B TE X

three months - 200,000
Restricted bank deposits (a) SIREERTTIFER () 67,797 60,230
2,186,457 1,886,905
(@) Restricted bank deposits represented deposits for the (a) ZRREERITERAELRIEMNE N
purpose of decommissioning of gas properties and BARERRXAREERERLT
restoration of land deposits for Panzhuang and Mabi HETE 2R o

concessions.

172 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

14. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued) 14. BERBITESH @
Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following Be MBITESRIZATEES -

currencies:

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB‘000
ARET T AREETIT
RMB AR 1,737,210 1,871,143
HK$ BT 27,853 13,437
us$ ETT 421,394 2,325
2,186,457 1,886,905

15. SHARE CAPITAL 15. B

Equivalent

Number of Nominal value nominal value
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary

shares shares shares
EER
ZER#AE EEREE ZHHEE
Thousands US$'000 RMB'000
T FET AR¥ETTT
Issued and fully paid: BE#ETREE -

Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each &% I{&0.0001 £ L]
As at 1 January 2021 A2021F181H 3,393,582 339 2,079
— Exercise of share options — 1T AR 1,542 - 1
As at 31 December 2021 M2021%12H831H 3,395,124 339 2,080
— Exercise of share options — {T{F AR 193 - -
As at 31 December 2022 M2022612A831H 3,395,317 339 2,080
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15.

16.

17.

174

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (share
options) on 31 March 2015 and the Post-IPO Restricted Share
Unit Scheme (RSUs) on 5 June 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 192,715 (31 December
2021:1,541,722) share options were exercised. As at 31 December
2022, there are no outstanding share options (31 December 2021:
192,715).

As at 31 December 2018, all RSUs have been vested or cancelled
after Change of Control (Note 1), and no RSU was outstanding.

OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves consist of share-based compensation and foreign
currency translation difference.

15.

16.

B ()

Nl B 201593 A31 B M201546
ASHEME R AR S BRETE
(B FE X A FAEERI R XD
BALRTEI (ZIRBIRDELL) ©

HE202F12A831BILFE - 17E B
f% #192,715% (B 22021512431 H
IEFE 1 1,541,72217 ) ° 722022F 12 A
3MH - \EBEKRTEBERENEE (2021
F12A31H :192,71519) ©

20185128318 @ 1= 4IiEE E (M5E1)
B2 HRIREBMHELMEE FEB
o MR R HIRR (D BAL o

Hfth ki 5
ot 5 5 4 DABR A A R ) R B R 51
WFTEEE -

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 17. EEEEERK
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4F
RMB‘000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Beginning of the year REH] 150,695 20,120
Provision B (16,839) 127,994
Accretion expenses AN 7,479 2,581
End of the year RER 141,335 150,695

The asset retirement obligations represent the present value of
estimated future expenditures on decommissioning of gas
properties, restoration of land and recovery of environment.
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18. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 18. LB AE
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income EEFEHEAERELEMGSHABEIIT
tax liabilities is as follows: mT
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISEE 237,924 209,003

Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTETHBE (433,602) (687,064)
Net balance EERREE (195,678) (478,061)
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to BEFGHEERBBRERRELS
Panzhuang and Mabi concessions. The Group has legally VEIREHE - EEEMAEE A D RIK
enforceable right to offset the deferred tax assets and liabilities ARG ITERENEREMSHEERES
in each concession. Accordingly, it is presented on net basis for EREHEE  EhSEEDRIAFEE
each of the concession. EZ25 -

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as BIEPTISTHER B U@ EH T

follows:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTR ARETTT

Beginning of the year RED (478,061) (437,612)
Charged to the consolidated statement of R & HH4R A Wz K 0Bk (FFE25)

comprehensive income (Note 25) 282,383 (40,449)

End of the year RER (195,678) (478,061)
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BOFM IR M A

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

18Eﬁﬁ SHEE @
EILFERERNESMT

Depreciation Income not yet
and subject to
amortisation Tax losses  tax and others Total
RARBE
mEREH BgER Wnzs R H At st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETFT
As at 1 January 2021 M20215181H (384,957) 241,862 (294,517) (437,612)
Charged to the consolidated REfHERe Rk
statement of comprehensive (Bft &% 25)
income (Note 25) 5,502 (38,489 (7,462) (40,449
As at 31 December 2021 M2021F12A31H (379,455) 203,373 (301,979) (478,061)
Charged to the consolidated REfHERa R Mk
statement of comprehensive (Bft 3% 25)
income (Note 25) 40,879 18,783 222,721 282,383
As at 31 December 2022 20225128310 (338,576) 222,156 (79,258) (195,678)

For the purpose of filing of PRC corporate income tax,
development expenditures incurred prior to commercial
production from tax perspective are tax deductible over a 8-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production; exploration expenditures incurred prior to
commercial production from tax perspective except for those
qualified as production wells are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production.
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BOFM IR M A

18. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 18. IRZEFBHEE (@)

Deferred income tax assets for tax losses are recognised only to BAREEEERNELEMESHEEERE
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be AIREE KRR FERR B FI B S0 ] i bt F R B
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. RFMEZREABER T AR -

Other deferred income tax expense mainly relates to government HEiEEFTSIE A T 2 S BAT /B
grants which comprise of government subsidies and VAT refunds B BREASE®ERNBUFHEIEE
recognised by the Group, which will be taxable when the Group R - RBIER BAAEHRE AR
receives the government grants according to relevant tax B B 1E AN 5 B Uk B BT B RO B R AR
regulations and local authority in the PRC. During the year, the o RFR  NEBRIBFEHBHEEER
Group paid deferred income tax expense recognised in previous FEL A RSB RS - sLE W R
years in relation to the government grants already received from REVERT B - A3 T AR FF E FER A
the government according to the tax regulations and discussion FEEFEHRER -

with local tax authority.

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. P BRI H ft B3 RK
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBT T
Trade payables FETER K 1,055,488 615,143
Amounts due to related parties B BB RS 5 5B
— Xintai Jinggong (Note 29(b)) — EBFRBI (M7 290)) 4,316 15,705
— Shanxi Tongyu (Note 9, 29(b)) — WPEER (M9 ~ 29(b)) 7,655 4,661
Amounts due to PSC partners ENEmDKEREERHKIE
— CUCBM — CUCBM 12,820 93,257
— PetroChina — R AH 6,128 9,552
Advance from customers TEURBR X 3,388 4,476
Tax payables JERI TR R 2,051 14,513
Payroll liabilities JENTE 44,206 34,195
Other payables E At TR 13,320 12,097
1,149,372 803,599
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 19. BRI R EMESRK @)
(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows: (a) FETERFMERER OMAT :
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice HN B ZE HHMEMERERNER D
date is as follows: LB UNNE

As at 31 December

M®12H31H
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Within 6 months NEAR 818,071 536,916
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 167,667 24,646
1 to 2 years —ZEWE 52,220 38,208
2 to 3years ME=4F 9,643 3,405
Over 3 years =FPE 7,887 11,968
1,055,488 615,143
(b) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables (b)  FEATRRER B B fth F& A< SR AR TEI (A B
approximated their fair values. HARBERS -
() The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other (c) ZR&E 8RR FR & B Ath B 5K &Y
payables are denominated in the following currencies: AREIMELA T EEEE -
As at 31 December
®12H31H
2022 2021
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBTT
RMB AR 1,141,709 802,989
HK$ BT 3,404 283
us$ T 4,259 327
1,149,372 803,599
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20. REVENUE 20. WA
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Sales of CBM CBMiHE 2,269,019 1,700,285
Sales of LNG LNG & 293,857 37,078
Others HAith 3,868 1,863
2,566,744 1,739,226

The Group's revenue is mainly derived through the sale of LNG
and the Group's share of CBM sold to customers in the PRC.
Sales of gas are recognised when control of the gas has
transferred, being when the gas is delivered to the customers.
The amount of revenue is recognised based on the terms of the
PSCs and gas sales agreements.

AREFERATEZRE INGHEMAEE
PTG CBME R BI R PR ETS - B
EREHECER  IREREXNT
EER  AEEEIREBRHEEHRA -
WA BERBEE®RD KA R MR ERH
& hak M RR T DARERR,

21. OTHER INCOME 21. Helg A
Year ended 31 December
BHZ12A31BLEEE

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETIT
VAT refund (a) BERIRF () 182,281 140,245
Government subsidy (b) T ## Bf (b) 165,402 111,630
347,683 251,875
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21. OTHER INCOME (Continued)

180

(a)

VAT refund is granted by the PRC government according to
“The Notice on Tax Policy Issued by The Ministry of Finance
and The State Administration of Taxation on Speeding Up
The Drainage of Coalbed Methane” ((Bf X ZBEI R T 7542 /5
A7 AR B T2 SRk BRI 5 MR B SR D RE O 38 1 )). CUCBM
and PetroChina apply for the VAT refund for Panzhuang
and Mabi concessions, respectively. The Group recognises
its entitlement based on the Group's share of CBM sold
and when there is reasonable assurance that the amount
will be received.

Government subsidy is granted by the PRC government
according to “The Implementation Opinions of Subsidies
Granted by The Ministry of Finance on The Development
and Utilisation of Coalbed Methane” (B Ex 2B 8 7 1 [ 5|,
(FHT) AEFAMHNEHRE R)) published on 20 April
2007, as amended by “Interim Measures for the
Administration of Special Funds for the Development of
Clean Energy” (/B R RERZIEE S ERBETIE))
issued on 12 June 2020. The Group applies for the subsidy
for Panzhuang concession. PetroChina applies for the
subsidy for Mabi concession. The Group recognises its
entitlement based on the Group’s share of CBM sold and
when there is reasonable assurance that the amount will be
received.
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BOFM IR M A

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 22. EERAIBEX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥ETTT
Wages and salaries ITENHS 90,132 87,172
Retirement and other benefits (a) BIRE REMET () 16,701 15,729
106,833 102,901
(a) Retirement and other benefits (a) EHhRE&RHEMER
In the PRC, the pension plans are organized by the RPE REEHFH—TELH
municipal and provincial governments at a certain rate of (RET EBRARR) (A8 T R & BT
the employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceilings. The ERHRARSFEEL MR - K%
Group also contributes to government-sponsored housing ElREEH N —ELH(ZE
funds at a certain rate of the employees’ salaries, subject to T ERRER) A B EFESERE
certain ceilings. ESEHMERK -
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EUESHFMAL
Details of five highest paid individuals are set out below: R smBHMATOFBNAT

Number of Individuals

AE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Director (Note 33) EE(MFE33) 3 3
Non-director individuals (i) JFEEKE () 2 2
5 5
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 22. EEEAMAXZ (@)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) ENEEFMAL(E)
(i) The emoluments payable to the non-director individuals during the (i) RNAREEREMIEESEALTHNH SN
year are as follows: T

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETT
Basic salaries and allowances EARF ¢ MR/ 1,935 2,032
Discretionary bonuses WiEEe 2,708 2,048
Retirement and other benefits RINE REMAER 219 293
4,862 4,373

The emoluments fell within the following bands: HEMEE L

Number of Individuals

A
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Emolument bands HENEE
HK$2,000,001~HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 78 7T 2 2,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001~HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 77T % 3,000,000% 7T 2 1
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23. FINANCE INCOME, NET 23. BislhE — BE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREETF T
Interest expense of lease liabilities (Note 7) FHEBEMFIEE A (K15E7) (3,785) (3,707)
Accretion expenses of asset retirement BEEEEBHNEIZER
obligations (5,953) (2,043)
Finance costs &R (9,738) (5,750)
Finance income gk 36,023 24,522
Exchange gains/(losses) P& 34Uz (185k) 95,100 (8,597)
Finance income, net B s — JF 58 121,385 10,175
24. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 24. BREFBBLATFE
Profit before income tax was determined after charging the BEFERATME IR HG T 5 &I81E%E
following: E
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31ALEE
2022 2021
2022 2021
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARETIT
LNG sales cost LNG SEER AN 113,116 37,509
Pipeline transportation cost EBBBHAR 92,349 84,453
Power and fuel ESpaki v 60,244 48,599
Maintenance cost HiEBR 32,110 27,374
Auditors’ remunerations 1% 8K B 5 B
— Audit services — Fir RS
— The Company — NAA] 2,900 2,900
— Subsidiaries — B A 250 250

DEEREBRERLAR/ 255K 183




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

25. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

25.

FieBER

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31MHILEE

2022 2021

2022 % 2021 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETFIT

Current income tax EHIATSR 667,131 288,194
Deferred income tax (Note 18) EEFTSHL (MT3E18) (282,383) 40,449
384,748 328,643

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated under respective
jurisdiction of the Cayman lIslands, the British Virgin Islands and
Samoa, are exempted from payment of local income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the
Group did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong during
the year.

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated
by the PRC government, the tax rate applicable to the Group's
subsidiary established in the PRC and the PRC branches of the
Group's subsidiaries is 25%. Corporate income tax in the PRC is
calculated based on the taxable profit of the company or
branches established in the PRC.

The tax on the Group'’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as
follows:

ARAMEGEHESHS  RBEHRRE
EMEEDEBEE NEMKRIZIANE
DR R RME IS -

B AN BB AR 308 A T BB IS
(AR BEFIN - 4030 4% SHR BIE FI13
B o

REFEBFRGOHBEEEMAER
% AEEERBEKZOME QR RA
SEMNBRARNTED RRERRE
£525% > REBEMAFHRIIRER+ E
LA BIFD AR BRI A E -

7N £R 18 P 1505 AN B 0 B TR B DR
ERERFENERBETR - #FHFWT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831BLLFEE

2022 2021
2022 % 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBTT
Profit before income tax K P15 % B A 1,800,857 1,144,322
Tax expense calculated at applicable RERRETENTRIEER
tax rates 358,323 308,221
Utilization of previously year deductible BRI EE AR ERELERIE
temporary differences for which no BENAENEREER
deferred tax asset was recognised = (744)
Expenses not deductible for ARTHORR B & A
taxation purposes 17,179 21,122
Others EH 9,246 44
Income tax expense S E R 384,748 328,643
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26. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

26. BRW=E

(a)

K
AEXRGRW=ETIZFEBRAR B
BENN BB UAE 220224 &
2021 F 12BN BIEFEAND ET
LRI IEETESD -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A831BLLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Profit attributable to owners of FEENARRMBEENFE
the Company (RMB’000) (AREFT) 1,416,109 815,679
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 %17 I M1k F 15 &
shares in issue (Thousands) (Fh%) 3,395,126 3,394,444
Basic earnings per share (RMB) ERGRUZE (ARET) 0.417 0.240
Diluted (b)

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has share options outstanding which
are potentially dilutive. The assumed proceeds from
conversion of these options shall be regarded as having
been received from the issue of ordinary shares at average
market price of ordinary shares during the period. The
difference between the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options and
the number of shares that could have been issued at the
average market price of the ordinary shares during the
period with the same total assumed proceeds is the number
of shares issued for no consideration. The resulting number
of shares issued for no consideration is included in the
weighted average number of ordinary shares as the
denominator for calculating diluted earnings per share.
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26. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 26. FRWNE 8
(b) Diluted (Continued) (b) HE(HE)

Year ended 31 December

BE12A3MBLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Profit attributable to owners of BENARRIMEENFE
the Company (RMB’000) (ARETIT) 1,416,109 815,679
Weighted average number of ordinary B 217 A% 69 IN4E F 15 1
shares in issue (Thousands) (Fm) 3,395,126 3,394,444
Adjustments for assumed conversion  R:&H HEEASAE A TR (FAR)
of share options (Thousands) - 34
Weighted average number of FrEMESRNERN TR
ordinary shares for diluted AT 8 (TR
earnings per share (Thousands) 3,395,126 3,394,478
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) wEERWE (AR T) 0.417 0.240
27. DIVIDENDS 27. BRE
The Board has not recommended the payment of a final dividend EFgUERZRNEZE2022F12 A 31
for the year ended 31 December 2022. BIEFEZ REKRE -
A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of HE2021F12A3MBLEFENKRES
RMBO0.0589 per share was approved at the annual general & A R #0.0589 7T 2 74 2022 65 A4 20 B
meeting on 20 May 2022 and was paid on 6 June 2022. ZRRBERE DML - WHR2022F

6 A6 Rkt -
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28. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 28. HEMEER
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) REEEIFIEHES
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flow Br TS BRI M B AR & E B TSR
generated from operations: B E FERR A

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HLFE

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Profit before income tax B BT ISR A A 1,800,857 1,144,322
Adjustments for: M THSIBELFHEE -
Depreciation e 548,457 390,729
Amortisation b %] 5,781 5,794
Net impairment losses of CREERBEFEXLX
financial assets 39,264 9,757
Write off of exploration and R K FLHE & E M
evaluation assets 94,918 50,280
Gains on disposals of property, HETE - THR
plant and equipment BRENFF = (741)
Gains on repayment of financial W B & LA SR R E T2 Y
assets at amortised costs TRIEEBEFNANE = (12,386)
Shares of losses of associates JEIREEE AR E R R 17,715 14,052
Finance income B s e (10,592) (14,968)
Finance costs MBER 5,953 2,043
Exchange (gains)/losses PEH (W) 18k (90,890) 5,465
Changes in working capital: BEESHNEE :
Increase in inventories FEEN (5,822) (1,227)
Increase in trade and other receivables  Ji& Y8R 3 N H b & Uk 114 N (24,507) (200,906)
Increase in trade and other payables JRE A~ BR 3R K L b A5 FRAE N 98,053 185,318
Cash generated from operations REFTHEENER 2,479,187 1,577,532
(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities (b) HRERMETED

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Investments to associates with
real estate assets

AT EEH B E R RIRE

(22,648)
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BBEAR S

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, E—HARNEESHEEHS — Ak

directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant HE— TP ERESREEMRAEEK

influence over the other party in making financial and operation FEN AR ARE T o X EREHIH
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are ERNEEBE T ANEBTEEIEA

subject to common control. Members of key management and B RHERIEK B TR 2 B

their close family member of the Group are also considered as

related parties.

(a) The following individuals and companies are (a) B ZE2022F12A31MBLEE -
related parties of the Group during the year THATH AR BEREEBNE
ended 31 December 2022 B

Names of the related parties Nature of relationship Ownership interest

B n B8 BERMEE e ERER

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i) Ultimate control shareholder and 56.95%

executive director

A AR 55 4 (1) BEERRREEBITES

XTRQ (i) Ultimate parent entity 56.95%

FRAR) Sl NG

Sichuan Liming (i) Intermediate parent entity 56.95%

1 RIBA (i) HREHERR A R

Liming (i) Immediate parent entity 56.95%

AMEA (i) HEERAR

Urumgi Xintai Jinggong Construction Under the same control of N/A

Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Xintai Jinggong”) ultimate control shareholder

SERAESFBIERIRARAFR(BREL]) XA —REERRRZE TEA

Shanxi Tongyu (Note 9) Associate 32.1296%

tiFam R (M 9) /NG

Dongcheng Xintai (Note 9) Associate 49%

RAEER (FIEE9) FS/NE]

(i) As at 31 December 2022, XTRQ, through its 100% controlled 0] %20?2@12)5]31 A HRAREB

subsidiary Sichuan Liming, holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares HEBEERARLIIF E‘ﬁ SRl
of Liming. The directors regard Mr. Ming Zaiyuan as the ultimate 100% B # 17 H A - 0B BIE L
control shareholder of the Company for his holdings of XTRQ's EEMARARFENERD - ARFE
shares. FERARLITRRR -
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

29. BHARS (@)
(b) BB MNEARS

Year ended 31 December

BE12AMBLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETIT
Purchase of services EESHIRS
— Xintai Jinggong —E&ZBT 10,054 19,253
— Shanxi Tongyu — lIFa@% 61,608 17,708
71,662 36,961
Sales of goods 2HERNEm
— Shanxi Tongyu — U FAm®% 22,083 9,676
Purchase of goods EEEHNE S
— Shanxi Tongyu — L@ ®E 2,705 3,639
(c) Key management compensation (c) FEEIEAESFHH
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEFEE
2022 2021
2022 % 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Basic salaries and allowances HoAR# 4 EEh 12,152 12,545
Discretionary bonuses 5 E S 12,687 9,919
Retirement and other benefits RIS REAMEF] 808 721
25,647 23,185
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29.

30.

190

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases
of goods and services
Qutstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of
goods and services at the end of the year in relation to
transactions with related parties are provided in Note 11
and Note 19.

(e) Terms and conditions
Transactions with related parties during the year were
based on the prices and terms that would be available to
third parties.

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted at the end of the year but not yet
incurred is as follows:

29.

30.

Bt LR 5 ()

(d) #HE BEERABREELEN
£
MENMMEF1I9RETREER
HEAM AR SHEENHEERBER
mAMRISEERLES

(e) MRFERMMRMF
FREBBINRXZERE=77H
v SEEN LS

AHEIE

B R
REERDFTNELLEEENELRFH
S/

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT AR¥ETTT
Property, plant and equipment TEE - TR RE 178,652 184,973
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31. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 31. KA SEABRREERE
OF THE COMPANY

(a)

Balance sheet of the Company

(a) ARAEERER

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Long-term investment RHHEE 3,931,588 3,490,688
Property, plant and equipment TEE « THRARE 51 151
Right-of-use assets EREEE 153 870
3,931,792 3,491,709
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables E b e IR 625,508 523,228
Dividends receivables (i) & WA F] (i) 29,385 36,545
Financial assets at fair value through ~ A RA(BETEAHE
profit or loss STABGRHEREE 69,646 -
Cash and cash equivalents RENBEESEEY 539,330 111,698
1,263,869 671,471
Total assets HEE 5,195,661 4,163,180
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of BERAAREENER
the Company
Share capital &R 2,080 2,080
Share premium f& A= (B 3,116,993 3,316,002
Other reserves Hib 668,543 216,317
Retained earnings Bl 1,392,776 541,869
5,180,392 4,076,268
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Non-current lease liabilities FERHEEAR 11 77
11 77
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables E b B ER 15,187 86,088
Current lease liabilities REBHEAR 71 747
15,258 86,835
Total liabilities weE 15,269 86,912
Total equity and liabilities BEZNREE 5,195,661 4,163,180
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the RAGIBEAEBRAEE2R 2023
Board of Directors on 14 March 2023 and was signed on its FIF14BHE  THERRESE -
behalf.
Director Director
EE S
Yan Danhua Zhang Jianbing
BAE RAEL
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31. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 31. A A RIS EEBEAREEET
OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) EATFEES

Share Other Retained

premium reserves earnings

BR 7 R (E Hih s BiERa

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREEF T AREETTT AREEF T

As at 1 January 2021 A2021F181H 3,663,640 317,349 530,852

Profit for the year FERNH - - 11,017
Currency translation SNEE 3T =R

differences - (99,361) -

Exercise of option 171 B AR AEE 3,157 (1,671) -

Dividend distributed B& 1> B (350,795) - -

As at 31 December 2021 M2021%12H31H 3,316,002 216,317 541,869

Profit for the year (i) FZ ) ) = = 850,907
Currency translation SN B Z R

differences - 452,429 -

Exercise of option 1T{E R AR A 422 (203) -

Dividend distributed A% F o B (199,431) = =

As at 31 December 2022 M 2022%12H31H 3,116,993 668,543 1,392,776

GSEREREREEEON2022F1
R0B# EREREARE

(i) A dividend of RMB1,000,000,000 was approved by the Board of (i)
Directors of AAGI on 20 January 2022.
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32. SUBSIDIARIES 32. B E]

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

LA TRBRA20225E12 A31 B B = ZE Kt

2022: EOGE
Proportion of
ordinary
Place of incorporation and Issued/  Principal activities and shares held
Name type of legal entity paid-up capital  place of operation by the Group (%)
rEERE
£ EMB LG REARRER BRT/BERE TEEBREZHY EEMRLA(%)
AAGI British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), US$50,000/US$50,000  CBM project development, BVI 100%
Limited liability company
GTEAERER RBAREE((RBAREE)) 50000%7/ KREFEERE EBL&RES
ERR7 50,000% 7T
AAG Energy (China) Limited BV, Limited liability company US$5,000/US$5,000  CBM project development, BVI 100%
ZBEREE BARLA 5000%7/5000%n KEREERE  REERES
SAE Samoa, Limited liability company US$7,000,000/  CBM project development, 100%
US$7,000,000 Samoa
EPERAA BET BRAA 7000000%7/ KERERRE  BEE
7,000,000% T
Alpha Eagle Limited Cayman lslands, US$1/US$1  CBM project development, 100%
Limited liability company Cayman Islands
EEERAR FEHS  BRRA 1XT/1ET REREERE REES
Xinhe Investment Holding Sichuan, PRC, US$100,000,000/  Investment, Sichuan, PRC 100%
Co., Ltd. Limited liability company US$97,147,897
HaREBREREERR W T8 BRAF 100000000%7/ &E M)l
97,147,897 7L
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33. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 33. EEEAE A=

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEIHTENMS
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive BREENEERTENHFNOT

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2022: HZE2022F12A31 AILFE -

Other emoluments

paid or receivable in

respect of director's

other services in

connection with the

Employer's management of the

contribution to affairs of the Company

Discretionary Allowances and aretirement Termination or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme benefits undertaking Total

ESRERANEY,

ANELENER

ERRBNELES

EfER [EHETD
% ER ¥t BiERE FARE HEEHR BERA ikt ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR AREFR ARETR ARBFT

Executive Directors #7ES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i) BERLL() - 2815 2967 - - - - 5782
Mr. Yan Danhua BRERE - 1,515 1,675 27 52 o a 3,269
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (i FEAEE() - 1,115 1,358 - - - - 2473
Non-executive Directors ~ F#{TES
Mr. Huang Min EHEE = o o S o = o o
Independent Non-executive  BUFHTES
Directors

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexender  BIERE4% 302 - - - - - - 302
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng AEiEEL 302 = = - - - - 302
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BRARL 302 - - - - - - 302
Total At 906 5445 6,000 21 52 - - 12430
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33. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 33. EEEA R @)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EENEEHATENMHES (B
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021: HE2021F12A31 AILFE -

Other emoluments

paid or receivable in

respect of director's
other services in
connection with the
Employer's management of the
contribution to affais of the Company
Discretionary Allowances and aretirement Termination or its subsiolary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme benefits undertaking Total
ESHHRANTY
ANBLANER
ERERNAMRH
R [BGEE
iz -6 2 il ERY AR B HAMBEN it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFL ARETIL ARBTTL ARBFT ARBFT ARBFTL ARBTL
Executive Directors BES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i BERLL() - 2814 2503 - - - - 5317
Mr. Yan Danhua BRERE - 1514 1576 25 4 - - 3162
Mr. Zhang Jianbing () REREL() - 1,106 1,083 - - - - 2169
Non-executive Directors FuTES
Dr. Cui Guiyong (i) ERBBL() - - - - - - - -
Mr. Huang Min LS - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander - BIEIR 4% 9 - - - - - - 290
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng ik 20 - - - - - - 290
Dr. Yang Ruizhao HRBET 0 - - - - - - bl
Total At 810 5434 5142 % 4 - - 11518
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33. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 33. EEEAMRRE=E 5

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEHTENME (BE)

(Continued)

Notes: B

(i) Retirement benefit costs of Mr. Ming Zaiyuan and Mr. Zhang Jianbing (i) B R o A FIaR M S R AR IKAE 7
are borne by the Company’s ultimate holding company. HARR FIH) R ARV IR BHASE o

(ii) Mr. Cui Guiyong has resigned as a non-executive Director and a (ii) MR2021F3 A 268 - EREBERERFE
member of the Strategic Development Committee of the Company AATBERITEELRBEERRELZES
on 26 March 2021. KE -

Directors’ emoluments EEHM

Aggregate emoluments paid to Aggregate emoluments paid to
or receivable by directors in or receivable by directors in
respect of their services as  respect of their other services in
directors, whether of the  connection with the management
Company or its subsidiary  of the affairs of the Company or

undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total Total
EEREERES ESHHEHERQATRHE
(FRERAAASHMEAR) MHEARNEKEEERNEM
9 AR 75 S 15 S LT B 7 B 4 B BIR 75 1 % 1< =% P8 UK 9 S B 42 2R At &t
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F 2022 F 2021 F 2022 F 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT ARB TR ARBTFT AR®T T ARBTFT
906 870 11,524 10,648 12,430 11,518
Notes: Emoluments above include estimated money value of non-cash Mzt : FlF M BEERSEANNGETS
benefits: insurance premium. ERBRE -
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) EERIKER
During the year ended 31 December 2022, no retirement HZE202F12A3BILEFE K
benefits operated by the Group was paid or made, directly SEREREFHB AR AT
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his HtB AR EBER AN EM
services as a director or other services in connection with MR - B EERESZIHE
the management of the affairs of the Company or its HIRARER - EHIOL A RYGRIR
subsidiaries (2021: nil). TBFI (2021 4F : %) o
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33. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director’s services was
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director, nor is any payable (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2021: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there is no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2021: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of 2022 or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: nil).

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
As of 17 February 2023, Liming as the Offeror, and the Company
made a Joint Announcement for (1) Pre-conditional proposal for

the Privatisation of the Company by the Offeror (“the Proposal”)

by the way of a scheme of arrangement (“the Scheme”) (under

section 86 of the company act); (2) Proposed withdrawal of listing

of the Company upon completion of the Scheme.

As of the date of this report issued, the Proposal is still subject to

the fulfillment or waiver, as applicable, of certain pre-condition

and conditions as described in the Joint Announcement.

33.

34.
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EETAMNRAE @

(c) EEBEER
HZE202F12A3MBIEFE 8
EREERBRIEERMEERNE
EXAHFIEREF - TN FER
FERTER (2021 4F - 4®) o

(d BEEEZERBRFE=FEHHOEK
[0}
HE202F12A8318IEFE %
BREBZRB M E =7 IR RN -
F£=FIVE B U ER B (2021 F -
;) o

() AREES ZEHZEARHE
ZESHEBNEREHANE
;o EERREMRZER

HE202F12A3NBIEFE 8
BRESE - ZEHIEAREBBR
EREHENEN  EERSIEMZ
5 (20214 : 48) -

)l EBEXRS R¥IEHNFTE
WEKEDS
R2022 5 E R o 2 A H
ARRRARI LA EHAEE XS
ERAEARREEHAENER
(EREEERXEE)NERARS
LHEREH) (2021 5 - &) -

HEREE

R202352 8178 - HEEMBTEHOAD
EARNRETRERIEERNEHAR
BERBNASE 86 RA AL B T AL
DRBEIR ([ %8 ]) 2 M R IR a2
& ([Ea&El) QR &AH 8RR 2
ISR R REIRA) LT AL

BEAREREA - LAREHEFHS

RNEREZ ORI MR EZER K
e (@Em)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Yan Danhua (President)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Executive Vice President)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Huang Min

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Chiu Ming King (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Ms. Su Xiaohang

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zhang Jianbing
Mr. Chiu Ming King (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Ms. Su Xiaohang (appointed on 22 July 2022)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng
Mr. Huang Min

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (Chairman)
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander
Mr. Zhang Jianbing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Chairman)
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander
Mr. Yan Danhua
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
("ESG") WORKING GROUP

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Group Leader)

Mr. Yan Danhua (Vice Group Leader)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Member)

Mr. Wang Bing(Member)

Mr. Li Jun (Member)

Ms. Su Xiaohang (Member)

The Head of Health, Safety and Environmental
Protection Department (Member)

Mr. Wei Jiangtao (appointed on 19 January 2022)

Mr. Gong Chihua (appointed on 16 March 2022)

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 2506, 25/F

Cosco Tower

183 Queen'’s Road Central, Sheung Wan
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA

Panzhuang Management Center
Guobei Village

Jiafeng Town, Qinshui County
Jincheng City

Shanxi Province, 048204
People’s Republic of China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER AGENT

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-9010

Cayman Islands

B B RER(ESG]) T4E

Bina kL (EHR)
BAELRE (RIER)
A (HE)
FkELE(EE)
FELEL(MEB)
griEfct (HE)
ZERFRAEHR(EE)

EIERE(HEE)(R2022F1 A19HERT)
B IES A (ZHE ) (R 2022F 3 A 16 BEEE)

AMMER

P.O.Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

ERAMRETEE XM

BB

FREFREF 18398
FIRKE

2542 2506 =

PEFEE XM

hEARAME
ey dp]
YN
FBAEFT
EHEE TR L
4R - 048204

MERERNBFERARE

Campbells Corporate Services limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-9010

Cayman Islands

DEEREBRERLAR/ 255K 199




Corporate Information

NRER

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

BERSETE
EBRRESBLERAA

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor B EAT
Hopewell Centre ERRER 1835
183 Queen'’s Road East AR

17 #81712-1716 5743

FEARBIT

FELSEGRITERAA
RERT(FR)BRAT
RBRITENDERABREFSREZH O
PERERITENDBERABDETEDIT

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd., Offshore Banking Unit
China Minsheng Bank Corporation Limited (Hong Kong Branch)

AUDITOR ZEED
PricewaterhouseCoopers BRI BRI ER AT
Certified Public Accountants and BEDANR

Registered PIE Auditor AR Tl B RE X 20T
22/F, Prince’s Building 55

Central IR

Hong Kong RFRE221E

LEGAL ADVISERS EEER

As to Hong Kong law: BEERE

Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

BANHRMEBRABEREZREERR

Suite 3203-3207 aH

Edinburgh Tower RIREFABER 155
The Landmark B ES

15 Queen’s Road Central YNV N

Hong Kong 3203 £ 3207 =

As to PRC law: REAR

Beijing AnJie Broad Law Firm IR R R R E KT
19/F, Tower D1, Liangmagiao Diplomatic Office Building, EE A RHEME

No. 19 Dongfangdonglu, Chaoyang District bl

Beijing, 100600 FAGRETRIE195%

People’s Republic of China

SR/ AARBDIE19E
AR - 100600

Shanxi Benhe Law Office 1L PR AR RN 2 AN B RS FT
14th Floor, Yicui Commercial Centre FhEE A R HEAIE
Jincheng City G

Shanxi Province, 048000
People’s Republic of China

B MEREG L 1418
45 - 048000

STOCK CODE B 194K 5%
2686 2686
COMPANY'S WEBSITE NGkl

www.aagenergy.com
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